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As per the Level 4 Apprenticeship, you will need to demonstrate that you have the 
necessary Level 2 Maths & English Skills.   
The list below shows the relevant skills that you will have demonstrated whilst 
studying for this unit:  We have also shown which skills you are demonstrating on 
each example within the Integrated Workbook. 
For non-apprenticeship students, it is also useful to understand which Maths and 
English skills you are developing throughout this unit. 
MATHS 

Level 2 Using numbers and the number system - whole number, fractions, 
decimals and percentages 

M1 Read, write, order and compare positive and negative numbers of any size 

M5 Work out percentages of amounts and express one amount as a 
percentage of another 

M12 Follow the order of precedence of operators, including indices 

 

Level 2 M30: Solving mathematical problems and decision making 

Students at Level 2 are expected to be able to: 

● Read, understand, and use mathematical information and mathematical terms; 

● Address individual problems as described above; 

● Use knowledge and understanding to a required level of accuracy; 

● Identify suitable operations and calculations to generate results; 

● Analyse and interpret answers in the context of the original problem; 

 

L2 Maths & English Skills 
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● Check and sense and reasonableness of answers; and 

● Present and explain results clearly and accurately demonstrating reasoning to 
support the process and show consistency with the evidence presented. 

The context of individual problems at this level will require interpretation and analysis 
in order for the student to be able independently to identify and carry out an 
appropriate mathematical process of processes. 

 

ENGLISH 

Level 2 Speaking, Listening and Communicating 

Scope of study:  Includes extended narratives and information (information may be 
on technical, concrete or abstract topics), discussions, detailed explanations and 
presentations, all of varying lengths. 

E1 Identify relevant information from extended explanations or presentations 

E5 Communicate information, ideas and opinions clearly and effectively, 
providing further detail and development if required  

E7 Use language that is effective, accurate and appropriate to context and 
situation 

 

Level 
2 

Reading 

Scope of study:  this should include a range of straightforward and complex texts on 
a range of topics and of varying lengths that instruct, describe, explain and persuade 

E13 Identify implicit and inferred meaning in texts 

 

 

Level 2 Writing 

Scope of study:  this should include straightforward and complex texts as articles, 
narratives, explanations and reports of varying lengths  
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Spelling, punctuation and grammar 

E22 Spell words used in work, study and daily life, including a range of 
specialist words 

Writing composition 

E23 Communicate information, ideas and opinions clearly, coherently and 
effectively 

E25 Organise writing for different purposes using appropriate format and 
structure (e.g. standard templates, paragraphs, bullet points, tables) 

E27 Use different language and register (e.g. persuasive techniques, 
supporting evidence, specialist words), suited to audience and purpose. 
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By the end of this session you should be able to:  

 demonstrate knowledge of the legislation and regulation that must be complied 
with when preparing financial statements 

and answer questions relating to these areas. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

Chapter 1 
Regulatory frameworks 

Outcome 

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviours  

Knowledge: Regulation and Compliance 

Skills: Produces Quality and Accurate Information 

Behaviours: Adding Value 
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The main purpose of financial statements in to provide information to a wide range of 
users: 

 The statement of financial position provides information on the financial 
position of the business at a point in time. 

 The statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income provides 
information on performance of a business over a period of time. 

 The statement of changes in equity provides information on how the equity of 
the business has changed over the period. 

 The statement of cash flows provides information on the movement of cash in 
and out of the business over a period of time. 

An organisation is run by its managers who are the stewards of the business – they 
have been entrusted with the business by the owners. The financial statements show 
the results of the stewardship of an organisation. 

There are many different users of financial statements and each user will have a 
different information need. The different users and their needs are covered in the 
next chapter). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

The purpose of financial statements 
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The legal framework for a UK company preparing financial statements consists of: 

 The Companies Act 2006 which applies to all UK companies regardless of 
whether they follow UK or international accounting rules. 

 Additional law may apply to other companies or particular organisations – e.g. 
banks. 

 

 

 
  

The legal framework 
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All UK companies may use International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS® 

Standards) when preparing their financial statements. It is mandatory for listed UK 
companies to use IFRS Standards.  

 

 

 

 

  
The IFRS Foundation also known as ‘the Foundation’ is an independent not-
for-profit foundation based in the US. The Trustees of the Foundation appoint 
the members of the International Accounting Standards Board (the Board), the 
IFRS Advisory Council and the IFRS Interpretations Committee. They are also 
responsible for setting and approving the budgets of the various bodies, 
determining strategic direction and promoting IFRS Standards. 

The International Accounting Standards Board (the Board) has sole 
responsibility for the setting of international accounting standards. The Board 
cooperates with other accounting standard setters with the aim of achieving 
harmony of accounting practice throughout the world. The Board’s objectives 
are: to develop a single set of high quality, global accounting standards that 
require transparent and comparable information in general purpose financial 
statements, to promote the use and rigorous application of those standards, 
and to work actively with national standard setters to bring about convergence 
of national accounting standards and IFRS Standards. 

The IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) aim is to assist the Board in 
establishing and improving standards of financial accounting and reporting. It 
promotes the rigorous and uniform application of IFRS Standards. 

The IFRS Advisory Council (IFRS AC) provides a forum for organisations 
and individuals to input into the standard setting process. Their overall 
objectives are: to give advice to the Board on agenda decisions and priorities, 
to inform the Board of the views of organisations and individuals, and to give 
other advice to the Board or the Trustees. 

The regulatory framework 
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Core: TYU 1 
 

 

Example 1 [E13]  
Which ONE of the following statements is TRUE in respect of accounting 
standards used in the UK? 

A All businesses must use International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS® Standards) when preparing their financial statements 

B All companies must use International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS® Standards) when preparing their financial statements 

C There is no requirement for sole traders and partnerships to apply 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS® Standards) when 
preparing their financial statements  

D Companies that are listed can choose to use International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS® Standards) when preparing their financial 
statements  
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Summary 
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We recommend the following additional questions for the topics covered in this 
chapter: 

Study Text (for teaching throughout the chapter and additional learning) 

 Chapter 1: TYU 1  

Practice Questions (for teaching throughout the chapter and additional learning) 

 Chapter 1: Regulatory frameworks 
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By the end of this session you should be able to:  

 demonstrate a knowledge and understanding of the International Accounting 
Standards Board’s Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 

 demonstrate an understanding of different types of organisation 

and answer questions relating to these areas. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

Chapter 2 
The conceptual framework and types of 
business organisation  

Outcome 

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviours  

Knowledge: Business Awareness, Regulation and Compliance 

Skills: Produces Quality and Accurate Information, Analysis 

Behaviours:  Adding Value 
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The Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (the Framework)  
outlines the principles and concepts that should be used when developing or 
applying IFRS Standards and IAS Standards. 

What is the framework? 
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The Framework states that the objective of financial statements is to provide 
information on the financial position and performance of a company that is useful to a 
range of users. 

The primary users of financial statements need information about the resources of 
the entity to assess the entity’s prospects for future net cash inflows and how 
effectively and efficiently management have used the entity’s existing resources (i.e. 
stewardship). 

 
 Core: TYU 5 
 

 
  

  
The primary users of financial statements need particular information for 
different reasons. 

Investors To make decisions about buying, selling or holding equity 

Lenders To decide whether to provide loans or other forms of credit 

Other creditors To decide whether to supply goods on credit and the terms of 
the credit 

Other interested parties include: 

Government To use figures to calculate the correct tax payable 

Employees To assess the position of the business with regard to job stability 
and opportunities 

Customers To ensure they have a stable supplier of goods and services 

Public To obtain information about companies of interest 

The objective of financial statements 
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The Framework identifies two fundamental qualitative characteristics of useful 
financial information and four enhancing characteristics. Preparers of financial 
information should attempt to maximise these characteristics to benefit the users. 

 

 

  

  
Fundamental characteristics: 

Relevance  Capable of influencing decision-making 

Faithful representation Complete, neutral and free from error 

Enhancing qualitative characteristics: 

Comparability  Between entities and also for one entity between different 
time periods 

Verifiability  This provides assurance regarding reliability of information 

Timeliness  Information available within an appropriate timescale for 
decision-making 

Understandability Information should be understandable to those who use it 

The qualitative characteristics of useful 
information 
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Going concern basis assumes that the entity will continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future (12 months). If the business is no longer 
considered to be a going concern, the assets of the business would need to be 
recognised at the amount which is expected from their sale. Liabilities would 
be recognised at the amounts that are likely to be paid to settle them. 

The underlying assumption 
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Example 1 [E1]  
A business is a going concern with no intentions to reduce or curtail its 
operations.  

Required: 

Which would be the most relevant valuation for its machinery – the price 
at which it can be sold now or its depreciated cost? 

As the business is to continue into the future and therefore it can be assumed 
that the machinery is not going to be sold, the depreciated cost of the 
machinery would be more relevant value than the price at which it can sold 
now. 

If circumstances changed and the business were not a going concern, the 
price at which it can be sold now would be more relevant to the users of the 
financial statements. 
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The Framework says that financial statements are composed of five 
elements: 

Elements of the financial statements: 

Asset  ‘A present economic resource controlled by an entity as a result of a 
past event’ (para 4.3) 

 ‘An economic resource is a right that has the potential to produce 
economic benefit’ (para 4.4) 

Liability  ‘A present obligation of the entity to transfer an economic resource as 
a result of a past event’ (para 4.26) 

Equity  The residual interest in the assets of the entity after deducting all its 
liabilities 

Income  The increase in economic benefits during an accounting period 

Expense The decrease in economic benefits during an accounting period 

Elements of the financial statements 
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Core: TYU 6, TYU 7, TYU 8 

 

 
  

Example 2 [M30]  
A business is started up on 1 January 20X6. Business premises are rented at 
a cost of £1,000 per month. The rent is to be paid every six months in 
advance. The owner of the business has decided that the year end of the 
business will be 30 September.  

Required: 

What is the amount of rent which would appear as an expense in the 
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 30 September 20X6? 

Rent expense = £6,000/6 = £1,000 per month. 

1 January 20X6 – 30 September 20X6 = 9 months. 

£1,000 × 9 months = £9,000 (we ignore when the cash is actually paid) 
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The statement of financial position presents the assets, equity and liabilities 
of the company as at the end of a reporting period. 

Statement of financial position as at 30 June 20X6 
 £ £ 
Non-current assets   
Property, plant and equipment  X 
Intangible assets  X 
  ––– 
Current assets  X 
Inventories X  
Trade and other receivables X  
Cash and cash equivalents X  
 –––  
  X 
  ––– 
Total assets  X 
  ––– 
Equity   
Share capital  X 
Share premium account  X 
Retained earnings  X 
Revaluation surplus  X 
  ––– 
Total equity  X 
  ––– 
Non-current liabilities   
Long-term loans or debentures  X 
Current liabilities   
Trade and other payables X  
Bank overdrafts X  
Tax payable X  
 –––  
  X 
  ––– 
Total liabilities  X 
  ––– 
Total equity and liabilities  X 
  ––– 
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The statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income shows the 
incomes and expenses of the company over the period. Other 
comprehensive income includes certain incomes, such as revaluation gains, 
which are not allowed to be recognised in the profit or loss. 

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for year 
ended 30 June 20X6 

  £  
Revenue  X  
Cost of sales (X)  
  –––  
Gross profit X  
Distribution costs  (X)  
Administrative expenses  (X)  
  –––  
Profit from operations X  
Finance costs  (X)  
  –––  
Profit before tax  X  
Income tax expense  (X)  
  –––  
Profit for the period   X  
  –––  
Other comprehensive income    
Revaluation gain  X  
  –––  
Total comprehensive income for year  X  
  –––  
    

  
Compared to sole traders, company financial statements use more formalised 
terminology and only certain headings and amounts are required to be 
disclosed in the annual financial statements. 

Note also that the capital structure (equity) of a limited company is presented 
differently to that of a sole trader or a partnership. 
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The conceptual framework and types of business organisation 

 

25 

 

The Framework says that an item should be recognised in the financial statements if: 

 It meets one of the definitions of an element 

 It provides relevant information regarding the particular element 

 It provides a faithful representation of the particular element.  

 
  

Recognition of the elements 
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The Framework identifies two main ways of measuring the elements: 

Historical cost: this is typically determined by reference to the original 
transaction price. Assets would be recorded at the price paid to acquire them. 
Liabilities would be recognised at the proceeds received. 

Current value: the price needed to pay now, reflecting current conditions. 

Current value includes: 

 Current cost: Assets would be carried at the cost of an equivalent 
asset. Liabilities would be carried at the amount required to settle them. 

 Fair value: Assets would be carried at the amount that would be 
obtained from their sale. Liabilities would be carried at the amount 
required to settle them. 

 Value in use: Assets would be carried at the discounted value of the 
future cash inflows that the item will generate. Liabilities would be carried 
at the discounted value of the cash flows required to settle them. 

Measurement of the elements 
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Example 3 [M30, E13]  
You are considering a business with a year end of 31/12/X6. At that date, the 
business owned one van which was originally purchased for £19,000. The 
finance director estimates that the business will use the van for another 3 
years and it will be directly responsible for generating cash flows with a 
present value of: 

 £15,000 in 20X7 

 £12,000 in 20X8 

 £10,000 in 20X9. 

The finance director is also considering purchasing a new van. The finance 
director rang up the dealership that sold the original van to get a quote. The 
finance director was told the exact same van now costs £20,000. The 
dealership offered to buy the existing van for £16,000. 

Required: 

Match the correct amount to the measurement bases. 

  

£16,000 

 

£19,000 

 

£20,000 

 

£37,000 

Historical cost     

Current cost     

Fair value     

Value in use     
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For profit organisations are businesses whose primary goal is making 
money (a profit). 

Not-for-profit organisations are non-profit making. They are usually 
charities, clubs and societies. 

Sole traders are businesses which are owned and managed by one 
individual. The owner is responsible for any business debts. 

Partnerships are businesses which are owned and managed by two or more 
persons. The partners are responsible for any business debts. 

Limited companies are classed as its own legal entity where the 
shareholders (investors) are the owners. The company finances are separate 
from those of the owners (shareholders). This means that the shareholders’ 
responsibility for the company’s financial liabilities is limited to the value of 
shares that they own but haven’t yet paid for. 

Limited liability partnerships (LLPs) are partnerships where some or all of 
the partners have limited liabilities similar to shareholders in a company. 

Charities are organisations which meet the definition of a charity set out in the 
Charities Act 2011. It must be established for charitable purposes only, 
meaning that it must be for the general benefit of the public. It needs to be 
established for specific purposes for example the advancement of education, 
the advancement of religion and the advancement of arts and culture. 

Public sector organisations are responsible for providing all Public Services 
in the UK. From Healthcare to Education, Social Care to Housing, Refuse 
Collection to International Development, Tourism Promotion to Pensions. 
Funding comes through taxation.  

Different types of business organisation 
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We recommend the following additional questions for the topics covered in this 
chapter: 

Study Text (for teaching throughout the chapter and additional learning) 

 Chapter 2: TYU 1-9 

Practice Questions (for teaching throughout the chapter and additional learning) 

 Chapter 2: The conceptual framework and types of business organisations 

Exam Kit (for revision and additional learning) 

 Questions 10-15 

 

 
  

Additional tutor guidance 
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By the end of this session you should be able to:  

 identify the components needed to produce a complete set of financial 
statements 

 describe the purpose, including key components, of a statement of financial 
position, statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, and a 
statement of changes in equity prepare the accounting entries to recognise and 
adjust for provisions  

 identify differences between preparing sole trader and limited company 
accounts 

and answer questions relating to these areas. 

 
  

Chapter 3 
Company financial statements 

Outcome 

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviours  

Knowledge: Accounting, Regulation and Compliance 

Skills: Communication, Produces Quality and Accurate Information 

Behaviours: Adding Value 
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IAS 1 requirements for company annual financial statements: 

 Statement of financial position 

 Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

 Statement of changes in equity 

 Statement of cash flows (chapter 14) 

 Notes to the financial statements 

 
  

Limited company financial statements 
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The statement of financial position presents the assets, equity and liabilities of the 
limited company as at the end of a reporting period. 

 

Statement of financial position as at 31 December 20X2 
 £ £ 
Non-current assets   
Property, plant and equipment  X 
Intangible assets  X 
  ––– 
Current assets  X 
Inventories X  
Trade and other receivables X  
Cash and cash equivalents X  
 –––  
  X 
  ––– 
Total assets  X 
  ––– 
Equity   
Share capital  X 
Share premium account  X 
Retained earnings  X 
Revaluation surplus    X 
  ––– 
Total equity  X 
  ––– 
Non-current liabilities   
Loans or debentures  X 
Current liabilities   
Trade and other payables X  
Bank overdrafts X  
Tax payable X  
 –––  
  X 
  ––– 
Total liabilities  X 
  ––– 
Total equity and liabilities  X 
  ––– 

Statement of financial position 
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The statement of financial position is a summary or list of all assets and 
liabilities of the limited company at the end of the accounting period. 

Non-current assets are those assets that will be used in the business over a 
number of years. Examples include land and buildings and plant and 
machinery. 

Current assets are those assets that are expected to be realised in the 
business in the normal course of trading (usually a period of less than one 
year). Examples include inventories and prepayments. 

Non-current liabilities are those liabilities which will be paid off over a period 
exceeding one year from the reporting date. An example would be a long-term 
bank loan. 

Current liabilities are the short-term payables of the business which are due 
to be paid within one year of the reporting date. Examples include trade 
payables and bank overdrafts. 
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Example 1[E13]  
 

Identify where each of the following would be classified on the statement 
of financial position. 

  

Non-
current 
asset 

 

Current 
asset 

 

 

Non-
current 
liability 

 

Current 
liability 

Bank overdraft     

Fixtures and 
fittings     

Inventory     

Long-term loan     
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The statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income shows the 
performance of the company over the period. It includes items of other 
comprehensive income, such as revaluation gains, which are not recognised in profit 
or loss. 

 

 

 

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for year 
ended 31 December 20X2 

  £ 
Revenue  X 
Cost of sales (X) 
  ––– 
Gross profit X 
Distribution costs  (X) 
Administrative expenses  (X) 
  ––– 
Profit from operations X 
Finance costs  (X) 
  ––– 
Profit before tax  X 
Income tax expense  (X) 
  ––– 
Profit for the period   X 
  ––– 
Other comprehensive income   
Revaluation gain  X 
  ––– 
Total comprehensive income for year  X 
  ––– 

Statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income 
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Statement of profit or loss is a summary of income and expenses for a 
period (usually one year) to calculate the profit or loss made. 

The trading account calculates the gross profit or loss that has been made 
from trading activities – the buying and selling of goods or the provision of 
services. 

The net profit or loss is arrived at by deducting all expenses of the business 
from the gross profit. 
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Example 2 [M30]  
A trial balance for Karl Ltd included the following information: 

Revenue £131,700, returns outward £1,100, returns inward £1,700, purchases 
£96,000, opening inventory valuation £16,200, a note to the information 
showed that the closing inventory valuation was £17,220 and that goods which 
had cost £1,500 had been used by Karl for his own use. 

(a) The cost of goods sold for the period was: 

A £91,780 

B £94,420 

C £95,380 

D £92,380 

(b) The gross profit for the period was: 

A £32,080 

B £37,620 

C £38,220 

D None of these 

(a)  D 

Cost of goods sold: £ 
Inventories at start 16,200 
Add purchases (net of drawings £1,500) 94,500 
Less returns (1,100) 
Less closing inventories (17,220) 
 –––––– 
 92,380 
 –––––– 
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(b) B 

 £ 
Net sales (sales less returns inwards 130,000 
Cost of goods sold (92,380) 
 ––––––– 
 37,620 
 ––––––– 
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The statement of changes in equity shows the shareholders where the increases and 
decreases in their funds over the reporting period have come from. 

 

 

Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 20X2 

 
Share 
capital 

Share 
premium 

Revaluation 
surplus 

Retained 
earnings Total 

At 1 January 20X2 X X X X X 
Total comprehensive 
income   X X X 

Dividends    (X) (X) 
Share issue X X   X 
 ––– ––– ––– ––– ––– 
At 31 December 20X2 X X X X X 
 ––– ––– ––– ––– ––– 

Note: Total comprehensive income is made up of two amounts: 

 Profit for the year – this is added to retained earnings 

 Other comprehensive income – this will be attributable to revaluation 
gains and should therefore be added to the revaluation surplus. 

Statement of changes in equity 
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Example 3 [M30, E23]  
Orange Ltd has the following balances at 1 January 20X7:       £ 

Share capital (50p nominal value shares) 100,000 

Share premium 600,000 

Retained earnings 400,000 

Transactions throughout the year ending 31 December 20X7: 

 Non-current assets with a carrying amount of £70,000 were revalued to 
£120,000 on 31 December 20X7. 

 10,000 shares with a nominal value of 50p were issued at a price of 
£1.25. 

 Profit for the year from the statement of profit or loss is £165,000. 

Required: 

Prepare the statement of comprehensive income and statement of 
changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 20X7. 

Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 
20X7 

 £ 
Profit for year 165,000 
Other comprehensive income:   
Revaluation (W1) 50,000 
 ––––––– 
Total comprehensive income 215,000 
 ––––––– 
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Foundation: TYU 3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 Share 

capital 
Share 

premium 
Revaluation 

surplus 
(W1) 

Retained 
earnings 

Total 

 £ £ £ £ £ 
As at 1 January 
20X7 

 
100,000 

 
600,000 

 
– 

 
400,000 

 
1,100,000 

Share issue (W2) 5,000 7,500   12,500 
Total 
comprehensive 
income 

  
 
 

50,000 

 
 

165,000 

 
 

215,000 
 ––––––– ––––––– ––––––– ––––––– –––––––– 
As at 31 
December 20X7 

 
105,000 

 
607,500 

 
50,000 

 
565,000 

 
1,327,500 

 ––––––– ––––––– ––––––– ––––––– –––––––– 

Workings: 

(W1) Dr PPE 50,000 

Cr Revaluation surplus 50,000 

(W2) Dr Cash 12,500 

Cr Share capital (10,000 × 50p) 5,000 

Cr Share premium (10,000 × 75p) 7,500 



Company financial statements 

 

47 

 

There are two types of Limited Company. 

PLC means Public Limited Company and Ltd means Private Limited Company. This 
terminology needs to be included in the name of the company. 

Both the Public Limited Company and the Private Limited Company raise their capital 
through shares. The difference is that the PLC can quote the shares in a stock 
exchange (meaning the shares are publically available for purchase) whereas the Ltd 
Company cannot (therefore it is privately owned). 

In a PLC the shares can be bought and sold through the stock exchange. The shares 
of Ltd companies are normally sold privately to family and close friends. 

 
  

Differences between a private and a 
public company 
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Legal requirements: There is no legal requirement for sole traders and 
partnerships to prepare accounts but many still do as the accounts are 
useful when assessing the financial performance and position of their 
business. 

Limited companies have a legal requirement to prepare final accounts 
annually in line with the relevant accounting standards. If the company has 
adopted IFRS Standards then it must prepare accounts in the format outlined 
by International Accounting Standard 1 (IAS 1 Presentation of Financial 
Statements). 

Tax: Sole traders and partners in a partnership pay income tax on their 
share of the taxable profits. Companies pay corporation tax on their taxable 
profits and this will be charged to the statement of profit or loss as an 
expense. 

Dividends: Shareholders are given their share of the company’s profits in the 
form of dividends. This is seen as a reduction in retained earnings through the 
statement of changes in equity. 

Cost of sales and other expenses: There are two ways cost of sales and 
other expenses can be reported in the statement of profit or loss. The most 
common way is by function – expenses are categorised under three 
headings: cost of sales, distribution costs and administrative expenses. The 
alternative used by some manufacturing industries is where the nature of 
expenditure is used. This itemises expenses by nature such as depreciation, 
electricity, wages etc. 

Non-current assets: These are divided into three categories: intangible 
assets, tangible assets (property, plant and equipment) and investments. Only 
the carrying amount of the assets at the year end are shown on the statement 
of financial position. The individual categories are then split out in the notes to 
the accounts. 

Differences between preparing accounts 
for a sole trader and a limited company 
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Example 4 [E13]  
Identify whether each of the following statements in relation to company 
financial statements are true or false. 

 True False 

Tax is shown as a reduction in retained 
earnings through the statement of changes in 
equity. 

  

The movement on retained earnings for the 
current year is shown through the statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income. 

  

Dividends are shown on the statement of profit 
or loss as a reduction in profit 

  

Depreciation is not shown on the statement of 
financial position. 
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Example 5 [M30, E23]  
The following summarised trial balance has been extracted from the books of 
Spice Ltd. 

 Dr Cr 
 £ £ 
Revenue  400,000 
Purchases 200,000  
Administrative expenses 100,000  
Distribution expenses 50,000  
Plant and machinery – cost 100,000  
Plant and machinery – accumulated 
depreciation at 1 January 20X1 

  
20,000 

Trade receivables 30,000  
Inventory – 1 January 20X1 20,000  
Share capital  10,000 
Trade payables  30,000 
Retained earnings – 1 January 20X1  100,000 
Cash  60,000  
 –––––––– –––––––– 
 560,000 560,000 
 –––––––– –––––––– 

The following notes are relevant to the preparation of the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 20X1: 

The current year tax bill has been estimated at £10,000.  

The cost of inventory as at 31 December 20X1 is £15,000.  

Depreciation on plant and machinery is charged to cost of sales on a straight 
line basis at 10% per annum. 

Required:  

Prepare the statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 
20X1 and the statement of financial position as at 31 December 20X1. 
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Statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 20X1 
 £      
Revenue 400,000 
Cost of sales (W1) (215,000) 
 ––––––– 
Gross profit 185,000 
Administrative expenses  (100,000) 
Distribution expenses  (50,000) 
 ––––––– 
Profit before tax 35,000 
Income tax expense (10,000) 
 ––––––– 
Profit after tax 25,000 

(W1) Cost of sales 

 £      
Opening inventory 20,000 
Purchases 200,000 
Depreciation (100,000 × 10%) 10,000 
Closing inventory (15,000) 
 –––––––– 
 215,000 
 –––––––– 
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Statement of financial position as at 31 December 20X1 

 £ 
Assets  
Non-current assets  
Property, plant and equipment 
(£100,000 – £20,000 – £10,000 (W1)) 

70,000 

Current assets  
Inventories 15,000 
Trade and other receivables  30,000 
Cash and cash equivalents  60,000 
 –––––––– 
Total assets 175,000 
 –––––––– 
Equity and liabilities  
Share capital 10,000 
Retained earnings (£100,000 + £25,000 (P/L))  125,000 
Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables 

 
30,000 

Tax payable 10,000 
 –––––––– 
Total equity and liabilities 175,000 
 –––––––– 
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Summary 

Statement of financial 
position  

 Presents assets, equity 
and liabilities  

Company financial statements 

Statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive 

income 

 Summary of income and expenses 
over a period  

Statement of 
cash flows 

Statement of 
changes in 

equity 

 Increases 
and 
decreases 
in equity 
over a 
period  

Notes 
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We recommend the following additional questions for the topics covered in this 
chapter: 

Study Text (for teaching throughout the chapter and additional learning) 

 Chapter 3: TYU 1-3 

Practice Questions (for teaching throughout the chapter and additional learning) 

 Chapter 3: Company financial statements 

Exam Kit (for revision and additional learning) 

 Questions 16-18 

 
 

Additional tutor guidance 
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By the end of this session you should be able to:  

 account for the purchase, depreciation and disposal of property, plant and 
equipment 

 account for revaluation surpluses and decreases 

 explain the disclosures required for property, plant and equipment 

and answer questions relating to these areas. 

 

 

 

 

  

Chapter 4 
Property, plant and equipment 

Outcome 

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviours  

Knowledge: Accounting, Regulation and compliance, Business awareness 

Skills: Produces Quality and Accurate Information, Analysis 

Behaviours: Adding Value, Ethics and Integrity 
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Overview 

Property, plant and 
equipment (PPE)  

IAS 16 

Acquisition 

Depreciation 

Disposal 

Revaluations 

Profit Loss 
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IAS 16 outlines the accounting treatment for most types of property, plant and 
equipment.  

 

Property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost, which includes all costs 
directly attributable to bringing the asset into working condition, for example: 

 Purchase price 

 Delivery costs 

 Legal fees 

 Direct labour costs  

 Testing and installation costs 

Subsequent expenditure on the asset can only be capitalised if it enhances the 
productive capacity of an asset. 

The total cost is then depreciated, so that its depreciable amount is allocated over its 
useful economic life. 

  
Non-current assets are assets that are purchased with the intention of long 
term use within the business. 

Tangible non-current assets are assets that have a tangible, physical form, 
such as land and, buildings, machinery and cars. 

Intangible non-current assets are assets for long-term use in the business 
that have no physical form, e.g. patents and licences. 

Capital expenditure is expenditure on non-current assets or on the 
improvement of non-current assets. Capital purchases are recorded as assets 
on the statement of financial position. 

Revenue expenditure is all other expenditure within the business that is not 
of a capital nature. This may include expenditure that maintains but does not 
improve non-current assets, such as money spent on repairs and renewals. 

Recording property, plant and equipment 
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Core: TYU 2 

 

 

 

 

Example 1 [M30]  
 

Bella Ltd purchased a new juicing machine for their café on 1 January 20X3. 
The machine had a purchase price of £2,000 and Bella incurred delivery costs 
of £85 and installation costs of £150.  

In order to make sure their staff knew how to use the machine, the supplier also 
provided training at a cost of £300.  

Bella paid for all of these costs upfront.  

Required: 

Identify the accounting entries that are required to record the acquisition 
of the new item of equipment and associated costs. 

Asset cost = £2,000 + £85 + £150 = £2,235 

 

DR Equipment cost  £2,235 

DR Training expense  £300 

CR Cash     £2,535 
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Depreciation is the consumption or usage of a non-current asset in the 
accounting period which is spread over its estimated useful life to the 
business. Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use. 

Useful economic life is the period over which economic benefits are 
expected to be derived from the asset. 

Residual value is the amount that the asset is expected to be sold for at the 
end of its useful economic life.  

Depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment 

Methods of 
depreciation 

Straight-line 

This assumes that the asset is 
used consistently throughout its 
life. The depreciation charge is 
the same each year. 

Diminishing balance 

This assumes that an asset is 
used less and less the older that 
it gets. The depreciation charge 
falls each year. 
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Once the annual depreciation charge has been calculated, it is recorded using the 
following accounting entries: 

DR:  Depreciation charge (SPL) 

CR:  Accumulated depreciation (SFP) 

There are separate accumulated depreciation accounts for each type of non-current 
asset. 

 

 
  

  
Straight-line method: 

EITHER: (Cost – residual value)/Useful economic life 

OR: (Cost – residual value) × % 

Diminishing balance method: 

Carrying amount of non-current asset × % 

Carrying amount can be calculated as the cost of the asset less the 
accumulated depreciation charged to date. 
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Example 2 [M30]  
 

Jessica buys a machine for £3800 on 30 June 20X9. She estimates she will be 
able to sell for £50 in 15 years.  

Required: 

What depreciation charge will be recognised in the year ended 31 
December 20X9?  

Depreciation expense =  
3,800 – 50

15
  ×  

6
12

 

 =  £125 
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Example 3 [M5, M30]  
 

Annabelle buys an asset for £20,000 on 1 January 20X1. Depreciation is 
charged at 20% reducing balance.  

Required: 

What is the depreciation expense to be recognised for year ended 
31 December 20X3? 
Cost   20,000 
20X1 depreciation (20,000 × 20%)  (4,000) 
 –––––– 
20X1 carrying value  16,000 
20X2 depreciation (16,000 × 20%)  (3,200) 
 –––––– 
20X2 carrying value  12,800 
20X3 depreciation (12,800 × 20%)  (2,560) 
 –––––– 
20X3 carrying value  10,240 

Depreciation for the year ended 31 December 20X3 = £2,560 
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Accounting treatment upon disposal of a non-current asset: 

Step 1 – Remove the cost of the asset and transfer to a disposal account 

DR:  Disposal of NCA 

CR:  Non-current asset (specifying the type of non-current asset) 

Step 2 – Remove the accumulated depreciation and transfer to disposal 
account 

DR:  Accumulated depreciation (specifying the type of asset) 

CR:  Disposal of NCA 

Step 3 – Record disposal proceeds received in disposal account 

DR:  Cash/Bank 

CR:  Disposal of NCA 

Step 4 – Transfer remaining balance on disposal account to SPL 

DR:  Disposal of NCA 

CR:  SPL (if a profit on disposal) 

OR 

DR:  SPL (if a loss on disposal)  

CR:  Disposal of NCA 

Disposal of property, plant and 
equipment 
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Calculation of profit or loss upon disposal of a NCA: 

  £ 

Proceeds  X 
Less carrying amount: 
 Cost  X 
 Accumulated dep’n (X) 
  ––– 
    (X) 
   –––– 
Profit/(Loss)  X/(X) 
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Example 4 [M30]  
Vintage Ltd bought a machine on 1 January 2010 for £10,000. It depreciates 
machines on a straight line basis over 5 years with no estimated residual 
value. On 31 December 2012, Vintage Ltd sold the machine for £7,000  

Required: 

Calculate the profit or loss on disposal. 

The profit or loss on disposal can be calculated as follows: 

  £ 
Proceeds:  7,000 
Carrying amount:   
Cost: 10,000  
Accumulated Depreciation (6,000)  
((£10,000/5 years) × 3 years)   
 ––––––  
  (4,000) 
  –––––– 
Profit /(loss) on disposal   3,000 
  –––––– 
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IAS 16 permits revaluation of PPE – it is not compulsory. The rules for revaluations 
are: 

 The company must revalue all assets within the class or category – there 
cannot be selective revaluation of assets 

 Revalued assets should be depreciated over their remaining estimated useful 
lives 

 Revalue at regular intervals to keep valuation up to date. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Revaluation of property, plant and 
equipment 
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Accounting treatment for an increase in the carrying amount of PPE.  
This creates an unrealised gain and should be recognised in other 
comprehensive income and in the revaluation surplus within equity. 

Dr PPE – asset account  (to increase the cost to valuation amount value) 

Dr Accumulated depreciation  (to remove accumulated depreciation to date) 

Cr Revaluation surplus (to record the gain in the value of the asset) 
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Core: TYU 1 and TYU 3 
 

 

 

  

Example 5 [M30, E23]  
On 31 December 20X2, Earlgrey plc revalued a building. The building 
originally cost £5,000,000 and had an estimated useful life of fifty years with 
no residual value. Accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation was 
£1,000,000. The estimated market value of the building was £5,500,000. 

Required: 

State the double entry required to record the revaluation and calculate 
the new annual deprecation charge for the building. 

Earlgrey plc 

Dr Building – asset account £500,000 (£5,500,000 – £5,000,000) 
Dr Accumulated depreciation   £1,000,000 (to remove acc dep’n) 
Cr Revaluation surplus   £1,500,000 
 
Revised depreciation charge: £5,500,000/40 years = £137,500 
 
Note: the building has a carrying amount of £4,000,000 (5,000,000 – 
£1,000,000). It needs to be re-valued to £5,500,000. This will create a surplus 
of £1,500,000 (£5,500,000 – £4,000,000) that will be held within a revaluation 
surplus. 
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Accounting treatment for a decrease in the carrying amount of PPE. This 
creates an unrealised loss and should be recognised first against the 
revaluation surplus (if possible), and then in the SPL. 

Dr Revaluation surplus/SPL  (to recognise fall in value) 

Dr Accumulated depreciation  (to remove all accumulated depreciation) 

Cr PPE – asset account  (to record the loss in the value of the asset) 
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Example 6 [M30, E23]  
Several years ago, Lapsong Ltd re-valued a building to £3,000,000 recording 
a surplus of £100,000 which is held within a revaluation surplus. On 31 
December 20X2, the accumulated depreciation on the building was £400,000. 
At that date, a surveyor advises that the building was now worth only 
£2,000,000 with a remaining estimated useful life of twenty years. 

Required: 

State the double entry required to record the revaluation and calculate 
the new annual deprecation charge for the building. 

Lapsong Ltd 
Dr  Revaluation surplus  £100,000 (reduced to nil by the 

revaluation decrease) 
Dr  Statement of profit or loss  £500,000 (balancing figure) 
Dr  Accumulated depreciation  £400,000 (to remove acc dep’n) 
Cr  Building – asset account  £1,000,000 (£3,000,000 – £2,000,000) 
 
Revised depreciation charge: £2,000,000/20 years = £100,000 
 
Note: the asset currently has a carrying amount of £2,600,000 (£3,000,000 – 
£400,000). It needs to be re-valued to £2,000,000. This is a revaluation 
decrease of £600,000. This will first of all be allocated to the revaluation 
surplus, reducing it from £100,000 to nil. The remaining loss of £500,000 
(£600,000 – £100,000) will be expensed to the statement of profit or loss. 
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Accounting treatment for the excess depreciation annual transfer within 
SOCIE. 

This transfer is not compulsory, but if done, must be applied consistently every 
year. The effect is to regard part of revaluation surplus as being realised. 

The transfer amount is calculated by comparing: 

Annual depreciation expense after revaluation X 

Annual depreciation expense without revaluation X 

Difference = transfer amount    X 

The transfer is recorded each year in the SOCIE. 

Dr Revaluation surplus 

Cr Retained earnings 

Accounting treatment for the disposal of a revalued asset. 

A gain or loss on disposal is included in statement of profit or loss for the year. 
Transfer balance on revaluation surplus to retained earnings within SOCIE. 

Dr Revaluation surplus 

Cr Retained earnings 
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Extension: TYU 4 
  

Example 7 [M30, E23]  
This example uses the same information as example 5. On 31 December 
20X2, Earlgrey plc revalued a building. The building originally cost £5,000,000 
and had an estimated useful life of fifty years with no residual value. 
Accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation was £1,000,000. The 
estimated market value of the building was £5,500,000. 

Required: 

Calculate the reserves transfer amount and set out the double entry that 
would be reflected in the SOCIE.  

Earlgrey plc 

Revised depreciation charge: £5,500,000/40 years =  £137,500 
Previous depreciation charge: £5,000,000/50 years = £100,000 
  –––––––– 
Difference = reserves transfer  £37,500 
  –––––––– 
 
In SOCIE: 
 
DR Revaluation surplus  £37,500 
CR Retained earnings  £37,500 
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In the financial statements, a disclosure note is required that details the changes in 
the cost and accumulated depreciation account balances of each class of property, 
plant and equipment since the last reporting date. 

 Land and 
buildings 

 Plant and 
machinery 

 Motor 
vehicles 

 Total 

Cost or valuation        
At 1 January 20X2 X  X  X  X 
Additions X  X  X  X 
Disposals (X)  (X)  (X)  (X) 
Revaluations X  X  X  X 
 ––––  ––––  ––––  –––– 
At 31 December 20X2 X  X  X  X 
 ––––  ––––  ––––  –––– 
Accumulated depreciation        
At 1 January 20X2 X  X  X  X 
Revaluations (X)  (X)  (X)  (X) 
Charge for year X  X  X  X 
Disposals (X)  (X)  (X)  (X) 
 ––––  ––––  ––––  –––– 
At 31 December 20X2 X  X  X  X 
 ––––  ––––  ––––  –––– 
Carrying amount        
At 31 December 20X2 X  X  X  X 
 ––––  ––––  ––––  –––– 
At 1 January 20X2 X  X  X  X 
 ––––  ––––  ––––  –––– 

Note that the PPE asset accounts may now include some items measured at cost 
whilst others are stated on a valuation basis. Strictly, the term ‘cost account’ should 
no longer be used – ‘assets at cost or valuation’ is a more accurate description. 

Accounting policies disclosures: 

 Depreciation methods and rate(s) used for each major class of asset. 

 Measurement basis (cost or valuation) for each major class of asset.  

Disclosures 
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Summary 

Property, plant and 
equipment (PPE)  

IAS 16 

Acquisition 

 Costs directly 
attributable  

Depreciation 

 Straight line 

 Diminishing balance 

Disposal 

 Proceeds – carrying 
amount 

Revaluations 

Profit Loss 
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We recommend the following additional questions for the topics covered in this 
chapter: 

Study Text (for teaching throughout the chapter and additional learning) 

 Chapter 4: TYU 1-4 

Practice Questions (for teaching throughout the chapter and additional learning) 

 Chapter 4: Property, plant and equipment 

Exam Kit (for revision and additional learning) 

 Questions 19, 37-39 
 

Additional tutor guidance 
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By the end of this session you should be able to:  

 distinguish between tangible and intangible assets 

 record entries for the acquisition of intangible assets 

 distinguish between research and development activities 

 explain the accounting treatment of research and development activities 

 record entries for the amortisation of intangible assets 

and answer questions relating to these areas. 
  

Chapter 5 
Intangible assets 

Outcome 

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviours  

Knowledge: Accounting, Regulation and Compliance, Business Awareness 

Skills: Produces Quality and Accurate Information, Analysis 

Behaviours: Adding Value, Ethics and Integrity 
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Overview 

Intangible assets  

IAS 38 

Purchased  

Research and 
development 

Internally generated  

Amortisation 
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An asset is identifiable if: 

 It is capable of being separated from other assets 

 It arises from contractual or other legal rights  

Intangible assets can be purchased or internally generated.  

Intangible assets are recognised if the following criteria are met: 

 Identifiable – see above 

 Controlled – able to use or determine who can use the assets 

 Reliable measurement of cost – otherwise cannot recognise 

 Future economic benefits – e.g. revenue from future sales, cost savings 

Internally generated assets are not normally recognised. 

Measurement: 

 Initially recognise – at cost (including directly attributable costs) 

 Amortise if – reliable estimate of Economic Useful Life (EUL) 

 If no EUL – permanent asset, subject to annual impairment review 

 Permitted to revalue intangible assets, but requires active market for identical 
assets – very rare. 

  
IAS 38 defines an intangible asset as ‘an identifiable non-
monetary asset without physical substance’ [IAS 38, para 8] e.g. computer 
software, patented technology and trademarks. 

Recognition and measurement of 
intangible assets  
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Example 1[M30]  
Diamond Ltd incurred a number of items of expenditure during the year ended 
31 July 20X8: 

Required: 

For each item of expenditure, identify whether an intangible should be 
recognised. 

 Recognise 
intangible 

 

Do NOT 
recognise 
intangible 

 

Purchase of a licence for 
£50,000 to manufacture a 
new product 

  

A marketing campaign at a 
cost of £3,000 which is 
hoped to lead to an 
increase in sales 

  

Brand development costs 
of £10,000, which included 
redesigning the company’s 
logo and promoting it on 
social media 
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Research – is the original investigation which is undertaken in order to obtain 
new knowledge. This expenditure should be written off to the SPL as incurred. 
An example of research could be a company in the pharmaceuticals industry 
undertaking activities or tests aimed at obtaining new knowledge to develop a 
new cough medicine. 

Development – is the application of research findings to produce new or 
improved materials, products or processes. This expenditure should be 
capitalised and amortised if it meets the specific criteria – otherwise write off 
to the SPL. An example of development is a manufacturer undertaking the 
design, construction, and testing of a pre-production model. 

Research and development 
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Development costs criteria for compulsory capitalisation 

Remember SECTOR: 

 Sufficient resources to complete 

 Entity will complete development of product 

 Complete the project 

 Technically feasible 

 Overall profitable 

 Reliably measured 
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Core: TYU 1, TYU 2 and TYU 3 

 

 

 
  

Example 2 [M30, E23]  
Salmon Ltd, a manufacturer of food packaging, has undertaken a number of 
research and development activities in the year ended 31 December 2013. It 
can be assumed that expenditure occurred evenly over the course of the year. 

(i) £500,000 has been spent testing a new type of plastic to see if it is 
harmful to humans. 

(ii) In the prior year, Salmon Ltd performed tests on a new type of plastic 
and found that it decomposes much more quickly than traditional 
plastics. During the year ended 31 December 2013, £120,000 has been 
spent designing a milk bottle that incorporates the new plastic. On 1 
August, the directors received the results of market research that 
demonstrated a massive demand for this new milk bottle. Salmon Ltd 
has sufficient resources to bring the product to market. 

Required: 

What is the correct accounting treatment for the research and 
development activities in the year ended 31 December 2013? 

(i) This project is still in the research phase. Therefore, all £500,000 must 
be recognised as an expense in the statement of profit or loss. 

(ii) This project is in the development stage. An intangible asset must be 
recognised when the IAS 38 criteria are met. The profitability of the 
project was confirmed on 1 August 2013 so expenditure from this date is 
capitalised. Therefore an intangible should be recognised at £50,000 
(5/12 × £120,000). The remaining £70,000 (£120,000 – £50,000) must 
be charged to the statement of profit or loss. 
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Amortisation is similar to depreciation but is used for intangible assets. Once 
amortisation has been calculated, it can be recorded using the following accounting 
entries: 

Dr:  Amortisation expense (SPL) 

Cr:  Accumulated amortisation (SFP) 

If the intangible asset has no reliable estimate of EUL, then it cannot be amortised, 
but must have an annual impairment review. 

 

Amortisation 
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Example 3 [M30, E23]  
Chardonnay Ltd purchased two brands on 30 June 2013. Details of these 
brands are given below: 

Brand Name Cost (£) Useful Life (years) 

A 100,000 10 
B 500,000 Indefinite 

In addition, Chardonnay Ltd has internally generated a new brand (Brand C). 
It estimates that this cost £400,000 in staff costs.  

Required: 

What is the correct accounting treatment of the brands in the year ended 
31 December 2013? 

Brand A:  This brand will be recognised in the statement of financial position 
at its cost of £100,000. 

This will be amortised over the useful life of 10 years from the date the brand 
is available to use (30 June 2013). 

The amortisation expense in the statement of profit or loss is therefore £5,000 
((£100,000/10 years) × 6/12)). This will reduce the value of the brand in the 
statement of financial position to £95,000 (£100,000 – £5,000). 

Brand B:  The brand will be recognised in the statement of financial position 
at its cost of £500,000. 

This brand has an indefinite useful life and is therefore not amortised. Instead, 
it will be subject to an annual impairment review. 

Brand C:  This is an internally generated intangible asset. Internally 
generated intangible assets can only be recognised if they result from 
development activities and strict criteria are met. 

Therefore, Brand C will not be held on the statement of financial position. 
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Summary 

Intangible assets  

IAS 38 

Purchased  

 Recognise if meets 
criteria  

Research and 
development 

 Write off research to SPL 

 SECTOR  

Internally generated  

 Not recognised  

Amortisation 

 DR Amortisation expense 

 CR Accumulated 
Amortisation  



Intangible assets 

 

89 

 

 

 

 

We recommend the following additional questions for the topics covered in this 
chapter: 

Study Text (for teaching throughout the chapter and additional learning) 

 Chapter 5: TYU 1-3 

Practice Questions (for teaching throughout the chapter and additional learning) 

 Chapter 5: Intangible assets 

Exam Kit (for revision and additional learning) 

 Questions 20, 23, 52 and 53 

 
  

Additional tutor guidance 
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By the end of this session you should be able to:  

 assess when an impairment review is required 

 calculate if an asset is impaired 

 account for the impairment of an asset  

and answer questions relating to these areas. 

 
  

Chapter 6 
Impairments 

Outcome 

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviours  

Knowledge: Accounting, Regulation and Compliance, Business Awareness 

Skills: Produces Quality and Accurate Information, Analysis 

Behaviours: Adding Value 
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Overview 

Impairment of assets 

IAS 36 

Recognition 
requirement 

Accounting treatment  

Impairment losses 
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IAS 36 Impairment of Assets 

Impairment – a reduction in the recoverable amount of an asset below its 
carrying amount 

Recoverable amount – the higher of either fair value less costs to sell or 
value in use 

Fair value less costs to sell – the amount an asset could be sold for, less 
direct selling costs 

Value in use – the present value of future cash flows arising from continued 
use of the asset 

Impairment of assets  

Compare 

Carrying 
amount 

Recoverable 
amount – 
greater of 

Fair value 
less costs to 

sell 

Value in use 
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Indications of impairment may be either internal or external. 

Internal External 

 Evidence of obsolescence/damage  Decline in market value 

 Changes in asset use  Changes in environment: economic, 
market, technological or legal 

 Asset performance below 
expectations 

 

 

 

 

 

Example 1[M30]  
Tintin Co owns a machine that is damaged as a result of a fork-lift truck 
reversing into it.  The machine has a carrying amount of £42,000 at the date 
of the accident.  The damaged machine could be sold for £15,000, but if the 
company continues to use the asset it will generate cash flows with a present 
value of £19,000. 

Required: 

Calculate the recoverable amount. 

To calculate the recoverable amount we take the higher of fair value less 
costs to sell (taken here as potential sale proceeds of £15,000) and the value 
in use (the present value of cash flows of £19,000).  The recoverable amount 
is therefore £19,000. 
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Annual impairment reviews are required for: 

 Intangible assets which have been assessed as having an indefinite useful life  

 Goodwill arising from a business combination – this is covered later on in group 
accounts 

 Otherwise – only need impairment review when there is an indication of 
possible impairment 

 
  

  
Impairment review calculation 

   £ 

Carrying amount (CA) of asset X 

Less recoverable amount – the higher of  

(a) Fair value less costs to sell X 

(b) Value in use X (X) 

   –––– 

             X 

   –––– 

Impairment reviews 
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Outcome of impairment review: 

 If recoverable amount exceeds CA of asset, then no impairment  

 If recoverable amounts is less than CA of asset – impairment loss is written off 
against revaluation surplus if a revalued asset, otherwise to SPL 

 DR Statement of profit or loss X 

 CR Assets (SFP)   X 

 Disclose impairment losses in notes to SPL 

 Depreciate reduced asset CA over remaining EUL 
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Core: TYU 1 and TYU 2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Example 2 [M30]  
This example follows on from Example 1. 

Tintin Co owns a machine that is damaged as a result of a fork-lift truck 
reversing into it.  The machine has a carrying amount of £42,000 at the date 
of the accident.  The damaged machine could be sold for £15,000, but if the 
company continues to use the asset it will generate cash flows with a present 
value of £19,000. 

Required: 

Calculate the impairment. 

We have already worked out that the recoverable amount is £19,000. This is 
less than the carrying amount of £42,000 and the value of the machine is thus 
impaired. 

The impairment is calculated by deducting the recoverable amount of £19,000 
from the carrying amount of £42,000 to give an impairment of £23,000. 
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Example 3 [M30]  
The following information relates to three assets held by a company. 

 A B C 
Carrying amount (£) 200 200 200 
Net selling price (£) 250 175 160 
Value in use (£) 180 150 180 

Required: 

Calculate the impairment losses, if any, in respect of the three assets 
and state the double entry required. 

Recoverable amount is the higher of the net selling price (fair value less costs 
to sell) and value in use. 

 A B C 
Carrying amount (£) 200 200 200 
Recoverable amount (£) 250 175 180 
Impairment (£) No 25 20 

Note: Asset A’s recoverable amount has not fallen below the carrying amount 
so there is no impairment loss. 

The double entry to account for the impairment is: 

DR Statement of profit or loss  45 

CR Assets (SFP)    45 
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Summary 

Impairment of assets 

IAS 36 

 intangible with indefinite UEL 

 goodwill on acquisition 

 indications of impairment 

Recognition requirement 
  carrying amount < recoverable  

amount 

Accounting treatment  
  DR SPL  
  CR Assets (SFP) 

Impairment losses 
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We recommend the following additional questions for the topics covered in this 
chapter: 

Study Text (for teaching throughout the chapter and additional learning) 

 Chapter 6: TYU 1-2 

Practice Questions (for teaching throughout the chapter and additional learning) 

 Chapter 6: Impairments 

Exam Kit (for revision and additional learning) 

 Questions 43, 46 and 47 
 

 

Additional tutor guidance 
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By the end of this session you should be able to:  

 account for closing inventory at the lower of its cost and net realisable value 

and answer questions relating to these areas. 
 

 

 

  

Chapter 7 
Inventories 

Outcome 

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviours  

Knowledge: Accounting, Regulation and Compliance, Business Awareness 

Skills: Produces Quality and Accurate information, Analysis 

Behaviours: Adding Value, Professional Scepticism 
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Overview 

Inventories  

IAS 2 

Closing inventory 

Accounting entries Valuation 
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There are some costs that can’t be included within the cost of inventory, such as: 

 Overheads (with the exception of production overheads) 

 Selling costs 

 Storage costs 

 Abnormal waste of materials, labour or other costs 

 Administrative overheads 

 
  

  
IAS 2 requires inventories to be ‘stated at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value (NRV)’ [IAS 2, para 9] for each separate item or product 
(referred to as line by line basis). 

Cost – comprises all costs of purchase, conversion and finishing to bring 
items to their current location and condition: e.g. purchase cost of raw 
materials, import duties, freight costs  

Net realisable value – the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 
business, less the estimated costs required to complete and sell the item  

Recording inventories  
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Example 1[M30]  
Which two of the following would be included in the cost of finished 
goods? 

A Carriage inwards 

B Carriage outwards 

C Depreciation of delivery vehicles 

D Finished goods storage costs 

E Import duties 

A and E 

Carriage inwards and import duties would be included in the cost of finished 
goods.  
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Example 2 [M30]  
Tracey Ltd sells three products – A, B and C. The following information was 
available at the year-end: 

 A B C 
 £ per unit £ per unit £ per unit 
Original cost 7 10 19 
Estimated selling price 15 13 20 
Selling and distribution costs 2 5 6 
Units of inventory 20 25 15 

Required: 

What is the correct value of closing inventories? 

All items should be valued at the lower of cost and NRV. 

Unit A:  Cost = £7 

  NRV = £13 (£15 – £2) 

  Therefore each of the 20 units should be valued at £7 

Unit B:  Cost = £10 

  NRV = £8 (£13 – £5) 

  Therefore each of the 25 units should be valued at £8 

Unit C:  Cost = £19 

  NRV = £14 (£20 – £6) 

Therefore each of the 15 units should be valued at £14 

Closing inventory is therefore £550 ((20 × £7) + (25 × £8) + (15 × £14)) 
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Accounting entries for closing inventories at year end: 
Dr:  Closing inventory (SFP) 
Cr:  Closing inventory (Cost of sales – SPL) 

Foundation: TYU 2 

Core: TYU 1 and TYU 4 
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An inventory count will reveal the number of units of each type of inventory held at 
the year end.  

There does, however, remain the problem of what cost to attach to each unit.  

 

Thomas Ltd buys rugby balls from a supplier in China and sells them on to 
retailers in the UK for a profit.  

At the start of 20X6 one rugby ball cost Thomas Ltd £1.25. This gradually rose 
to £1.80 by the end of 20X6.  

At the end of 20X6, Thomas Ltd has 6,000 rugby balls in inventory. They know 
that they must value them at cost but are unsure whether this should be £1.25, 
£1.80 or somewhere in-between.  

Methods of identifying cost per unit for identical items: 

 Unit cost – actual purchase cost 

 Weighted average cost – average cost for items purchased (total cost/total 
number of units) 

 First-in-first-out (FIFO) – first items of inventory received are assumed to be first 
ones sold, so inventory held consists of the most recent purchases 

 

 

Methods of calculating cost of inventory 

Illustration 1 
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Core: TYU 3 

 

 

 
  

Example 3 [M30]  
A company starts trading in January. It makes the following inventory 
purchases: 

           Units £/unit 
1 January  5   10 
15 January 10   12 
29 January 8 15 
On 31 January, the company sells 10 units of inventory. 
Required: 
Calculate the cost of closing inventory on 31 January using: 
Total unit purchases were 23 (5 + 10 + 8). Therefore, there are 13 units  
(23 – 10) of closing inventory 
(i) First-in, first-out (FIFO) 
Under FIFO, these will be valued at the latest purchase prices: 
8 units × £15 = £120 
5 units × £12 = £60 
–––––––    ––––––– 
13 units    £180 
–––––––    ––––––– 
(ii) Average cost 

(The total purchase cost is £290 ((5 units × £10) + (10 units × £12) + (8 units × 
£15)). The average purchase cost is therefore £12.61 (£290/23 units) 

Closing inventory will be valued at £163.93 (13 units × £12.61). 
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Summary 

Inventories  

IAS 2 

Closing inventory 
  lower of cost and NRV 

  cost = present location and 
condition 

  NRV = estimated 

 selling price – estimated 
costs to sell 

Accounting entries 

  DR Closing inventory 
(SFP) 

 CR Closing inventory 
(SPL) 

 

Valuation 

 line by line basis 

 unit cost 

  weighted average cost 

  FIFO  
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We recommend the following additional questions for the topics covered in this 
chapter: 

Study Text (for teaching throughout the chapter and additional learning) 

 Chapter 7: TYU 1-7 

Practice Questions (for teaching throughout the chapter and additional learning) 

 Chapter 7: Inventories 

Exam Kit (for revision and additional learning) 
 Questions 27 and 28 

 

Additional tutor guidance 
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By the end of this session you should be able to:  

 identify the amount of tax to be recognised in the statement of financial position 
and the statement of profit or loss 

 account for adjustments in respect of over or under-estimated tax in prior 
periods 

and answer questions relating to these areas. 

 

 

 
  

Outcome 

Chapter 8 
Taxation 

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviours  

Knowledge: Accounting, Regulation and compliance, Business Awareness 

Skills: Produces Quality and Accurate Information, Analysis 

Behaviours: Adding Value 
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Overview 

Income taxes 

IAS 12 

Accounting entries 

SFP liability SPL charge 
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When the provision for a company’s income tax is made in the accounts, it is an 
estimate and an accrual is made in the accounts as follows: 

Accounting treatment for the tax estimate: 

Dr:  Tax expense (SPL) 

Cr:  Tax payable (SFP) 

The final amount will be agreed with the tax authorities at a later date. The basic 
accounting treatment is very similar to accounting for an expense on an accruals 
basis. Any difference between the original estimate and the actual amount paid at a 
later date will be adjusted in the following year. 

 
  

  
IAS 12 prescribes the accounting treatment for income taxes.  

This is tax charged on the income of a company which would normally be 
referred to as corporation tax in the UK. Reference to income taxes in this 
context should not be confused with tax paid by individuals. 

Tax in the financial statements 
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Core: TYU 1   

 
  

  
Tax in the financial statements: 

Statement of financial position £ 
Tax payable (current year estimate only) X 
  
Statement of profit or loss £ 
Current year estimate X 
Less: overprovision from previous year   (X) 
Add: underprovision from previous year X 
 ––– 
Tax expense X 
 ––– 

  
Underprovision – is an under-estimate of the tax expense in the previous 
year. This must be added to the current year tax charge. 

Overprovision – is an overestimate of the tax expense in the previous year. 
This must be deducted from the current year tax charge. 
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Example 1 [M30]  
CalcsRus Ltd estimated that the tax due on its profits for the year ended 
31 December 2012 was £90,000. 

On 1 October 2013, it settled its prior year tax bill for £88,000. 

CalcsRus Ltd estimate that the tax due on its profits for the year-ended 
31 December 2013 is £110,000. 

Required: 

What is the accounting treatment of the above for the year-ended 
31 December 2013? 

Statement of profit or loss expense for 2013 can be calculated as follows: 

 £ 
Current year tax expense 110,000 
Prior year over-estimate (2,000) 
Prior year under-estimate – 
 ––––––– 
Tax expense 108,000 
 ––––––– 
Statement of financial position  
Tax payable 

 
 

£110,000 

Alternatively, this can be presented in a T account: 

 Tax payable 
                                                  £ 
Cash 88,000 

                                                  £ 
Bfd 90,000 

  
Cfd (c/y estimate) 110,000 SPL (bal. fig) 108,000 
 –––––––  ––––––– 
 198,000  198,000 
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Example 2 [M30]  
Jenson Co recognised a tax liability in its previous financial statements of 
£20,000.  

During the year Jenson Co paid £22,000 to settle this.  

At the year end, Jenson Co has estimated its tax liability for its profits for the 
current year ended 30 June 2020 to be £25,000.  

Required: 

What is the accounting treatment of the above for the year ended 30 
June 2020? 

Statement of profit or loss expense for 2020 can be calculated as follows: 

 £ 
Current year tax expense 25,000 
Prior year over-estimate – 
Prior year under-estimate 2,000 
 ––––––– 
Tax expense 27,000 
 ––––––– 
 
Statement of financial 
position  
Tax payable 

 
 
 

£25,000 

Alternatively, this can be presented in a T account: 

 Tax payable 
                                                  £ 
Cash 22,000 

                                                  £ 
Bfd 20,000 

  
Cfd (c/y estimate) 25,000 SPL (bal. fig) 27,000 
 –––––––  ––––––– 
 47,000  47,000 
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Summary 

Income taxes 

IAS 12 

Accounting entries 

SFP liability 

 current year tax 
expense 
(estimate) 

 

SPL charge 

 current year tax 
expense 
(estimate) 

 under/over 
provision for prior 
year 
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We recommend the following additional questions for the topics covered in this 
chapter: 

Study Text (for teaching throughout the chapter and additional learning) 

 Chapter 8: TYU 1 

Practice Questions (for teaching throughout the chapter and additional learning) 

 Chapter 8: Taxation 

 

 

 
 

Additional tutor guidance 
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By the end of this session you should be able to:  

 account for right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the records of the lessee 

 account for short life and low value leases 

and answer questions relating to these areas. 

 

 

  

Outcome 

Chapter 9 
Leases 

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviours  

Knowledge: Accounting, Regulation and Compliance, Business Awareness 

Skills: Produces Quality and Accurate Information, Analysis 

Behaviours: Adding Value 
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Overview 

Leases 

IFRS 16 
Lessee accounting 

Right-of-use 
asset 

Short term 
leases 

Lease liability 

Low value leases 
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A lease is a ‘contract that conveys the right to use an underlying asset for 
a period of time in exchange for consideration’. 

The lessor is the ‘entity that provides the right to use an underlying asset 
in exchange for consideration’. 

The lessee is the ‘entity that obtains the right to use an underlying asset in 
exchange for consideration’. 

A right-of-use asset ‘represents a lessee's right to use an underlying asset 
for the lease term’. 

(IFRS 16, Appendix A) 

Leases 
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At the start of the lease, the lessee should recognise a lease liability and a right-of-
use asset. 

 

 

 

 
  

  
The lease liability should be recognised at the present value of 
payments not yet made, this includes: 

 Fixed payments 

 Amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees 

 Options to purchase that are reasonably certain to be exercised 

 Termination penalties if the lease term reflects the expectation that they 
will be incurred. 

  
The right-of-use asset should initially be recognised at cost, this equals: 

 Initial value of lease liability (see above) 

 Payments made at or before commencement 

 Initial direct costs 

 Estimated costs of asset removal or dismantling as per lease conditions. 

Accounting for leases 
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The initial double entry at the start of the lease : 

Dr Right-of-use asset (SFP)      X 
Cr Lease liability (SFP)                 X 
 

If there are any payments made at or before the commencement of the lease then 
the double entry at the start of the lease will be: 

Dr Right-of-use asset (SFP)      X 
Cr Lease liability (SFP)                 X 
Cr Cash (SFP)                            X 

To calculate the lease liability and right-of-use asset entities must establish the length 
of the lease term.  

The lease term comprises: 

 Non-cancellable periods 

  Periods covered by an option to extend the lease if reasonably certain to be 
exercised 

  Periods covered by an option to terminate the lease if reasonably certain not to 
be exercised. 
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Lease liability 

The carrying amount of the lease liability is increased by the interest charge, 
calculated as the outstanding liability multiplied by the discount rate of interest. This 
interest is also recorded in the statement of profit or loss: 
Dr Finance costs (SPL) X 
Cr Lease liability (SFP) X 
The carrying amount of the lease liability is reduced by cash repayments: 
Dr Lease liability (SFP) X  
Cr Cash (SFP) X 
To work out the interest and year end liabilities, a lease liability table is often used. 
The layout of the table will depend on whether payments are made at the end of the 
year (in arrears) or at the start of the year (in advance). 

Payments in arrears 

Year Balance b/f Interest Payment Balance c/f 

1 X X (X) X 

2 X X (X) X 

    (NCL) 

Payments in advance 

Year Balance b/f Payment Subtotal Interest Balance c/f 

1 X (X) X X X 

2 X (X) X X X 

   (NCL)   

Statement of financial position 

On the statement of financial position the total liability at the end of year 1 is split 
between its non-current and current elements.  

 Non-current liability (NCL) = balance outstanding immediately after the payment 
in year 2 

 Current liability = total liability at the year-end - non-current liability  



Leases 

 

125 

Right-of-use asset 

Unless another model is chosen, the cost model is used. The asset will be measured 
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

The asset is depreciated: 

 if ownership transfer to the lessee at the end of the lease, over the remaining 
useful economic life of the asset  

 if ownership does not transfer to the lessee at the end of the lease, over the 
shorter of the lease term and the useful economic life of the asset  
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Example 1[M5, M30, E23]  
A lessee enters into a lease on 1 April 20X7 for three years for an item of plant 
with an estimated useful life of four years.  The present value of lease 
payments is £46,045.  Under the terms of the lease there will be three annual 
payments of £20,000 paid in arrears with the first rental payable on 31 March 
20X8.  Ownership of the asset will not transfer to the lessee at the end of the 
lease. The lessee has a year end of 31 March. 

The interest rate implicit in the lease is 14.5%. 

Required: 

Show the journal entry to record the recognition of the asset at the start 
of the lease. 

When the lease starts, the right-of-use asset is capitalised at a value of 
£46,045, which is the present value of the lease payments not yet made.  

The ledger entry at the beginning of the lease will be: 
  £ £  
Dr Right-of-use asset (SFP) 46,045 
Cr Lease liability (SFP)  46,045 
Being the recognition of an asset under a lease and the assumption of a liability. 

Calculate the depreciation charge per year. 

The annual depreciation charge for each of the three years (shorter of the 
UEL of the asset and the lease term) will be: 

£46,045/3 years = £15,348 p.a. 

Calculate the lease liability at the year ended 31 March 20X8, split 
between non-current and current liability. 

Year  Liability b/f Interest @ 
14.5% (SPL) 

Payment Liability c/f 

 £ £ £ £ 
1 46,045 6,677 (20,000) 32,722 
2 32,722 4,745 (20,000) 17,467 
3 17,467 2,533 (20,000) 0 

At year ended 31 March 20X8, the total lease liability is £32,722. The non 
current liability is £17,467 and the current liability is £15,255. 
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Core: TYU 1 and TYU 2 
 

 

Example 2 [M5, M30]  
On 1 July 2019, Sima entered into an agreement to lease an item of 
machinery. The lease required four annual payments in advance of £215,000, 
each commencing on 1 July 2019. The equipment has a useful life of four 
years and will be scrapped at the end of the lease period.  

The present value of the total lease payments is £750,000.  

The interest rate implicit in the lease is 10%. 

Required: 

Calculate the depreciation charge per year. 

The annual depreciation charge for each of the four years will be: 

£750,000/4 years = £187,500 p.a. 

Calculate the finance charge and lease liability for the year ended 30 
June 2020. Identify the split between the non-current and current 
liability. (Note only the first two rows of the lease table are required) 
 

Year  Liability 
b/f 

Paid Net Interest 
@ 10% 

Liability c/f 

 £  £ £ £ 
30 June 20 750,000 (215,000) 535,000 53,500 588,500 
30 June 21 588,500 (215,000) 373,500   

At year ended 30 June 2020, the total lease liability is £588,500. The non 
current liability is £373,500 and the current liability is £215,000. 
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If the lease is short-term (12 months or less at the inception date) or of a low value 
then a simplified treatment is allowed. 

In these cases, the lessee can choose to recognise the lease payments in the 
statement of profit or loss on a straight line basis. No lease liability or right-of-use 
asset would therefore be recognised. Similar treatment can be applied in respect of 
low value assets. 

DR Rental expense 

CR Cash 

CR/DR Accrual/Prepayment 

 

Short-life and low value assets 
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Jacob Ltd entered into an agreement to lease an item of equipment on 1 April 
20X7. A cash payment of £1,650 is due on 1 October 20X7. An up-front and 
non-refundable deposit of £800 was paid on 1 April 20X7.  

Explain how to account for this transaction in accordance with IFRS 16 
in the year ended 31 August 20X7. 

The simplified treatment of a short lease allows the lessee to choose to 
recognise the rental expense in the statement of profit or loss on a straight 
line basis. 

The total rentals that Jacob Ltd will pay for the equipment are £2,450  

(£1,650 + £800 deposit). 

The expense in the statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 August 
20X7 should therefore be £1,021 (£2,450 × 5/12). 

However, Jacob Ltd has only made a cash payment of £800 at this date.  
Therefore, an accrual of £221 (£1,021 – £800) will also be recorded in current 
liabilities on the statement of financial position. 

The double entry required is as follows:  

Dr Lease rentals (SPL)     £1,021 
Cr Accruals (SFP)                         £221 
Cr Cash (SFP)                              £800 

Illustration 1 
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Example 3 [M30]  
Pickles Ltd acquired the use of a machine under a 6 month lease starting on 1 
November 2019. Payment are to be made as follows: 

1 November 2019 Payment of initial deposit £2,000 

31 December 2020  £4,000 

1 February 2020   £4,000 

30 April 2020   £4,000 

Required: 

Calculate the charge to the statement of profit or loss in the year ended 
31 December 2019 and the balance in the statement of financial position 
at that date. 

Total payments = £2,000 + (3 × £4,000) = 14,000 

Expense 2019 (SPL) = £14,000 × 2/6 = £4,667 

Cash paid 2019 = £2,000 + £4,000 = £6,000 

Prepayment (SFP) = £6,000 – £4,667 = £1,333 



Leases 

 

131 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

Summary 

Leases 

IFRS 16 
Lessee accounting 

Right-of-use 
asset 

  Cost 

Short term 
leases 

  Expense to SPL 

Lease liability 

  PV of 
payments not 
yet made 

Low value leases 

  Expense to SPL 
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We recommend the following additional questions for the topics covered in this 
chapter: 

Study Text (for teaching throughout the chapter and additional learning) 

 Chapter 9: TYU 1-2 

Practice Questions (for teaching throughout the chapter and additional learning) 

 Chapter 9: Leases 

Exam Kit (for revision and additional learning) 

 Questions 21 and 40 
 

 

Additional tutor guidance 
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By the end of this session you should be able to:  

 explain what is meant by a provision, contingent liability and contingent asset 

 identify the correct accounting treatment for provisions and contingencies 

 prepare the accounting entries to recognise and adjust for provisions  

 distinguish between adjusting and non-adjusting events 

and answer questions relating to these areas. 
  

Chapter 10 
Events after the reporting period, 
provisions and contingencies 

Outcome 

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviours  

Knowledge: Accounting, Regulation and Compliance, Business Awareness 

Skills: Produces Quality and Accurate Information, Analysis 

Behaviours: Adding Value, Professional Scepticism 
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IAS 37 

Recognising Accounting treatment 

Events after the 
reporting period 

IAS 10 

Adjusting 
events 

Non-adjusting 
events 
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Provisions involve uncertainty and therefore need to be estimated. IAS 37 says that 
provisions should be measured at a best estimate. This might be based on past 
experience or on expert advice. 

 
  

  
Liability – an obligation that arises from a past transaction or event that will 
lead to an outflow of economic resources 

Provision – a liability where there is uncertainty regarding either the exact 
amount and/or the timing of any payment 

What is a provision? 
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A provision should be recognised in the financial statements only if: 

 there is a present obligation (legal or constructive), and 

 it is probable that there will be an outflow of economic benefits, and  

 the outflow of economic benefits can be reliably measured. 

Note: A provision cannot be made for future operating losses – they are avoidable 
and no obligation to incur the future losses exists. 

 

Recognising a provision 
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During the year ended 31 December 20X3, a company made an employee 
redundant. The employee started legal proceedings against the company for 
wrongful dismissal as they believed that the redundancy selection process 
was unfair. 

Legal advisers believe that the company will lose the case and, based on 
similar legal cases in the past, will have to pay £300,000 in compensation. 

Determine whether or not a provision needs to be recognised in the 
financial statements or the year ended 31 December 20X3. 

 Is there an obliging event at the year end? 

Yes – the employee has been made redundant. 

 Is it probable that there will be an outflow of economic benefits as a 
result? 

Yes – the company will probably lose the case as it has not complied 
with relevant law or regulation when selecting employees for 
redundancy. 

 Can the probable outflow of economic benefits be reliably measured? 

Yes – legal advisors have estimated that a payment of approximately 
£300,000 may be required if the case is lost. 

Conclusion: A provision should be recognised in the financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 20X3 for £300,000. 

Illustration 1 
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Double entry when accounting for a provision: 

Dr:  Expense (SPL) 

Cr:  Provisions (SFP) 

When the provision is fully or partly settled: 

Dr:  Provision (SFP) 

Cr:  Bank (SFP)  

At the year-end, re-estimate provision and adjust if required.  

Increase the provision: 

Dr:  Expense (SPL) 

Cr:  Provisions (SFP) 

Decrease the provision: 

Dr:  Provision (SFP) 

Cr:  Expense (SPL)  

As a provision is an estimate, the original estimate may not match the amount that is 
actually paid. Any under-provision or over-provision is cleared to the SPL when it is 
established that no obligation remains outstanding. 

 
  

Accounting for a provision 
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Example 1[M30, E23]  
Gaga Ltd started business on 1 January 20X2 and has a year end of 
31 December. 

Gaga Ltd sell computer equipment with a one year warranty. If the item 
breaks within one year of the sale, then Gaga Ltd will fix it at no extra cost to 
the customer. 

At 31 December 20X2, Gaga Ltd estimates that it will have to spend £500,000 
fixing items which are still under warranty. 

During the year ended 31 December 20X3, Gaga Ltd spends £450,000 on 
repairing products returned under warranty. 

At 31 December 20X3, Gaga Ltd estimates that it will have to spend £600,000 
fixing items which have been sold and are still covered by a warranty.  

Required: 

What is the accounting treatment of the above for the year ended 
31 December 20X3? 

Gaga Ltd should recognise a provision for the cost of repairing goods sold 
under warranty because: 

There is an obligation – The sale of goods under warranty has occurred 

An outflow of resources is probable – It is likely that some products will break 
and that Gaga Ltd will spend money on repairing the products. 

The outflow can be measured reliably – Gaga Ltd will be able to estimate the 
cost of repairs through its knowledge of the percentage of products that 
typically develop faults and the actual cost of fixing the faults. 

There would have been a provision on 31 December 20X2 for £500,000. 
Some of the provision has been utilised in 20X3, because Gaga Ltd has 
repaired computers and therefore fulfilled its obligation. The entry for the work 
performed under the warranty is: 

Dr  Provisions £450,000 

Cr  Cash  £450,000 

The provision has therefore been reduced to £50,000 (£500,000 – £50,000). 
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Core: TYU 2 

 

 
  

At 31 December 20X3, Gaga Ltd estimates that it needs a provision of 
£600,000. Therefore the provision needs to be increased by £550,000 
(£600,000 – £50,000): 

Dr Profit or loss £550,000 

Cr  Provisions £550,000 

This can be summarised in a T account as follows: 

Provisions 

                                                  £                                                   £ 

Cash                                     450,000 Bfd                                     500,000 

  

Cfd                                     600,000 Profit or loss                        550,000 

 ––––––––  –––––––– 

 1,050,000  1,050,000 

 ––––––––  –––––––– 

Therefore, there will be a provision in the statement of financial position for 
£600,000 and a charge to the statement of profit or loss for £550,000. 
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Summary of accounting requirements: 

Probability of 

Inflow/outflow Liabilities Assets 

Virtually certain Provide (recognise) Recognise 

Probable Provide (recognise) Disclose  

Possible Disclose Ignore 

Remote Ignore Ignore 

When a provision is not recognised in the financial statements because it does not 
meet the criteria specified, it may still need to be disclosed as a contingent liability in 
the financial statements.  

 
  

Provisions – summary of accounting 
treatment 
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Contingent liabilities can be related to the earlier illustration of the employee bringing 
legal proceedings for wrongful dismissal.  

It may be that the legal advisors cannot reliably predict the outcome of the case 
and/or the amount of compensation that would be payable if the company lost the 
case. It cannot, therefore, be regarded as a probable obligation – only a possible 
obligation. This could happen, for example, if the case is based upon new law which 
has not yet been tested in courts and there are no previous cases to refer to for 
guidance.  

In this situation, a contingent liability would be disclosed in the financial statements. 

It should be noted that the requirement for the disclosure of a contingent asset differs 
from that of a contingent liability. If the likelihood of a contingent asset is probable, 
then it will be disclosed. If the likelihood is possible, then, for the purposes of the 
financial statements, it is ignored. 

Core: TYU 5  

 

 

  
Contingent liability: 

This is a possible obligation, the outcome of which will only be determined by 
one or more future events outside of the control of the entity. 

An obligation which cannot be measured reliably will also be treated as a 
contingent liability. 

Contingent asset: 

This is a possible asset, the outcome of which will only be determined by one 
or more future events outside the control of the company. 

Contingent liabilities and contingent 
assets 
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Example 2 [M30, E23]  
The draft financial statements of Madras, for the year ended 31 December 
20X9, are currently under review. The following points have been raised: 

1 An ex-employee has started an action against Madras for wrongful 
dismissal. The entity’s legal team have stated that the ex-employee is 
not likely to succeed. If the claim is successful, the likely payment has 
been estimated at £15,000.  

2 A customer made a claim against Madras for injury suffered following the 
purchase and use of a defective product. Legal advisers have confirmed 
that Madras will probably have to pay financial compensation of 
£100,000 to the customer. In turn, Madras has made a counter-claim 
against the supplier of the defective product and believes it is probably 
that its claim will be successful.  

Required: 

What is the accounting treatment of the above for the year ended 
31 December 20X9? 

1 Madras should not record a provision for the wrongful dismissal claim, 
because the claim is not likely to succeed. A provision can only be 
recognised if the transfer of economic benefits is probable.  

The likelihood of payment is possible however, so a contingent liability 
should be recognised, which means a disclosure note for the £15,000 
should be recorded in the notes to the financial statements.  

2 With the injured customer, there is a present obligation because of the 
injury caused to the customer and it is probable that there will be an 
outflow of economic benefits, therefore a provision for £100,000 should 
be recognised in the accounts: 

DR Expense  £100,000 

CR Provision £100,000 

The success of the counter-claim is considered probable, which would 
therefore need to be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements as 
a contingent asset (reimbursement). It would only be recognised as an 
asset in the statement of financial position if it was considered virtually 
certain.  
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Events after the reporting period: 

‘An event, which could be favourable or unfavourable, that occurs between 
the end of the reporting period and the date that the financial statements 
are authorised for issue.’ [IAS 10, para 3]. 

Adjusting events – provide further evidence of conditions existing at the 
reporting date. The financial statements must be adjusted to reflect these 
events. 

Non-adjusting events – provide no additional evidence about the conditions 
that existed at the reporting date. If material, these events are merely 
disclosed by a note in the financial statements. 

Events after the reporting period 
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Examples of adjusting events: 

 Settlement post year-end of court case where proceedings started pre-year end 

 Bankruptcy post year-end of a credit customer 

 Sale of inventory post year-end at less than cost 

 Discovery of fraud/error that confirm the financial statements were incorrect 
  

Events after the reporting 
period 

Events which occur after the year end but before the 
financial statements are approved 

Gives new evidence 
on condition which 
existed at the year 

end 

But impacts 
going concern 

assumption 

Adjust financial 
statements 

Gives new evidence on 
condition which did not exist 

at the year end 

Any other, disclose 
– Nature 
– Estimate of 

financial effect 
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Examples of non-adjusting events: 

 Mergers and acquisitions 

 Restructuring 

 The issue of shares or debentures 

 Purchase or sale of non-current assets or investments 

 Loss of assets as a result of a catastrophe after the year end 

 Dividends proposed after the reporting date 
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Core: TYU 1, TYU 3 and TYU 4 

 

 
  

Example 3 [M30, E23]  
Shortly after the reporting date, 31 December 20X2, a major credit customer of 
an entity went into liquidation and it is expected that little or none of a £12,000 
amount outstanding will be recoverable. £10,000 of the debt relates to sales 
made before the year end.  

Required: 

What is the accounting treatment of the above for the year ended 31 
December 20X2? 

The liquidation of the customer is treated as an adjusting event. Only £10,000 
of the debt existed at the reporting date, which is the amount that should be 
written off in the 20X2 financial statements.  

DR Irrecoverable debt expense  £10,000 

CR Receivables    £10,000 

The remaining £2,000 did not exist at the reporting date, so will be written off 
in the 20X3 financial statements.  
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Summary 

Provisions, contingent 
liabilities and contingent 

assets  

IAS 37 

Recognising 

  present obligation 
   probable outflow of 

economic benefit 
   reliably measured 

Accounting treatment 

  provide/recognise 
  disclose 
  ignore 

Events after the 
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Adjusting 
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We recommend the following additional questions for the topics covered in this 
chapter: 

Study Text (for teaching throughout the chapter and additional learning) 

 Chapter 10: TYU 1-5 

Practice Questions (for teaching throughout the chapter and additional learning) 

 Chapter 10: Events after the reporting period: provisions and 
contingencies 

Exam Kit (for revision and additional learning) 

 Questions 22, 32, 33, 50 and 51 
  

Additional tutor guidance 
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By the end of this session you should be able to:  

 understand key definitions: customer, income and revenue 

 explain and apply the five step model that relates to revenue earned from a 
contract with a customer 

 understand the revenue recognition criteria where performance obligations are 
satisfied over time or at a point in time  

and answer questions relating to these areas. 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 
  

Chapter 11 
Revenue  

Outcome 

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviours  

Knowledge: Accounting, Business Awareness, Regulation and Compliance 

Skills: Analysis, Communication, Produces Quality and Accurate Information 

Behaviours: Adding value, Ethics and Integrity, Professional Scepticism 
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Overview 

Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers 

IFRS 15 

Key definitions 

Satisfied over time 

Five-step process  

Satisfied at a point in 
time 
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Customer is defined by IFRS 15 as ‘a party that has contracted with an 
entity to obtain goods or services that are an output of the entity’s 
ordinary activities in exchange for consideration.’ [IFRS 15, Appendix A]. 

Income is defined by IFRS 15 as ‘increases in economic benefits during the 
accounting period in the form of inflows or enhancements of assets or 
decreases of liabilities that result in an increase in equity, other than those 
relating to contributions from equity participants.’ [IFRS 15, Appendix A]. 

Revenue is defined by IFRS 15 as ‘income arising in the course of an 
entity’s ordinary activities.’ [IFRS 15, Appendix A]. 

Key definitions 
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A five step process – COPAR! 

 
  

Revenue recognition 

Step 1 

Identify the Contract 

Step 2 

Identify the separate performance Obligations 

Step 3 

Determine the transaction Price 

Step 4 

Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations 

Step 5 

Recognise revenue as or when a performance obligation is 
satisfied 
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Step 1: Identify the contract 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers says that an entity can only 
account for revenue from a contract if it meets the following criteria: 

 ‘the contract has been approved by the parties to the contract;  

 each party’s rights in relation to the goods or services to be transferred 
can be identified;  

 the payment terms for the goods or services to be transferred can be 
identified;  

 the contract has commercial substance; and  

 it is probable that the consideration to which the entity is entitled to in 
exchange for the goods or services will be collected.’  [IFRS 15:9]. 

Step 2: Identify the separate performance obligations 

Performance obligations are promises to transfer distinct goods or services to a 
customer. 

IFRS 15 says that the distinct performance obligations within a contract must be 
identified. 

 

 

 
  

  
Some contracts contain more than one performance obligation. For example: 

 An entity may enter into a contract with a customer to sell a computer, 
which includes one year’s free technical support 

 A mobile phone company sells a handset together with a monthly 
package of call time and data usage.  
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Step 3: Determine the transaction price 

 

The transaction price is the consideration that the selling entity will be entitled to 
once it has fulfilled the performance obligations in the contract. 

A contract may include an element of variable consideration, for example a discount 
or a performance bonus. IFRS 15 says that if a contract includes variable 
consideration then the entity must estimate the amount it expects to receive, but only 
include such value within the transaction price if the likelihood of payment is highly 
probable. 

 

 
  

Example 1 [E13, E23, M20]  
Alfred Ltd enters into a contract with a customer on 1 April 20X3 to sell 
products for £100 per unit. The terms of the contract state that the price is 
retrospectively reduced to £90 per unit if the customer buys more than 3,000 
units in a year. 

By the reporting date of 30 June 20X3, the customer has purchased 600 units. 
Based on experience, Alfred Ltd estimates that the customer’s purchases will 
not exceed 3,000 units within the year. 

Required: 

How much revenue should Alfred Ltd recognise from the contract in the 
year ended 30 June 20X3? 

The consideration in the contract is variable because Alfred Ltd might receive 
£90 or £100 per unit. Alfred Ltd will recognise revenue at £100 per unit 
because it is highly probable that this is the amount that will be received. 

The revenue to be recognised from the contract in the year ended 30 June 
20X3 is £60,000 (£100 × 600 units). 
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Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations 

The total transaction price should be allocated to each performance obligation in 
proportion to standalone selling prices. 

Any overall discount for a bundle of goods or services when compared with the sum 
of the standalone selling prices is allocated between performance obligations 
proportionately to the standalone selling prices. For example a mobile phone retailer 
may offer a discount if two or more mobile phones and contracts are purchased at 
the same time – the discount is allocated proportionately to the cost of each phone. 

If a stand-alone selling price is not directly observable, then the entity estimates the 
stand-alone selling price. 
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. 
 

Core: TYU 1 and TYU 5 

 

 

 

 

 

Example 2 [M5, M30]  
Lavo Ltd sells machines, and also offers installation and technical support 
services. The individual selling prices of each product are shown below. 

Machine                  £350 
Installation      £30 
One year technical support service  £55 

Company Y bought a machine on 1 June 20X2, and was charged a reduced 
price of £400, including installation and one year’s technical support. 

Lavo Ltd only offers discounts when customers purchase a package of 
products together. 

Required: 

According to IFRS 15, how much of the transaction price should 
Lavo Ltd allocate to each of the performance obligations? Workings 
should be rounded to the nearest £. 

The discount should be allocated to each part of the bundled sale in 
proportion to the standalone price. The transaction price allocated to each 
performance obligation is: 

Machine £322 (£350 × £400/£435) 
Installation £28 (£30 × £400/£435) 
Service  £51 (£55 × £400/£435) 
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Step 5: Recognise revenue as or when a performance obligation is satisfied 

IFRS 15 says that ‘revenue is recognised 'when (or as) the entity satisfies a 
performance obligation by transferring a promised good or service to a 
customer' (IFRS 15: 31). 

For each performance obligation identified, an entity must determine whether it 
satisfies the performance obligation over time, or satisfies the performance 
obligation at a point in time. 
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IFRS 15 states that an entity only satisfies a performance obligation 
over time if one of the following criteria is met: 

(a) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits from 
the entity’s performance 

(b) the entity is creating or enhancing an asset controlled by the customer  

(c) the entity cannot use the asset ‘for an alternative use’ and the entity can 
demand payment for its performance to date. 

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, then revenue is 
recognised based on the progress towards completion. 

Progress towards completion may be measured using either an input method 
(costs incurred/total expected cost) or an output method (e.g. value of work 
completed/total contract price).  

Performance obligation 

Satisfied 
over time? 

Satisfied at a 
point in 
time? 
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Core: TYU 2 
  

Example 3 [E13, E23, M5, M30]  
A Ltd enters into a contract with L to construct a building. Construction started 
on 1 October 20X1. The contract price was agreed at £4 million. The building 
has been designed especially for L and could not be sold to another entity 
without significant modifications. The terms of the contract specify that L must 
pay A Ltd within 30 days of the end of each quarter based on the progress of 
construction as at the end of each quarter. A Ltd measures progress to 
completion in terms of the contract costs incurred as a proportion of total 
estimated contract costs. Total contract costs are estimated at £2.5 million. If 
L cancels the contract, then it is liable to pay A Ltd for the work completed. 

By 31 December 20X1, A Ltd has incurred costs of £0.5 million on the 
contract. The estimate of total contract costs remains unchanged.  

Required: 

Explain how A Ltd should account for the above in the year ended 
31 December 20X1. 

A Ltd has entered into a contract with a customer that contains a single 
performance obligation: to construct a building. Revenue from the 
construction should be recognised as or when the performance obligation is 
satisfied. A Ltd must therefore consider whether it satisfies the performance 
obligation over time or at a point in time. 

A Ltd is creating an asset with no alternative use and has a right to payment 
for performance completed to date. Therefore, this should be accounted for as 
a performance obligation satisfied over time. 

For performance obligations satisfied over time, revenue should be 
recognised based on progress towards the completion of the performance 
obligation. Based on costs incurred, the performance obligation is 20% 
(£0.5m/£2.5m) complete. Revenue of £0.8 million (£4m × 20%) should be 
recognised. 

A Ltd should show a receivable for £0.8 million in the statement of financial 
position. 
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Performance obligation satisfied at a point in time 

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time then it is satisfied at a point in 
time. This is normally when the customer obtains control of the promised asset. 
Revenue will be recognised when control is passed at a certain point in time. 

An entity controls an asset if it can direct its use and obtain its remaining benefits. 
Some indicators that control has passed to the customer include: 

 the customer has physical possession of the asset 

 the customer has the significant risks and rewards of ownership 

 the customer has legal title 

 the seller has a right to payment. 
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Foundation: TYU 4 

Core: TYU 3 

 

 
  

Example 4 [E13, E23, M30]  
On 31 December 20X1, Clarence delivered the January edition of a magazine 
(with a total sales value of £100,000) to a supermarket chain. Legal title 
remains with Clarence until the supermarket sells a magazine to the end 
consumer. The supermarket will start selling the magazines to its customers 
on 1 January 20X2. Any magazines that remain unsold by the supermarket on 
31 January 20X2 are returned to Clarence. The supermarket will be invoiced 
by Clarence in February 20X2 based on the difference between the number of 
issues they received and the number of issues that they return. 

Required: 

Should Clarence recognise revenue from the above transaction in the 
year ended 31 December 20X1?  

The performance obligation is not satisfied over time because the 
supermarket does not simultaneously receive and benefit from the asset. 
Clarence therefore satisfies the performance obligation at a point in time and 
will recognise revenue when it transfers control over the assets to the 
supermarket.  

The fact that the supermarket has physical possession of the magazines at 
31 December 20X1 is an indicator that control has passed. However, as at 
31 December 20X1, legal title of the magazines has not passed to the 
supermarket. Clarence has no right to receive payment until the supermarket 
sells the magazines to the end consumer.  

Finally, Clarence will be sent any unsold issues and so bears significant risks 
of ownership. All things considered, it would seem that control of the 
magazines has not passed from Clarence to the supermarket chain.  

Therefore, Clarence should not recognise revenue from this contract in its 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 20X1. 
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We recommend the following additional questions for the topics covered in this 
chapter: 

Study Text (for teaching throughout the chapter and additional learning) 

 Chapter 11: TYU 1-5 

Practice Questions (for teaching throughout the chapter and additional learning) 

 Chapter 11: Revenue 

Exam Kit (for revision and additional learning) 

 Questions 24(f) and 54 
  

Additional tutor guidance 
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By the end of this session you should be able to:  

 explain the sources of company finance 

 account for the issue of shares and loan notes 

 account for the payment of dividends  

and answer questions relating to these areas. 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
  

Chapter 12 
Company finance 

Outcome 

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviours  

Knowledge: Accounting, Business Awareness, Regulation and Compliance 

Skills: Analysis, Communication, Produces Quality and Accurate Information 

Behaviours: Adding Value, Ethics and Integrity 
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Overview 
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Ordinary 
shares 

Preference 
shares 

Irredeemable Redeemable 
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Companies need to raise finance in order to purchase the resources they require to 
operate. The two main forms of finance are debt and equity. 

 

 

 
  

  
Debt – The company receives money and must make mandatory repayments 
in return e.g. a loan to the company. The company must pay interest on the 
loan. 

Equity – The company receives money but does not have to make mandatory 
repayments. The equity holder is instead entitled to a residual interest in the 
company’s assets when the company ceases to trade 

Types of finance 
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Accounting for raising debt finance: 

Dr:  Cash received 

Cr:  Loan liability 

Interest on loans and loan notes should be recorded as a finance cost in the 
statement of profit or loss. Typically, the interest rate on loan notes is fixed, e.g. 5% 
loan notes would mean the company pays 5% of the issued loan notes as interest. 

Accounting for interest on the loan: 

Dr:  Interest charges (finance costs – SPL)  

Cr:  Cash paid or accruals  

 

 
  

  
Types of company finance 

Loans – Debt finance obtained from banks and other financial institutions.  

Loan notes/debentures – A loan note is a written acknowledgement of a loan 
to a company by either one other person or by a large number of individuals or 
other companies. The company raising finance is said to have ‘issued’ a 
debenture.  

Debt 
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Example 1[M5, M30]  
On 1 July 20X8, a company issued 6% £30,000 of debentures in order to 
finance a further investment in the business.   

At the year end of 31 December 20X8, the company had not paid any of the 
interest owed. 

Required: 

What are the double entries to account for the debenture issue and the 
interest? 

The company has issued £30,000 of debentures and has therefore received 
£30,000 in cash. The double entry required is: 

Dr Cash £30,000 

Cr Debentures (liability) £30,000 

The company needs to accrue for the interest that is owed at the end of the 6 
months. Interest due = 6% × £30,000 × 6/12 = £900. The double entry 
required is: 

Dr Interest charges (finance costs)  £900 

Cr Accruals (current liabilities)  £900 
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Ordinary shares 

 Ownership – Ordinary shareholders own the ordinary share capital and 
reserves of the company 

 

 Voting rights – Ordinary shareholders have the right to attend and vote 
at the company’s Annual General Meeting (AGM) 

 Dividends – If a company makes a profit or has accumulated retained 
profits, shareholders may receive a dividend from the company.  

  
Share capital values 

Nominal value – Each share has a nominal or par value, often £1, 50p or 
25p. Nominal value is the monetary unit that share capital is divided into for 
issue by the company to shareholders. It represents the minimum amount that 
shareholders must pay to the company when the shares are first issued. It 
does not necessarily represent the actual money received from selling the 
ordinary share.  

Share premium – This is the amount received by the company in excess of 
nominal value per share when ordinary shares are first issued. It is part of the 
equity or capital structure of the company. 

Market value – This is the actual price the ordinary share has been sold for. 
The market value less the nominal value gives the share premium. 

Equity 
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Accounting for raising equity finance: 

Dr:  Cash received 

Cr:  Share capital (NV per share) 

Cr:  Share premium (excess over NV per share received) 
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Accounting for dividend payments: 

Dividend payments reduce retained earnings. A dividend is not an expense (it is not 
charged in the profit or loss). 

Dr:  Retained earnings 

Cr:  Cash paid 

Dividends are accounted for on a cash basis, not an accruals basis. 

 

 
  

  
Reserves 

Reserves are classified as equity on the company statement of financial 
position.  

 Retained earnings – This reserve includes all the retained profits ( not 
paid out as a dividend) of the company up to the statement of financial 
position date.  

The balance is calculated as:  
Retained earnings b/fwd X 
Profit for the year (SPL) X 
Dividends paid (X) 
 ––– 
Retained earnings c/fwd (SFP) X 
 ––– 

 Other reserves – the share premium account and the revaluation 
surplus are also part of reserves. These cannot be used to pay 
dividends.  
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Example 2 [M30, E23]  
At 1 January 20X1, a company has 10,000 £1 ordinary shares in issue. To 
raise further finance, the company issues another 2,000 £1 ordinary shares for 
£3 each. 

On 30 June 20X1, the company pays a dividend to its ordinary shareholders of 
20p per share. 

Required: 

What are the double entries to account for the share issue and the 
dividend paid? 

The company has issued 2,000 new shares for £3 each. It has therefore 
received an extra £6,000. The double entry required is: 

Dr Cash £6,000 

Cr Share capital £2,000 (2,000 shares × £1 nominal value) 

Cr  Share premium £4,000 (2,000 shares × (£3 issue – £1 nominal)) 

The company now has 12,000 ordinary shares in issue (10,000 + 2,000). A 
dividend of 20p per share is paid. The total dividend payout is therefore 
£2,400 (12,000 shares × £0.2). The double entry required is: 

Dr Retained earnings £2,400 

Cr Cash £2,400 
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A preference shareholder has: 

 No right to vote at the AGM  

 No residual interest in the company 

 
  

  
Preference shares – a share which entitles the holder to a fixed dividend, 
whose payment takes priority over that of ordinary share dividends. 

Preference share dividends – shareholders receive a fixed dividend, 
calculated as a % of the nominal value of the preference share. 

Types of preference share: 

Redeemable preference shares – These shares entitle the holder to 
repayment of the money originally invested (the capital) at a later date. 
Redeemable preference shares are a liability and should be classified as debt. 

Irredeemable – These shares do not entitle the holder to repayment of capital 
and should be classified as equity. 

Preference shares 
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Example 3 [M5, M30, E23]  
Cracker Ltd, issues 8% £1 irredeemable preference share capital of £50,000 
on 1 January 20X2.  

The preference share dividend was paid on 31 December 20X2.  

Required: 

What are the double entries to account for the share issue and the 
dividend paid? 

The company has issued £50,000 of £1 preference share capital. The double 
entry required is: 

Dr Cash    £50,000 

Cr Preference share capital (equity)  £50,000  

The total dividend payment is £50,000 × 8% = £4,000. The double entry 
required is: 

Dr Retained earnings £4,000 

Cr Cash £4,000 
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Accounting for a rights issue (similar to a share issue at market value): 

Dr:  Cash received 

Cr:  Share capital (NV per share) 

Cr:  Share premium (excess over NV per share received) 

Accounting for a bonus issue: 

Dr:  Share premium/retained earnings (NV per share) 

Cr:  Share capital (NV per share) 

 

 
  

  
Rights issue – is an offer to issue shares by the company to current 
shareholders, usually in relation to the shareholder’s existing shareholding. A 
rights issue is normally made at less than market value. 

Bonus issue – is a free issue of shares to current shareholders, usually in 
relation to the shareholder’s existing shareholding. The company receives no 
consideration in exchange for the share issue. 

As no cash is received from a bonus issue, the issue must be funded from 
reserves. Any reserve can be used, though a non-distributable reserve such 
as the share premium account would be used in preference to reserves which 
can be distributed, such as retained earnings.  

Bonus and rights issues 
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Example 4 [M12, M30, E23]  
Jammy Dodger Ltd has 1,000 50p shares in issue on 1 January 20X4. 
Needing further funds, it makes a rights issue of 1 for 5 at £0.75 in 20X5. This 
offer is fully taken up.  

Required: 

What are the double entries to account for the rights issue? 

The company has issued 1 new share for every 5 that currently exists.  

New shares = 1,000 × 1/5 = 200 

Dr Cash (200 × 75p)   £150 

Cr Share capital (200 × 50p)  £100 

Cr  Share premium   £50  
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Example 5 [M12, M30, E23]  
Rich Tee Plc has 20,000 50p shares in issue, which were issued for £1.25 
each, and makes a 1 for 4 bonus issue. The share premium account is used 
for the bonus issue.  

Required: 

What are the double entries to account for the bonus issue? And what 
are the closing balance on both the share capital and share premium 
accounts? 

The company has issued 1 new share for every 4 that currently exists.  

New shares = 20,000 × 1/4 = 5000 

Dr Share premium (5,000 × 50p)  £2,500 

Cr Share capital     £2,500 

Share capital: 

(20,000 × 50p) + £2,500     £12,500 

Share premium: 

(20,000 × 75p) – £2,500     £12,500 
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Now that you have studied all the necessary accounting concepts, standards and 
treatments it’s time to bring all of this together to enable you to prepare a complete 
set of financial statements. 

When you attempt the following examples make sure you are organised with your 
method. Have a look at the further information first as this will signpost what 
adjustments are needed to the trial balance. Make a note next to it as to what will 
need to change and, where relevant, asterix the relevant account in the TB. Set up 
a workings sheet. 

The pro-forma will be set up for you, work though the pro-forma and populate the 
figures. Slowly but surely you will see the financial statements coming together. 

 

 

  

Drafting financial statements 
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Example 6 [M12, M30, E23]  
The following trial balance has been extracted from the books of Groovetrax 
PLC, a listed company, as at 31 October 20X7. 

£000 £000 
Administrative expenses 450  
Distribution costs 325  
Share capital (all ordinary shares of £1 
each) 

 206 

Cash at bank and in hand 33  
Trade receivables 250  
Allowance for doubtful debts  13 
Dividends paid 12  
Interest paid 2  
Land and buildings 477  
Land and buildings accumulated 
depreciation 

 125 

Plant and machinery 302  
Plant and machinery accumulated 
depreciation 

 112 

Retained earnings (at 1 November 20X6)  235 
Bank loan repayable 20X9  55 
Purchases 1,210  
Revenue  2,265 
Inventories at 1 November 20X6 140  
Corporation tax 4  
Trade payables  

––––– 
194 

––––– 
3,205 

––––– 
3,205 

––––– 
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Additional information 

Inventories at 31 October 20X7 had a cost of £150,000. 

The allowance for doubtful debts needs to be adjusted to 6% of trade 
receivables. Groovetrax plc classifies doubtful debt adjustments as an 
administrative expense.  

Corporation tax of £4,000 included in the trial balance is a result of an under-
estimate of the tax liability for the previous year. The corporation tax in respect 
of the current year profits is estimated to be £57,000. 

The figure for distribution costs in the trial balance includes insurance costs of 
£6,000 for the year ended 31 December 20X7.  

Land included in land and buildings with a cost of £75,000 needs to be 
revalued to £82,000. 

The interest paid in the trial balance relates to the loan repayable in 20X9. 
Interest is charged on the bank loan at 4% 

Required: 

Draft the statement of profit or loss and, the statement of changes in equity 
for the year ended 31 October 20X7 along with the statement of financial 
position as at 31 October 20X7. 
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Statement of profit or loss for the year to 31 October 20X7 
 £000 
Revenue 2,265 
Cost of sales (W1) (1,200) 

––––– 
Gross profit 1,065 
Distribution costs (W2) (324) 
Administrative expenses (W3) (452) 

––––– 

Profit from operations 289 
Finance costs (W4) (2.2) 

––––– 
Profit before tax 286.8 
Taxation (W5) (61) 

––––– 
Profit for the period from continuing operations 225.8 
Other comprehensive income for the year          
(note 5: £82,000 – £75,000) 

7 

 ––––– 
Total comprehensive income for the year 232.8 
 ––––– 

(W1) Cost of sales 

 £000 
Opening inventories 140 
Purchases 1,210 
Closing inventories (note 1) (150) 
Total 1,200 
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(W2) Distribution costs 

 £000 
Distribution costs 325 
Prepayment (note 4)  
((6,000/12m) × 2m) (1) 
Total 324 

(W3) Administrative expenses 

 £000 
Administrative expenses 450 
Increase in doubtful debts (note 2)  
(6% × 250,000) – 13,000 2 
Total 452 

(W4) Finance costs 

 £000 
Interest paid 2 
Accrual (note 6)  
(4% × 55,000) – 2,000 (already in 
TB) 

0.2 

Total 2.2 
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(W5) Taxation 

 £000 
Estimate for the current year  
(note 3) 

57 

Prior year under-provision  4 
Total 61 

Statement of changes in equity 

 
Share 
capital 

Revaluation 
surplus 

Retained 
earnings Total 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 
At 1 November 20X6 206  235 441 
Revaluation  7  7 
Profit for the period   225.8 225.8 
Dividends   (12) (12) 
At 31 October 20X7 206 7 448.8 661.8 
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Statement of financial position as at 31 October 20X7 

 £000 
Assets  
Non-current assets (W6) 

 

Property plant and equipment 549 
 ––––– 
 549 

––––– 
Current assets  
Inventories 150 
Trade and other receivables (W7) 236 
Cash and cash equivalents 33 
 ––––– 
 419 
 ––––– 
Total assets 968 
 ––––– 
Equity and liabilities  
Equity  
Share capital  206 
Retained earnings (W8) 448.8 
Revaluation surplus 7 

––––– 
Total equity 
 

661.8 
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Non-current liabilities  
Loan 55 
Current Liabilities  
Trade and other payables (W9) 194.2 
Tax liability 57 

––––– 
Total liabilities 306.2 

––––– 
Total equity and liabilities 968 

 
(W6) Non-current assets 

 £000 
Land and buildings cost 477 
Land and buildings acc 
depreciation 

(125) 

Land and buildings revaluation 7 
Plant and machinery cost 302 
Plant and machinery acc 
depreciation 

(112) 

Total carrying amount 549 

(W7) Trade and other receivables  

 £000 
Trade receivables 250 
Allowance for doubtful debts  
(6% × £250,000) 

(15) 

Prepayment 1 
Total 236 
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(W8) Retained earnings 

 £000 
Retained earnings 235 
Profit for the period 225.8 
Dividends (12) 
Total 448.8 

(W9) Trade and other payables 

 £000 
Trade payables 194 
Accrual 0.2 
Total 194.2 
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Example 7 [M12, M30, E23]  
The Chief Accountant of MLH Ltd has asked you to help prepare the financial 
statements for the year ended 30 September 20X9. The trial balance of the 
company as at 30 September 20X9 is set out below. 

Trial balance as at 30 September 20X9 
 Debit Credit 
 £000 £000 
Ordinary share capital  21,000 
Interest 900 
Trade receivables 20,200 
6% Long term loan  30,000 
Distribution costs 12,800 
Administrative expenses 7,610 
Revenue  134,840 
Retained earnings  16,570 
Cash at bank 1,930 
Accruals  1,250 
Prepayments 618 
Share premium  5,000 
Land – cost 35,900 
Buildings – cost 12,800 
Fixtures and fittings – cost 6,950 
Motor vehicles – cost 17,320 
Office equipment – cost 5,970 
Buildings – accumulated depreciation  9,020 
Fixtures and fittings – accumulated depreciation  4,370 
Motor vehicles – accumulated depreciation  10,030 
Office equipment – accumulated depreciation  2,320 
Inventories as at 1 October 20X8 20,730 
Trade payables  15,490 
Purchases 99,540 
Allowance for doubtful debts  620 
Returns inwards 456 
Returns outwards  714 
Interim dividend paid 4,500  
Final dividend paid 3,000  

 ––––––– ––––––– 
 251,224 251,224 
 ––––––– ––––––– 
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Further information: 

 The authorised share capital of the company, all of which has been 
issued, consists of ordinary shares with a nominal value of £1. 

 Inventories at the close of business on 30 September 20X9 were valued 
at cost at £13,870,000. 

 The corporation tax charge for the year has been calculated as 
£5,190,000. 

 The land has been revalued up by professional valuers by £3,200,000. 
The revaluation is to be included in the financial statements for the year 
ended 30 September 20X9. 

 Goods sold to a customer on credit for £121,000 in August 20X9 which 
originally cost £72,000 were returned to the company on 29 September 
20X9. The return of these goods has not been included in the closing 
inventory valuation above. 

 The company ran a 4 month advertising campaign starting on 
1 September 20X9 it cost £76,000. This cost is included in distribution 
costs in the trial balance. 

 Interest for the last 6 months of the year has not been included in the 
accounts. 

Required: 

Draft a statement of profit or loss, statement of changes in equity and a 
statement of financial position for MLH Ltd as at 30 September 20X9. 
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 Statement of profit and loss for the year ended 30 September 20X9 
 £000 

Continuing operations  
Revenue (W1)  134,263 
Cost of sales (W2)  

 
(105,614) 
––––––– 

Gross profit 28,649 
Distribution costs (W3) (12,743) 
Administrative expenses   (7,610) 

 ––––––– 
Profit from operations 8,296 
Finance costs (W4) (1,800) 

 ––––––– 
Profit before tax 6,496 
Tax (5,190) 

 ––––––– 
Profit for the period 1,306 

 ––––––– 
Other comprehensive income for the year  
Gain on revaluation of land   3,200 

  
Total comprehensive income for the year 4,506 
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Statement of changes in equity as at 30 September 20X9 

 
Share 
capital 

Share 
premium 

Revaluation 
surplus 

Retained 
earnings Total 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
At 1 October  20X8 21,000 5,000  16,570 42,570 
Revaluation   3,200  3,200 
Profit for year    1,306 1,306 
Dividends    (7,500) (7500) 
At 30 September 20X9 21,000 5,000 3,200 10,376 39,576 
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Statement of financial position as at 30 September 20X9 
 £000 

ASSETS 
Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment (W5) 56,400  

 ––––––– 
 56,400 
 ––––––– 

Current assets 
Inventories (W6) 13,942 
Trade and other receivables (W7) 20,134 
Cash and cash equivalents 1,930 

 ––––––– 
 36,006 
 ––––––– 

Total assets 92,406 
 ––––––– 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
Equity 
Called-up share capital 21,000 
Share premium 5,000 
Revaluation surplus 3,200 
Retained earnings (W8) 10,376 
 ––––––– 
Total equity 39,576 
Non-current liabilities 
Loan 30,000 
Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables (W9) 17,640 
Tax liabilities 5,190 
 ––––––– 
Total equity and liabilities 92,406 

         ––––––– 



Company finance 

 

195 

 

(W1) Revenue 

 £000 
Revenue 134,840 
Returns inwards (456) 
Returns inwards (note 5) (121) 
Total 134,263 
  

(W2) Cost of sales 

 £000 
Opening inventories 20,730 
Purchases 99,540 
Returns outwards (714) 
Goods returned to inventory (note 5) (72) 
Closing inventories (note 2) (13,870) 
Total 105,614 

(W3) Distribution costs 

 £000 
Distribution costs 12,800 
Prepayment (note 6 – 3/4 × 76) (57) 
Total 12,743 
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(W4) Finance costs 

 £000 
Interest 900 
Accrual (note 7 – 6% × 30,000 × 6/12) 900 
Total 1,800 

(W5) Property, plant & equipment 

 Cost Accumulated 
Depreciation 

Carrying 
amount 

 £000 £000 £000 
Land 35,900 + 3,200 – 39,100 
Buildings 12,800   (9,020)   3,780 
Fixtures & 
Fittings 

  6,950   (4,370)   2,580 

Motor Vehicles 17,320 (10,030)   7,290 
Office 
Equipment 

  5,970   (2,320)   3,650 

 –––––– –––––– –––––– 
 82,140 25,740 56,400 
 –––––– –––––– –––––– 
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 (W6) Inventories 

 £000 
Closing inventories (note 2) 13,870 
Inventory returned  (note 5) 72 
Total 13,942 

(W7) Trade and other receivables 

 £000 
Trade receivables 20,200 
Prepayments 618 
Prepayment (note 6) 57 
Allowance for doubtful debts (620) 
Goods returned (note 5) (121) 
Total 20,134 

(W8) Retained earnings 

 £000 
Retained earnings b/f 16,570 
Profit for the year 1,306 
Interim dividend paid (4,500) 
Final dividend paid (3,000) 
Total 10,376 

(W9) Trade and other payables 

 £000 
Trade payables 15,490 
Accruals 1,250 
Interest accrual (note 7) 900 
Total 17,640 
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Example 8 [M12, M30, E23]  
Toak Limited compiles its financial statements to 30 June annually. At 30 June 
20X1, the company’s trial balance was as follows: 

  £000 £000 
Revenue   15,330 
Purchases  7,780 
Inventory at 1 July 20X0 1,890 
Distribution costs 1,540 
Administrative expenses 1,000 
Land at valuation 10,500 
Buildings: – cost 8,000 
  – accumulated depreciation at 1 July 20X0  1,600 
Plant and equipment: 
  – cost 12,800 
  – accumulated depreciation at 1 July 20X0  2,480 
Trade receivables and payables 4,280 2,080 
Taxation   40 
Bank    730 
Ordinary shares of 50p each: as at 1 July 20X0  8,000 
 Issued 1 February 20X1  5,000 
Share premium account: as at 1 July 20X0  2,000 
 arising on shares issued during year  1,000 
Dividend paid 1 June 20X1 520  
Revaluation surplus as at 1 July 20X0  3,000 
Retained earnings  3,100 
5% debentures (redeemable 20Y0) (issued 1 January 20X1)  4,000 
Debenture interest paid 50 

  ––––––– ––––––– 
  48,360 48,360 
  ––––––– ––––––– 
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The following matters remain to be adjusted for in preparing the financial 
statements for the year ended 30 June 20X1. 

1 Inventory at 30 June 20X1 amounted to £1,860,000 at cost. A review of 
inventory items revealed the need for some adjustments for two product 
lines: 

(i) items which had cost £80,000 and which would normally sell for 
£120,000 were found to have deteriorated. Remedial work costing 
£20,000 would be needed to enable the items to be sold for 
£90,000. 

(ii) some items sent to customers on sale or return terms had been 
omitted from inventories and included as sales in June 20X1. The 
cost of these items was £20,000 and they were included in sales at 
£30,000. In July 20X1, the items were returned in good condition by 
the customers. 

2 On 1 July 20X0, the land and buildings were revalued: land was valued 
at £12,000,000 and the buildings were valued at £9,000,000. At the date 
of the valuations, the buildings had a remaining estimated useful life of 
forty years. It is company policy to make the annual transfer within the 
statement of changes in equity for ‘excess depreciation’. 

3 Depreciation is to be charged on buildings and plant and equipment as 
follows: 

Buildings at a constant rate over the estimated useful life of the buildings 

Plant and equipment  15% per year on cost 

At the date of purchase, ten years ago, the buildings had an estimated 
useful life fifty years. 

60% of the total depreciation charge for the year is to be charged to cost 
of sales, and 20% each to distribution costs and administrative expenses 
respectively. 
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4  The taxation balance represents an overprovision in relation to the tax 
liability of the previous year. The corporation tax charge for the year 
ended 30 June 20X1 has been estimated at £700,000. 

5 Interest is payable on the 5% debenture on 31 March and 31 October 
annually. 

 Required: 

Produce a statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, a 
statement of changes in equity and statement of financial position for the 
year ended 30 June 20X1. 
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Statement of profit or loss for the year ended 30 June 20X1 
£000 

Revenue (£15,330 – £30) 15,300 
Cost of sales (W1) (9,087) 
 –––––– 
Gross profit 6,213 
Distribution costs (£1,540 + £429 (W2))  (1,969) 
Administrative expenses (£1,000 + £429 (W2)) (1,429) 
 –––––– 
Profit from operations 2,815 
Finance costs (6/12 × 5% × £4,000) (100) 
 –––––– 
Profit before tax 
Tax (£700 – £40 overprovision) 

2,715 
(660) 

 
Profit after tax 

–––––– 
2,055 

  
Other comprehensive income  
Gain on revaluation (£1,500 + £2,600 (W3)) 4,100 
 ––––– 
Total comprehensive income 6,155 
 ––––– 
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Statement of changes in equity 
 Share 

Capital 
Share 

premium 
account 

Revaluation 
surplus 

Retained 
earnings 

Total 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
As at 1 July 20X0 8,000 2,000 3,000 3,100 16,100 
Issue of shares 5,000 1,000   6,000 
Total comprehensive 
income for the year 

  4,100 2,055 6,155 

Excess dep’n transfer (W3)  (65) 65  
Dividend paid  

–––––– 
 

–––––– 
 

–––––– 
(520) 

–––––– 
(520) 

–––––– 
As at 30 June 20X1 13,000 

–––––– 
3,000 

–––––– 
7,035 

–––––– 
4,700 

–––––– 
27,735 
–––––– 

Workings: 

(W1) Cost of sales 
 £000 £000 
Opening inventory  1,890 
Purchases  7,780 
  9,670 
Less: Closing inventory   
At cost 1,860  
Less: Adjustment 1 (i) ((90,000 – 20,000) – 80,000) (10)  
Add: Adjustment 2 (ii) 20  
Closing inventory at 30 June 20X1  (1,870) 

–––––– 
7,800 

Depreciation (W2)  1,287 
––––– 
9,087 

––––– 
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(W2) Depreciation 
 £000 
Buildings (£9,000 × 1/40) 225 
Plant and equipment (£12,800 × 15%) 1,920 

––––– 
2,145 

––––– 
Allocated:  
Cost of sales (60% × £2,145) 1,287 
Distribution costs (20% × £2,145) 429 
Administrative expenses (20% × £2,145) 429 

––––– 
2,145 

––––– 

(W3) Impact of revaluation in year 

Revaluation surplus on land (£12,000,000 – £10,500,000) = £1,500,000  

Revaluation surplus on buildings (£9,000,000 – (£8,000,000 – £1,600,000)) 
= £2,600,000 . 

Increase in annual depreciation charge on buildings resulting from 
revaluation: 

revised charge (£9,000,000/40yrs) = £225,000 – original charge 
(£8,000,000/50yrs) £160,000 = £65,000 
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Statement of financial position for the year ended 30 June 20X1 

Non-current assets 
£000 

 
PPE (£12,000 + £8,775 + £8,400) (W1)) 29,175 

 
Current assets  
Inventory (per (W1) of SPL workings)  1,870 
Trade & other receivables (W2) 4,250 

–––––– 

Total assets 

Equity 

6,120 
–––––– 
35,295 
–––––– 

Share capital 
Share premium 
Revaluation surplus 
Retained earnings 

13,000 
3,000 
7,035 
4,700 

–––––– 
Total equity 27,735 
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Non-current liabilities 
5% Debenture 

 
4,000 

  
Current liabilities 
Trade & other payables (W3) 
Tax liability 
Bank overdraft 
 
Total current liabilities 

2,130 
700 
730 

–––––– 
3,560 

–––––– 
Total Equity & Liabilities  35,295 

 –––––– 

(W1) PPE 

 Land Buildings Plant 
 £000 £000 £000 
Asset valuation/cost b/fwd 10,500 8,000 12,800 
Accumulated dep’n b/fwd  (1,600) (2,480) 
 –––––– –––––– –––––– 
CA b’fwd 10,500 6,400 10,320 
Revaluation surplus in year 1,500 2,600  
 –––––– –––––– –––––– 
Revised CA at 1 July 20X0 12,000 9,000 10,320 
Depreciation charge  (225) (1,920) 
 –––––– –––––– –––––– 
Total 12,000 8,775 8,400 
 –––––– –––––– –––––– 
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(W2) Trade and other receivables  

 £000 
Trade receivables 4,280 
Revenue – sale or return adjust (30) 
Total 4,250 

(W3) Trade and other payables 

 £000 
Trade payables 2,080 
Interest accrual (£4,000 × 5% × 3/12) 50 
Total 2,130 



Company finance 

 

207 

 

  

Example 9 [M12, M30, E23]  
 

Sally’s Cup Cakes Ltd compiles its financial statements to 31 December each 
year. At 31 December 20X2, the company’s trial balance was as follows: 

 Dr Cr 
Sales revenue  39,600  
Purchases 16,560   
Inventory at 01/01/X2 2,780   
Distribution costs 2,160   
Admin expenses 2,920   
Land at valuation 21,000   
Buildings at cost 16,000   
Accumulated Depreciation  4,260  
Plant & equipment at cost 25,600   
Accumulated depreciation  4,960  
Trade receivables & trade payables 8,240  4,480  
Cash at bank 10,320   
Ordinary shares (nominal value £1)  28,000  
Share premium  8,000  
Revaluation surpluses  6,000  
Retained earnings  8,980  
10% Loan notes (redeemable 2018)  8,000  
Research & development 5,000   
Tax  1,000  
Lease payment 2,700   

 –––––– –––––– 
 113,280 113,280 
 –––––– –––––– 
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Further Information: 

1 Share issue 

During the year Sally’s Cup Cakes issued 4,000 shares for £1.50. The 
share issue has been accounted for in the trial balance. 

2 Loans 

Interest on the loan has not been included in the accounts. 

3 Revaluations 

Land is required to be revalued to £24,000. No change was required to the 
value of the building. 

4 Intangibles 

During the year £5,000 has been spent on researching recipes. On the 30 
June 20X2 it was decided that this project fulfilled all the criteria for 
development of which £3,000 relates to expenditure since then. 

5 Impairment  

It has just come to light that a piece of machinery has been impaired due to 
technological advances. The carrying amount of the asset is £6,250, the net 
realisable value is £5,520 and its value in use is £5,200. No adjustments 
have been made in the trial balance. 

6 Closing inventories 

Inventory at 31 December 20X2 amounted to £3,120 at cost. Items which 
had cost £900 have been damaged but after further expenditure of £200 
can be sold for £800. 
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7 Tax 

The tax in the trial balance relates to an overestimate of tax in the previous 
year. The tax for 20X2 has been estimated at £5,000. 

8 Leases 

Sally entered into a non-cancellable 5 year lease on 1 January 20X2 to 
acquire a motor vehicle for use in the business. The present value of lease 
payments at the start of the lease was £10,000 and the annual lease 
payment is £2,700 per year in arrears. The interest rate implicit in the lease 
is 10.29%. The vehicle has a useful life of 6 years and ownership of the 
asset will not transfer to Sally’s Cup Cakes Ltd at the end of the lease term. 
The only entry in the accounting system is the lease payment made to date 
of £2,700. Depreciation on the leased asset is to be charged as a 
distribution cost. 

9 Provisions 

During the financial year a customer became ill after eating one of the 
cupcakes and decided to sue the company. The solicitor has advised Sally 
that there is a 60% chance she will lose in court and believes that she will 
have to pay out £3,500. 

10  Events after the reporting date 

On 31 January 20X3 Sally was informed that one of its customers, Petty’s 
tea shop, had ceased trading. The liquidators advised Sally that it was very 
unlikely to receive payment of any of the £1,200 due from Petty’s at 31 
December 20X2.  
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11  Revenue 

Sally entered into a contract with a large supermarket chain to supply 
cupcakes on a regular basis. Sally has agreed a substantial discount on the 
following items: 

 Same quantity of cupcakes will be supplied each month 

 Quantities can only be changed at the end of each six month period 

 Payment must be made six months in advance 

The supermarket paid £5,000 on 1 October 20X2 for six months’ supply of 
cupcakes to 31 March 20X3 which has been recognised as revenue in the 
trial balance. 

Required: 

You are required to prepare a statement of profit or loss and a statement of 
changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 20X2, together with a 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 20X2 for Sally’s Cup 
Cakes Ltd. 
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Sally’s Cup Cakes Ltd 

Statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 20X2 

  £  
Continuing operations   
Revenue (£39,600 – £2,500) 37,100  
Cost of sales (W1) (19,250)  
 ––––––  
Gross profit 17,850  
Distribution costs (W2) (4,160)  
Administrative expenses (W3)  (4,120)  
 ––––––  
Profit from operations 9,570  
Provision (3,500)  
Finance costs (W4) (1,829)  
   ––––––  
Profit before tax 4,241  
Tax (£5,000 – £1,000) (4,000)  
 ––––––  
Profit for the period from continuing operations 241  
 ––––––  
Other comprehensive income for the year   
Gain on revaluation of land 3,000  

  –––––––  
Total comprehensive income for the year  3,241  

  –––––––  
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Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 20X2 

 
Share  
capital 

Share 
premium 

Revaluation 
surplus 

Retained 
earnings Total 

 £ £ £ £ £ 
At 31 Dec 20X1 24,000 6,000 6,000 8,980 44,980 
Revaluation   3,000  3,000 
Profit for year    241 241 
Share issue 4,000 2,000   6,000 
 ––––––– ––––––– ––––––– ––––––– ––––––– 
At 31 Dec 20X2 28,000 8,000 9,000 9,221 54,221 
 ––––––– ––––––– ––––––– ––––––– ––––––– 

Workings for statement of profit or loss: 

(W1) COS 

 £ 
Research 2,000 
Impairment 730 
Closing inventories (2,820) 
Purchases 16,560 
Opening inventories 2,780 
Total  19,250 

(W2) Distribution costs 

 £ 
Depreciation 2,000 
Distribution costs 2,160 
Total  4,160 
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(W3) Administrative expenses 

 £ 
Irrecoverable debt 1,200 
Administrative expense 2,920 
Total  4,120 

(W4) Finance costs 

 £ 
Loan 800 
 Lease interest 1,029 
Total 1,829 
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Sally’s Cup Cakes Ltd – Statement of financial position as at 31 December 
20X2 

£ 
ASSETS  
Non-current assets   
Property, plant and equipment (W5) 55,650 
Right of use asset (W7) 8,000 
Intangibles 3,000 
 ––––––– 
 66,650 
Current assets  
Inventories 2,820 
Trade and other receivables (W6) 7,040 
Cash and cash equivalents 10,320 
 ––––––– 
 20,180 
 ––––––– 
Total assets 86,830 

––––––– 
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EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  
Equity  
Share capital 28,000 
Share premium 8,000 
Revaluation surplus 9,000 
Retained earnings  9,221 
 ––––––– 
Total equity 54,221 
Non-current liabilities  
Loan 8,000 
Lease (W7) 6,486 
 ––––––– 
 14,486 
Current liabilities  
Trade and other payables (W8) 7,780 
Tax liability 5,000 
Provision 3,500 
Lease (W7) 1,843 
 ––––––– 
 18,123 
 ––––––– 
Total equity and liabilities 86,830 

––––––– 
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Workings for statement of financial position: 

(W5) PPE 

 £ 
Land 21,000 
Revaluation 3,000 
Buildings @ cost 16,000 
Accumulated depreciation (4,260) 
Plant and equipment @ cost 25,600 
Accumulated depreciation (4,960) 
Impairment of plant (730) 
Total 55,650 

(W6) Trade and other receivables 

 £ 
Irrecoverable debt (1,200) 
Trade receivables 8,240 
Total 7,040 
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(W7) Lease liability 

 B/fwd Int @ 
10.29% 

Payment C/fwd 

Year £ £ £ £ 
1 10,000 1,029 (2,700) 8,329 
2 8,329 857 (2,700) 6,486 

 

SPL £ SFP £ 
Finance Cost  1029 Right of use asset 

(10000 – 2000) 
8000 

Depreciation 2000 NCL 6486 
(10000/5)  CL (8329 – 6486) 1843 

(W8) Trade and other payables 

 £ 
Loan interest 800 
Trade payables 4,480 
Prepaid income 2,500 
Total 7,780 
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Adjustments: 

1 Share Issue 

Share issue is already included in the TB so just need to show share capital 
and share premium in the SOCIE. 

4,000 × £1.50 = 6,000 (nominal value = £1) 

Share capital  £4,000 

Share premium =  £2,000 

2 Loans 

£8,000 × 10% = £800 

Dr Finance costs £800 

Cr Accruals  £800 

3 Revaluations 

Land Bfwd £21,000 

Revaluation £24,000 

Gain  £3,000 

 

Dr Land £3,000 (also needs to show in SOCIE & OCI) 

Cr Revaluation surplus £3,000 
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4 Intangibles 

£2,000 of cost relates to research and therefore needs to be written off to 
SPL. However the remaining £3,000 relates to development costs and 
therefore it is required to be capitalised. 

Dr COS £2,000 

Dr Intangible assets £3,000 

Cr Research and development £5,000 

5 Impairment  

Carrying amount  Vs  Recoverable amount  
£6,250   Lower   £5,520 

         
        Higher  
        NRV          VIU 
               £5,520                 £5,200 

CA is greater than the RA so therefore the asset has been impaired by 
£730. 

Dr COS  £730 

Cr PPE £730 
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6 Closing inventories 

Lower of cost and  NRV 

£900 £800 – £200 = £600 

Inventories need to be reduced by £300 

£3,120 – £300 =  £2,820 

Dr SFP £2,820 

Cr COS £2,820 

7 Tax 

Over-estimate £(1,000) 

Current tax £5,000 

SPL tax charge £4,000 

SFP accrual £5,000 
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8 Leases 

Year Bfwd Int 10.29% Payment Cfwd 
 £ £ £ £ 
1    10,000 1,029 (2,700) 8,329 
2         8,329 857 (2,700) 6,486 

Asset recognition 

Dr Right of use asset £10,000 

Cr Lease liability £10,000 

Interest for Year 1 

Dr Finance cost   £1,029 

Cr Lease liability  £1,029 

Payment for Year 1 

Dr Lease liability £2,700 

Cr Lease payment (per TB)  £2,700  
(normally would be bank if not already accounted for in TB) 

Depreciation in Year 1 

Dr Distribution costs  £2,000 

Cr Accumulated depreciation  £2,000 

In summary 

SPL £ SFP £ 
Finance cost 1,029 Right of use asset (10,000 – 

2,000) 
8,000 

Depreciation 2,000 NCL 6,486 
(10,000 / 5 years)  CL (8,329 – 6,486) 1,843 
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9 Provisions 

Need to provide for a provision: 

1  Past event  legal obligation 

2  Probable 60% (>50% therefore probable) 

3  Reliable estimate Yes – solicitor 

Dr Provision SPL  £3,500 

Cr Provision SFP  £3,500 

10  Events after the reporting date 

Irrecoverable debts needs to be identified as this is an adjusting event as 
Petty’s tea shop’s balance existed at the year end. 

Dr Admin Expenses  £1,200 

Cr Trade receivables  £1,200 

11 Revenue 

We only recognise the revenue which relates to the financial year end 
20X2. 

October 20X2 – December 20X2 = 3 months 

Received payment for 6 months 

£5,000 × 3/6 = £2,500 

Dr Revenue  £2,500 

Cr Prepaid Income  £2,500 
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Debt 

 loan 

 finance cost 

Equity 

 ownership 

 

Ordinary 
shares 

 nominal    
value 

 share 
premium 

Preference 
shares 

 fixed    
dividends 

 

Irredeemable Redeemable 

Summary 
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We recommend the following additional questions for the topics covered in this 
chapter: 

Study Text (for teaching throughout the chapter and additional learning) 

 Chapter 12: TYU 1-6 

Practice Questions (for teaching throughout the chapter and additional learning) 

 Chapter 12: Company finance 

Exam Kit (for revision and additional learning) 

 Questions 1-9 

 

Additional tutor guidance 
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By the end of this session you should be able to:  

 explain the importance of ratio analysis 

 identify the correct formula for a ratio 

 calculate ratios when provided with relevant data 

 analyse and interpret ratios 

and answer questions relating to these areas. 

 

 

 

 
  

Chapter 13 
Interpretation of financial statements 
 

Outcome 

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviours  

Knowledge: Business Awareness, Accounting 

Skills: Analysis, Communication, Produces Quality and Accurate Information 

Behaviours: Adding Value, Professional Scepticism 
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Overview 

Interpretation of financial 
statements 

Ratios Profitability 

Liquidity Efficiency 

Financial 
position 
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Accounting ratios are a means of presenting information in a form which facilitates 
comparisons. For example, you have a choice to make: should you invest your life 
savings in Company A or Company B? This requires a comparison of the two 
companies. Simply comparing their profits is of limited use. 

 

 
  

  
Types of ratios: 

Profitability ratios measure how profitable a business is 

Liquidity ratios assess whether a business can meet its short-term 
obligations 

Efficiency ratios measure how well a business uses its assets and liabilities 

Financial position ratios assess the capital structure of the business. Capital 
structure refers to the extent that a business is funded by equity and/or debt. 

Interpretation 
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Return on capital employed: calculation 

Profit from operations  
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––– ×100 

Capital employed*  
*Capital employed = equity + non-current liabilities 

Return on capital employed assesses the efficiency with which the entity uses 
its funding it has received to produce profit.  

Return on capital employed: reasons for movement 

 Movement in operating profit margin 

 Movement in asset turnover (see section 4) 

 Combination of both 

Return on shareholders’ funds: calculation 
Profit after tax  

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––– ×100 
Total equity  

This looks at the return generated using the funds invested by the 
shareholders. 

Return on shareholders’ funds: reasons for movement 

 Movement in profit after tax 

 Additional investment by shareholders 

Profitability ratios 
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Gross profit percentage: calculation 

Gross profit  
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––– ×100 

Revenue  

This reflects the amount of revenue retained after costs of sales are deducted. 

Gross profit percentage: reasons for movement 

 Selling prices 

 Sales mix 

 Purchase cost 

 Production cost 

Expense/revenue percentage: calculation 
Specified expense  

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––– ×100 
Revenue  

The individual expense in relation to revenue, expressed as a percentage.   

Operating profit percentage: calculation 
Operating profit   

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––– ×100 
Revenue  

The operating profit in relation to revenue, expressed as a percentage. 

Operating profit percentage: reasons for movement 

 Gross profit 

 Expenses: administration/distribution 
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Example 1 [M5, M30]  
Extracts from the financial statements of Tipi Ltd are presented below for the 
year ended 30 September: 

Statement of profit or loss 20X9 20X8 
 £000 £000 
Revenue 13,500 12,000 
Cost of sales (9,850) (8,550) 
 ––––––– ––––––– 
Gross profit 3,650 3,450 
Distribution costs (750) (560) 
Administrative expenses  (400) (390) 
 ––––––– ––––––– 
Profit from operations 2,500 2,500 
Finance costs (300) (240) 
 ––––––– ––––––– 
Profit before tax 2,200 2,260 
Tax (450) (460) 
 ––––––– ––––––– 
Profit for the period 1,750 1,800 
 ––––––– ––––––– 
   
Statement of financial position   
Equity   
Share capital 5,000 5,000 
Retained earnings  
 

4,550 3,100 

Non-current liabilities   
Loans 5,500 4,000 

Required: 

Calculate profitability ratios for Tipi for 20X8 and 20X9 (to ONE decimal 
place). 
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 20X9 20X8 
Gross profit margin 
 
 
 
Operating profit margin 
 
 

27.0% 
(3,650 / 13,500) 

 
 

18.5% 
(2,500 / 13,500) 

28.8% 
(3,450 / 12,000) 

 
 

20.8% 
(2,500 / 12,000) 

 
Return on capital employed 
 

 
16.6% 

(2,500 / 5000 + 4,550 
+ 5,500) 

 
20.7% 

(2,500 / 5000 + 3,100 
+ 4,000) 

 
 

  

Return on shareholders’ 
funds 
 

18.3% 
(1,750 / 5000 + 4,550) 

22.2% 
(1,800 / 5,000 + 

3,100) 
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Current ratio: calculation 

Current assets 
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––– :1 

Current liabilities 

The current ratio measures the adequacy of current assets to meet liabilities 
as they fall due. 

Quick ratio or ‘acid test’ ratio: calculation 
Current assets – inventories 

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––– :1 
Current liabilities 

This ratio measures the adequacy of current assets (excluding inventory) to 
meet liabilities as they fall due.  

Current/quick ratio: reasons for movement 

 Increase/decrease in cash 

 Increase/decrease in inventory 

 Increase/decrease in receivables 

 Increase/decrease in payables 

Liquidity ratios 
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Example 2 [M5, M30]  
Extracts from the financial statements of Tipi Ltd are presented below: 

Statement of financial position   
Non-current assets   
Property, plant and equipment 
 

12,800 9,660 

Current assets   
Inventories 2,550 2,300 
Trade and other receivables  1,650 1,350 
Cash and cash equivalents  
 

100 
––––––– 

4,300 

450 
––––––– 

4,100 
 ––––––– ––––––– 
Total assets 17,100 

––––––– 
13,760 

––––––– 
 

Current liabilities   
Trade and other payables  
Taxation 

1,600 
450 

––––––– 
2,050 

1,200 
460 

––––––– 
1,660 

Required: 

Calculate the liquidity ratios for Tipi for 20X8 and 20X9 (to ONE decimal 
place) 
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 20X9 20X8 
Current ratio 
 
 
 
Quick ratio 
 
 

2.1 
4,300 / 2,050 

 
 

0.9 
(4,300 – 2,550) / 2,050 

2.5 
4, 100 / 1,660 

 
 

1.1 
(4,100 – 2,300) / 1,600 
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Inventory turnover: calculation 

Cost of sales 
–––––––––––––––––––– = X times 

Inventories 

This measures the number of times inventory is sold in a period. 

Higher turnover = higher efficiency 

Inventory holding period (days): calculation 
Inventories 

––––––––––––––––––––– × 365 days 
Cost of sales 

This measures the average number of days for which inventory is held.  

Lower days = higher efficiency 

Inventory ratios: reasons for movement 

 Improved/worse inventory control 

 Obsolete inventory 

 Increased levels of inventory  

Receivables collection period: calculation 
Trade receivables 

––––––––––––––––––––– × 365 days 
Revenue 

This ratio shows, on average, how long it takes to collect cash from 
receivables. 

Lower days = higher efficiency 

Efficiency ratios 
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Receivables collection period: reasons for movement 

 Improved/worse credit control 

 Irrecoverable debts 

 Increased credit terms to generate sales 

Payables payment period: calculation 
Trade payables 

––––––––––––––––––––– × 365 days 
Cost of sales 

This ratio shows, on average, the number of days it takes to pay credit 
suppliers.  

Higher days = greater benefit 

Payables payment period: reasons for movement 

 New credit arrangement 

 New supplier 

Working capital cycle (days):  

Inventory days + receivables days – payables days 

This represents the period of time between paying out cash for inventory and 
receiving the cash from receivables.  

A shorter working capital cycle indicates a higher level of efficiency. 
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Asset turnover (net assets): calculation 

Revenue 
––––––––––––––––––––– = X times 

Total assets – current liabilities 

This ratio measures management’s efficiency in generating revenue from the 
net assets at its disposal.  

Higher ratio = more efficient 

Asset turnover (non-current assets): 
Revenue 

––––––––––––––––––––– = X times 
Non-current assets 

This ratio is similar to the ratio above, but measures efficiency of non-current 
assets only. 

Asset turnover: reasons for movement 

 Increase/decrease in revenue 

 Increase/decrease in non-current assets 

 Increase/decrease in working capital (net assets only) 
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Example 3 [M5, M30]  
Extracts from the financial statements of Tipi Ltd are presented below: 

Statement of profit or loss 
 

20X9 20X8 

 £000 £000 
Revenue 13,500 12,000 
Cost of sales (9,850) (8,550) 
 ––––––– ––––––– 
Gross profit 3,650 3,450 
 ––––––– ––––––– 
Statement of financial position   
Non-current assets   
Property, plant and equipment 
 

12,800 9,660 

Current assets   
Inventories 2,550 2,300 
Trade and other receivables  1,650 1,350 
Cash and cash equivalents  
 

100 
––––––– 

4,300 

450 
––––––– 

4,100 
 ––––––– ––––––– 
Total assets 17,100 

––––––– 
13,760 

––––––– 
 

Current liabilities   
Trade and other payables  
Taxation 

1,600 
450 

––––––– 
2,050 

1,200 
460 

––––––– 
1,660 

Required: 

Calculate the efficiency ratios for Tipi for 20X8 and 20X9 (to ONE decimal 
place). 
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 20X9 20X8 
 
Inventory holding period 
 

 
94.5 days 

(2,550 / 9,850) × 365 

 
98.2 days 

(2,300 / 8,550) × 365 
Receivables collection period 

 

 
Payables payment period 

 

 
Asset turnover (net assets)  

 

44.6 days 
(1,650 / 13,500) × 365 

 
59.3 days 

(1,600 / 9,850) × 365 
 

0.9 times 
13,500 / (17,100 – 2,050) 

 

41.1 days 
(1,350 / 12,000) × 365 

 
51.2 days 

(1,200 / 8,550) × 365 
 

1.0 times 
12,000 / (13,760 – 1,600)
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Interest cover: 

Operating profit  
––––––––––––––––––––– = X times 

Finance costs 

This ratio indicates how many times interest costs could be paid from the 
current profit level.  

Used by lenders to assess risk of default 

Interest cover: reasons for movement 

 Change in operating profit 

 Change in interest payments or interest rates 

 Change in level of borrowing 

Gearing: 
Non-current liabilities 

––––––––––––––––––––– × 100 
Total debt + total equity 

Total debt = non-current liabilities 

This ratio measures how reliant the business is on borrowing as a source of 
finance.  

It is an important measure of risk. 

Gearing: reasons for movement 

 Increase/decrease in borrowings 

 Issue of new shares. 

Financial position ratios 
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Example 4 [M5, M30]  
Extracts from the financial statements of Tipi Ltd are presented below for the 
year ended 30 September: 

Statement of profit or loss 20X9 20X8 
 £000 £000 
Profit from operations 2,500 2,500 
Finance costs (300) (240) 
 ––––––– ––––––– 
Profit before tax 
Tax 

2,200 
(450) 

2,260 
(460) 

 ––––––– ––––––– 
Profit for the period 
 

1,750 
––––––– 

,800 
 ––––––– 

Statement of financial position   
Equity   
Share capital 5,000 5,000 
Retained earnings  
 

4,550 
––––––– 

9,550 

3,100 
––––––– 

8,100 
Non-current liabilities   
Loans 5,500 4,000 

Required: 

Calculate gearing and interest cover for Tipi for 20X8 and 20X9 (to ONE 
decimal place). 
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Foundation: TYU 2 

  

 

 
  

 20X9 20X8 
Gearing 
 
 
 
Interest cover 
 

36.5% 
5,500 / (9,550 + 5,500) 

 
8.3 

2,500 / 300 

33.1% 
4,000 / (8,100 + 4,000) 

 
10.4 

2,500 / 240 
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Points to consider: 

 You need two ratios calculated on a consistent basis to make a comparison. 

 One company can be compared over two time periods. 

 Budget or forecast results can be compared with actual results. 

 Financial performance and position of two companies can be compared. 

 Has financial performance or position improved or deteriorated? (e.g. from the 
earlier year to the later year, or which company has the better ratio?). 

 Try to consider why a specific ratio has improved or deteriorated. 

 Perhaps use the ratio formula to give you guidance – think about the top part 
(numerator) and bottom part (denominator) of the ratio separately – why may 
each figure have increased or decreased?  

 Does the task data give any clues? (e.g. does it tell you what has happened to 
the company or what it is doing? This may help to explain the ratios. 

 

 

Interpretation of ratios – points to  
consider 
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Example 5 [M5, M30, E23]  
Cherry Ltd makes and sells sandwiches to convenience stores. The 
statements of financial position as at 31 December 20X3 and 31 December 
20X2 are presented below: 

 20X3 20X2 
 £ £ 
Assets   
Non-current assets   
Property, plant and equipment 
 

382,000 279,000 

Current assets   
Inventories 135,000 60,000 
Trade and other receivables  140,000 109,000 
Cash and cash equivalents  2,000 75,000 
 ––––––– ––––––– 
Total assets 659,000 523,000 
 ––––––– ––––––– 
Equity and liabilities   
Equity   
Share capital 100,000 100,000 
Retained earnings  
 

159,000 213,000 

Non-current liabilities   
Loans 200,000 60,000 
Current liabilities   
Trade and other payables  
 

200,000 150,000 

 ––––––– ––––––– 
Total equity and liabilities 659,000 523,000 
 ––––––– ––––––– 



Interpretation of financial statements 

 

245 

 

Required: 

For both 20X3 and 20X2, calculate: 

 Gearing 

 The current ratio 

 The quick ratio 

Comment on whether these ratios have improved or deteriorated year on 
year, giving possible reasons. 

Gearing 

20X3 200,000
100,000 + 159,000 + 200,000  × 100% = 43.6% 

 

20X2 
60,000

100,000 + 213,000 + 60,000  × 100% = 16.1%  

Gearing has deteriorated year on year. 

More of Cherry Ltd’s funding now comes from loans. This makes it a riskier 
company because regular interest payments must be made.  

This increased risk may hinder Cherry Ltd’s ability to obtain funding in the 
future. 

Current ratio 

20X3 
135,000 + 140,000 +2,000

200,000   = 1.4: 1  

 

20X2 
60,000 + 109,000 + 75,000

150,000  = 1.6: 1  

The current ratio has deteriorated year on year. 

Cherry Ltd has more short-term liabilities in 20X3 compared to 20X2. 

There is a chance that Cherry Ltd’s inventory and receivables may not be 
converted into cash quickly enough to pay off those liabilities as they fall due. 
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Core: TYU 1, TYU 3 

 

 
  

Quick ratio 

20X3 
140,000 + 2,000

200,000   = 0.7: 1  

 

20X2 
109,000+75,000

150,000  = 1.2: 1  

The quick ratio has deteriorated year on year.  

This is largely due to lower levels of cash. It may be that the company has 
over-spent on inventory. This is a problem in the food industry because fresh 
produce may perish. 

The ratio has also deteriorated due to higher levels of payables. It may be that 
Cherry Ltd is delaying payments because of a lack of cash. 

As it stands, the company does not have enough liquid assets (assets readily 
convertible into cash) to meet its short term liabilities as they fall due. 
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Example 6 [M5, M30, E23, E25, E27]  
Julie Broom has recently inherited a substantial sum of money and is looking 
to invest in some shares in a company.  

She has identified Nevada Ltd as a potential investment and has asked for 
your help in analysing Nevada to determine whether this investment is a good 
idea. 

Julie has provided you with Nevada’s most recent financial statements and you 
have calculated the following ratios. You have also obtained industry averages 
for each ratio for comparative purposes.  

 Nevada Ltd Industry 
average 

Return on capital employed 16.8% 12.1% 
Current ratio 1.2 : 1 1.6 : 1 
Inventory holding period 80 days 53 days 
Gearing 38% 30% 

Required: 

(a) Assess whether Nevada Ltd has performed better or worse 
compared to the industry average in respect of EACH ratio. You 
should comment on what this may tell you about the company.  

(b) Provide Julie with a recommendation, with reasons, as to whether 
she should buy shares in the company. You should base your 
recommendation on your analysis of the ratios in (a) above.  
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(a)  Ratios 

Return on capital employed 

Return on capital employed is better. This means the company is using the 
capital more efficiently in terms of generating profits. 

This could be due to higher gross profits or lower operating costs, or possibly 
both.  

It could also be due to lower equity. This would be consistent with the higher 
level of gearing.  

Current ratio 

The current ratio is worse, which means the company cannot cover its current 
liabilities with its current assets as many times as the industry.  

This may be due to lower levels of current assets or higher levels of current 
liabilities.  

This suggests the company is less liquid.  

The inventory holding period indicates a higher level of inventory, which means 
the liquidity of the company may be even worse than indicated by the ratio.  

Inventory holding period 

The inventory holding period is worse, which means inventories are taking 
longer to sell.  

This may be due to poor inventory management and may indicate a higher risk 
of inventory obsolescence.  

It also means cash is tied up in inventory, which reduces the resources 
available to pay suppliers and could cause liquidity problems in the future.  

Nevada could also be stockpiling inventory to meet future orders. 
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Core: TYU 4, TYU 5 and TYU 8 
Extension: TYU 6 and TYU 7 

 
  

Gearing 

Gearing is worse than the industry, which means the company is more risky. 

This could be due to a higher level of debt or a lower level of equity.  

It may be more difficult for the company to raise finance in the future as a 
result.  

There may also be borrowings that need to be repaid in the near future, which 
may cause concern if the company is not in a position to repay them.  

(b)  Recommendation 

The advice is not to buy shares in this company.  

Whilst the return on capital employed is better, there are some concerns 
around liquidity given the lower current ratio and higher level of inventory days.  

The level of gearing is also higher which makes the company more risky and 
there may be concerns about the company being able to repay any borrowings 
in the future.  
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Summary 

Interpretation of financial 
statements 

Ratios Profitability 

  ROCE 

  return on 
shareholders’ 
funds 

  gross profit % 

  revenue % 

  operating profit % 

Liquidity 

  current ratio 

  quick ratio 

 

 

Efficiency 

  inventory 

  receivables 

 payables 

 working capital 

  asset turnover 

Financial position 

  interest cover 

  gearing 
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We recommend the following additional questions for the topics covered in this 
chapter: 

Study Text (for teaching throughout the chapter and additional learning) 

 Chapter 13: TYU 1he8 

Practice Questions (for teaching throughout the chapter and additional learning) 

 Chapter 13: Interpretation of financial statements 

Exam Kit (for revision and additional learning) 

 Questions 66-68 
 

  

Additional tutor guidance 
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By the end of this session you should be able to:  

 describe the key components and purpose of the statement of cash flows as 
presented in IAS 7 

 identify international financial reporting standards relevant to cash flow reporting 
in the financial statements 

 accurately draft a statement of cash flows in accordance with IAS 7 

and answer questions relating to these areas. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

Chapter 14 
Statement of cash flows 

Outcome 

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviours: 
 
Knowledge:  Business Awareness, Ethical Standards, Regulation and 
Compliance. 
 
Skills:  Analysis, Communication, Produces quality and accurate information 
 
Behaviours:  Adding Value, Ethics and Integrity, Professional Scepticism 
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Statement of cash flows 

IAS 7 

Changes in cash and 
cash equivalents 

Overview 

Reconciliation of profit 
to net cash flow from 
operating activities 

The statement of cash 
flows 

Interpretation of a 
statement of cash flows 
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Objective of the Statement of cash flows 

The objective of IAS 7 Statement of cash flows is: 

 To ensure that all entities provide information on whether their cash and cash 
equivalents have increased or decreased during the financial period 

 To classify cash flows (i.e. inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents) 
during the financial period between those arising from operating, investing and 
financial activities. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

IAS 7 Statement of cash flows 

Cash and cash equivalents – cash in hand / in the bank and current 
asset investments less overdraft repayable on demand. 

Operating activities are the main revenue-generating activities of 
the entity. 

Investing activities are the acquisitions and disposals of long-term 
assets and other investments. 

Financing activities are activities that alter the equity and long-term 
borrowing of the entity. 



Chapter 14 

 

256 

 

 

Example 1  
 
Extract: Statement of financial position as at 30 September 
 20X1 20X0 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 
ASSETS 
Current assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 7,000 9,400 
 ––––––– ––––––– 

Required: 

Identify whether or not the cash and cash equivalents have increased or 
decreased and by how much? 

20X0 9,400 

20X1 7,000 

Decrease in C & CE (2,800) 
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This is the starting point for when you start to prepare the statement of cash flows. 
Cash flows from operating activities includes how much cash has been generated 
from day-to-day trading activities (this is called ‘Cash generated from operations’) 
and the cash transferred to pay interest and tax. There are two methods of 
calculating cash generated from operations: 

 indirect method 
 direct method. 

 

 

Indirect method 

 

Cash generated from operations (indirect method): 
 £ 
Profit from operations * X 
Adjustments for:  
    Depreciation X 
    (Gain)/loss on disposal of PPE (X)/X 
 –––– 
    X 
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (X)/X 
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (X)/X 
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables X/(X) 
 –––– 
Cash generated from operations X 

The reconciliation of profit to net cash 
flow from operating activities 

For the purpose of this unit, learners will only be required to report cash 
generated from operations using the indirect method.  Although you do 
need to be aware, there are two possible methods of presentation. 
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Adjustments required to cash generated from operations using the indirect 
method 

 Depreciation:  non-cash item – needs to be added back to profit. 

 Gain or loss on disposal:  non-cash item – gains need to be deducted from the 
profit, losses need to be added back to profit. 

 Working capital movement – entities buy and sell goods on credit.  The credit 
element needs to be removed from the profit as it does not represent a cash 
flow. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

* In the exam, instead of starting with profit from operations you 
may be required to begin with profit before tax.  If this is the case, 
two additional adjustments are required: 
 Finance costs – needs to added back to the reconciliation 

 Investment income – needs to be deducted from the 
reconciliation. 
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Example 2  
The draft statement of profit or loss and extract statement of financial position 
of SBR Ltd are set out below. 
Statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 20X1 
 £000 
Revenue 120,000 
Cost of sales (62,200) 
 –––––– 
Gross profit 57,800 
Distribution costs (2,000) 
Administrative expenses (3,800) 
 –––––– 
Profit from operations 52,000 
Dividends received 500 
Finance costs (1,000) 
 –––––– 
Profit before taxation 51,500 
Tax (2,000) 
 –––––– 
Profit for the financial year 49,500 
 –––––– 
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Extract: Statement of financial position as at 31 December 
 20X1 20X0 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 
ASSETS 
Current assets 
Inventories 80,000 76,000 
Trade receivables 54,000 53,000 
Current liabilities 
Trade payables 44,000  43,800 
Additional information: 
 A non-current asset that originally cost £200m with accumulated 

depreciation of £101m was sold in the year for a profit of £200,000. 
 The total depreciation charge for the year was £34m. 
 All sales and purchases were on credit. Other expenses were paid for in 

cash. 
Required: 
Calculate the cash generated from operations for SBR Ltd for 31 
December 20X1 

Cash flow from operating activities (indirect method): 
 £000 
Profit before tax 51,500 
Adjustments for:  
    Depreciation 34,000 
    (Gain)/loss on disposal of PPE (200) 
     Finance costs 1,000 
     Dividends received (500) 
 –––– 
    85,800 
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (4,000) 
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (1,000) 
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables 200 
 –––– 
Cash generated from operations 81,000 
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Direct method 

This method provides more detailed information, and is based upon cash flow 
information extracted directly from the accounting records. 

 

 

Cash generated from operations (direct method): 
 £ 
Cash receipts from customers X 
Cash payments to suppliers (X) 
Cash payments to employees (X) 
Cash payments to expenses (X) 
 –––– 
Cash generated from operations X 
 –––– 



Chapter 14 

 

262 

To calculate the final part of the net cash flow from operating activities, you need to 
deduct the following items: 

 Interest paid 
 Tax paid. 
 

 
 

A ledger account working may be useful to calculate these cash flows: 

Tax/Interest liability 
 £000  £000 
Cash paid (balancing figure) X Balance b/d X 
Balance c/d X Statement of profit or loss X 
 ––  –– 
Total  X Total  X 
 ––  –– 

 

 

  

Both these figures need to reflect the actual cash paid out of the bank 
account.  This is not necessarily the figure shown in the statement of 
profit or loss. 
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Example 3  
Extract: Statement of financial position as at 31 December 20X1 
 20X1 20X0 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Current liabilities 
Taxation 88,000  87,600 
 
Extract: Statement of profit or loss for the year ending 31 December 20X1 
 £000 
Tax (2,000) 
 
Required: 
 
Calculate the tax paid that will be shown in the cash flows from operating activities:

Tax liability 
  £00000      £00000 
Cash paid 1,600 Balance b/d 87,600 
Balance c/d 88,000 Statement of profit or loss 2,000 
 ––––  –––– 
Total  89,600 Total  89,600 
 ––––  –––– 
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Statement of cash flows for the year ended XX/XX/XXXX  

 £ £ 
   

Net cash flow from operating activities  X/(X) 
   
Cash flows from investing activities   
Purchases of PPE (X)  
Proceeds from sale of PPE X  
Interest received X  
Dividends received X  
 ––––  
Net cash from investing activities  X/(X) 
   
Cash flows from financing activities   
Proceeds from issue of shares X  
Proceeds from long term borrowing X  
Dividends paid (X)  
 ––––  
Net cash from financing activities  X/(X) 
  –––– 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  X/(X) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  X 
  –––– 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  X 
  –––– 

The statement of cash flows 
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Cash flows from investing activities 

This section deals with payments for the purchase and the proceeds on disposals of 
non-current assets. 

 
 

 

A ledger account working may be useful to calculate the purchase of PPE.  

PPE 
 £000  £000 
Balance b/d X Depreciation charge X 
Revaluation surplus X CA of disposal X 
New PPE (balancing figure) X Balance c/d X 
 –––  ––– 
Total  X Total  X 
 –––  ––– 

 

 

 

In the exam, you will only have part of the information.  Using the 
incomplete method approach, you can calculate the missing 
figures. 
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Example 4  
Extract: Statement of financial position as at 31 December 20X1 
 20X1 20X0 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 
ASSETS 
Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 328,000 251,000 
 
Additional information: 
 A non-current asset that originally cost £200m with accumulated 

depreciation of £101m was sold in the year for a profit of £200,000. 
 The total depreciation charge for the year was £34m. 
Required: 
Calculate the purchase of PPE that will be shown in the cash flows from investing
activities 

PPE 
 £000  £0000 

Balance b/d 251,000 Depreciation charge 34,000 
Revaluation surplus – CA of disposal 99,000 
Purchase of PPE 210,000 Balance c/d 328,000 
 –––––  ––––– 
Total  461,000 Total  461,000 
 –––––  ––––– 
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Cash flows from financing activities 

This section includes the proceeds from the issue of shares, along with the receipt or 
repayment of loans during the year.  Dividends paid are also classified as financing 
activities. 

 

Example 5  
Extract: Statement of financial position as at 31 December 20X1 
 20X1 20X0 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
Called up share capital 200,000 180,000 
Share premium 80,000 60,000 
Non-current liabilities 
Loan 27,000 24,000 
 

Required: 

Calculate the proceeds from the share issue and the movement on the 
loan. 
 

Share capital and share premium 
 £000  £0000 

  Share capital b/d 180,000 
Share capital c/d  200,000 Share premium b/d 60,000 
Share premium c/d 80,000 Cash from new share 

issue 
40,000 

 –––––  ––––– 
Total  280,000 Total  280,000 
 –––––  ––––– 

 
Loan 

 £000  £0000 
  Balance b/d 24,000 
Balance c/d 27,000 Cash from new loan 

finance 
3,000 

 –––––  ––––– 
Total  27,000 Total  27,000 
 –––––  ––––– 
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Example 6  
You have been asked to assist in the preparation of financial statements for 
Batty Ltd for the year ended 30 September 20X9. 
The draft statement of profit or loss and statement of financial position of Batty 
Ltd are set out below. 
Statement of profit or loss for the year ended 30 September 20X9 
 £000 
Revenue 60,000 
Cost of sales (31,100) 
 –––––– 
Gross profit 28,900 
Distribution costs (1,000) 
Administrative expenses (1,900) 
 –––––– 
Profit from operations 26,000 
Finance costs (500) 
 –––––– 
Profit before taxation 25,500 
Tax (1,000) 
 –––––– 
Profit for the financial year 24,500 
 –––––– 
Statement of financial position as at 30 September 
 20X9 20X8 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 
ASSETS 
Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 164,000 125,500 
Investment  5,000 – 
Current assets 
Inventories 40,000 38,000 
Trade receivables 27,000 26,500 
Cash and cash equivalents 3,500 4,700 
 ––––––– ––––––– 
  70,500  69,200 
  ––––––– ––––––– 
Total assets  239,500 194,700 

  ––––––– ––––––– 
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EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
Called up share capital 100,000 90,000 
Share premium 40,000 30,000 
Retained earnings 63,000 40,000 
 ––––––– ––––––– 
 203,000 160,000 
Non-current liabilities 
Loan 13,500 12,000 
Current liabilities 
Trade payables 22,000  21,900 
Taxation 1,000 800 
 ––––––– ––––––– 
 23,000 22,700 
 ––––––– ––––––– 
Total equity and liabilities 239,500 194,700 
 ––––––– ––––––– 
Notes: 

You have been given the following information: 

 A non-current asset that originally cost £100m with accumulated 
depreciation of £50.5m was sold in the year for a profit of £100,000. 

 The total depreciation charge for the year was £17m. 

 All sales and purchases were on credit. Other expenses were paid for in 
cash. 

 Dividends of £1.5m were declared and paid during the year. 

Required: 

Produce a reconciliation of profit from operations to net cash flow from 
operating activities and a statement of cash flows for Batty Ltd for the 
year ended 30 September 20X9. 
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Batty Ltd 

Reconciliation of profit before tax to net cash flow from operating 
activities 

 £000 
Profit before tax 25,500 
Adjustments for non-cash items:  
Depreciation charge 17,000 
Profit on disposal of PPE (100) 
Finance costs 500 
 ––––––– 
 42,900 
Increase in inventories (2,000) 
Increase in receivables (500) 
Increase in payables 100 
 ––––––– 
Cash from operations 40,500 
Interest paid (500) 
Tax paid (W1) (800) 
 ––––––– 
Net cash from operating activities 39,200 

 ––––––– 
 

 

  
  

W1 

Tax liability 
 £000  £000 
    
Cash paid 800 Balance b/d 800 
Balance c/d  1,000 Statement of profit or loss 1,000 
 ––––––  –––––– 
 1,800  1,800 
 ––––––  –––––– 
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Batty Ltd 

Statement of cash flows for the year ending 30 September 20X9 
 £000 
Net cash from operating activities 39,200 
  
Cash flows from investing activities  
Purchases of PPE (W2) (105,000) 
Proceeds from sale of PPE (W3) 49,600 
Purchases of investments (5,000) 
 –––––––– 

Net cash from investing activities (60,400) 
 –––––––– 

Cash flows from financing activities  
Loan (12,000 - 13,500) 1,500 
Share issue (120,000 - 140,000) 20,000 
Dividends paid (1,500) 
 –––––––– 

Net cash from financing activities 20,000 
 –––––––– 
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (1,200) 
Cash/cash equivalents at beginning of year 4,700 
 –––––––– 
Cash/cash equivalents at the end of year 3,500 
 –––––––– 
W2 

CA of PPE 
 £000  £000 
Balance b/d 125,500 Depreciation charge 17,000 
Revaluation surplus – CA of disposal 49,500 
Purchase of PPE 105,000 Balance c/d 164,000 
 –––––––  ––––––– 
 230,500  230,500 
 –––––––  ––––––– 

W3 

CA of disposal + profit on disposal = Disposal proceeds 

49,500 + 100 = 49,600 
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Example 7 – Exam style question  
You have been asked to prepare the statement of cash flows and statement of 
changes in equity for Pidsea Ltd for the year ended 31 December 20X1. 

The most recent statement of profit or loss and statement of financial position 
(with comparatives for the previous year) for Pidsea Ltd can be found below. 

Pidsea Ltd – Statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 
20X1 
 £000 
Continuing operations  
Revenue 480,720 
Cost of sales (339,876) 
 –––––– 
Gross profit 140,874 
Profit on disposal of PPE 417 
 –––––– 
 141,261 
Distribution costs (26,025) 
Administrative expenses (56,436) 
 –––––– 
Profit from operations 58,800 
Finance costs (9,600) 
 –––––– 
Profit before tax 49,200 
Tax (10,638) 
 –––––– 
Profit for the period from continuing operations 38,562 
Other comprehensive income 21,000 
 –––––– 
Total comprehensive income 59,562 
 –––––– 
 Further information 

 The total depreciation charge for the year was £14,976,000. 
 Property, plant and equipment with a carrying amount of £1,629,000 was 

sold in the year. 
 Land was revalued upwards during the year by £21,000,000. 
 All sales and purchases were on credit. 
 A dividend of £12,000,000 was paid during the year. 
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Pidsea Ltd – Statement of financial position as at 31 December 20X1 
 20X1 20X0 
 £000 £000 
ASSETS   
Non-current assets   
Property, plant and equipment 233,208 95,886 
 ––––––– ––––––– 
Current assets   
Inventories 68,196 55,824 
Trade receivables 54,753 45,486 
Cash and cash equivalents – 1,116 
 ––––––– ––––––– 
 122,949 102,426 
 ––––––– ––––––– 
Total assets 356,157 198,312 
 ––––––– ––––––– 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   
Equity   
Share capital 90,000 60,000 
Share premium 28,020 18,810 
Revaluation surplus 21,000 – 
Retained earnings 42,756 16,194 
 ––––––– ––––––– 
Total equity 181,776 95,004 
 ––––––– ––––––– 
Non-current liabilities   
Bank loans 120,000 54,000 
 ––––––– ––––––– 
Current liabilities   
Trade payables 44,136 36,948 
Tax liabilities 9,810 12,360 
Bank overdraft 435 – 
 ––––––– ––––––– 
 54,381 49,308 
 ––––––– ––––––– 
Total liabilities 174,381 103,308 
 ––––––– ––––––– 
Total equity and liabilities 356,157 198,312 
 ––––––– ––––––– 
(a) Draft a reconciliation of profit before tax to net cash from operating 

activities for Pidsea Ltd for the year ended 31 December 20X1. 
(b) Draft the statement of cash flows for Pidsea Ltd for the year ended 31 

December 20X1. 
(c) Draft the statement of changes in equity for Pidsea Ltd for the year 

ended 31 December 20X1. 
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Pidsea Ltd 

Reconciliation of profit before tax to net cash flow from operating 
activities 
 £000 
Profit before tax 49,200 
Adjustments for:  

Finance costs 9,600 
Profit on disposal of PPE (417) 
Deprecation 14,976 
Adjustment in respect of inventories (12,372) 
Adjustment in respect of trade receivables (9,267) 
Adjustment in respect of trade payables 7,188 
 ––––––– 

Cash generated by operations 58,908 
Interest paid (9,600) 
Tax paid (13,188)  ––––––– 

Net cash from operating activities 36,120  ––––––– 
Pidsea Ltd 

Statement of cash flows for the year ending 31 December 20X1 
 £000 
Net cash from operating activities 36,120 
Investing activities  
Purchases of PPE (132,927) 
Proceeds on disposal of PPE 2,046 
 ––––––– 
Net cash from investing activities (130,881) 
Financing activities  
Proceeds of share issue 39,210 
Bank loan 66,000 
Dividends paid (12,000) 
 ––––––– 
Net cash from financing activities 93,210 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents 

(1,551) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of  year 1,116 
 ––––––– 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (435) 
 ––––––– 
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Workings 

Proceeds on disposal of PPE £000 
Carrying amount of PPE sold 1,629 
Profit on disposal of PPE 417 
 ––––––– 
Total disposal proceeds 2,046 
 ––––––– 

  
Purchase of PPE £000 
PPE at start of year 95,886 
Revaluation 21,000 
Depreciation charge (14,976) 
Carrying amount of PPE sold (1,629) 
PPE at end of year (233,208) 
 ––––––– 
Total PPE additions 132,927 
 ––––––– 
Pidsea Ltd – Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 
December 20X1 

 
Share 
capital 
£000 

Share 
premium  

£000 

Revaluation 
surplus 

£000 

Retained 
earnings 

£000 

Total 
equity 

£000 
Balance at 1 January 
20X1 60,000 18,810 – 16,194 95,004 

Changes in equity      
Total comprehensive 
income   21,000 38,562 59,562 

Dividends    (12,000) (12,000) 

Issue of share capital 30,000 9,210   39,210 
Balance at 31 
December 20X1 90,000 28,020 21,000 42,756 181,776 
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The best approach to take when interpreting a statement of cash flows is to work 
through each of the headings within it. 

Net cash from operating activities 

Compare and contrast the net cash inflow with the profit from operations for the year. 

From this, you will have to explain why there is a difference between profit and cash: 

 Non-cash items being removed 

 Working capital – how much cash is tied up in inventories, receivables and 
payables. 

Investing activities 

Purchase of PPE 
Has there been a large investment in PPE during the period? 
Normally this is perceived as a good thing as it shows the entity is planning for the 
future.  You must establish how this investment has been financed: 

 Share issue – healthy sign as investors are willing to invest. 

 Loans – healthy sign as lenders have a strict criteria and don’t lend money 
readily.  This will also increase the interest being paid. 

 Overdraft – bad sign as this is classified as short term finance and can be an 
expensive form of borrowing. 

Sale of PPE 

Make sure that the sale of the non-current asset is not a desperate measure to 
increase cash reserves or to help cash flows.  If assets have been sold to reinvest in 
other non-current assets then this is ok as it indicates that the entity is purely 
updating. 

Financing activities 

Share issue 

A share issue is generally a good sign in that new/existing shareholders are willing to 
invest in the entity.  This could result in long-term profitability and access to future 
dividends. 

Interpretation of a statement of cash 
flows 
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Long-term borrowing 

Need to establish whether this has increased or decreased: 

 Increase – you need to look at whether the increase alone has created a 
positive cash flow.  If it has, this means that the entity may be becoming more 
reliant on debt as a form of finance. 

 Decrease – shows that the entity has been able to pay off the long-term debt, 
however, what is its overall cash position like? 

Dividends 

Is there sufficient cash available to pay dividends? 

 Ensure the reason for the large dividend payment is not purely to keep the 
shareholders happy. 

 An indication of this is whether the dividend payment has caused a decrease in 
cash. 

Remember, the company has a choice as to whether or not they pay dividends or 
not. 

  In your exam, you will be given an extract of the statement of cash 
flows alongside some accounting ratios (chapter 13) to comment on 
the performance of the entity. 
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Summary 

Statement of cash flows 

IAS 7 

Reconciliation of profit 
to net cash flow from 
operating activities 

Statement of cash 
flows 

• Indirect method 
• Adjustments 

− Non-cash items 
− Working capital 
− Finance & tax paid 

• Investing activities 
− Purchase of PPE 
− Disposal of PPE 
− Investment income 

• Financing activities 
− Share issue 
− Loans 
− Dividends paid 

• Changes in cash and 
cash equivalents 

Interpretation of a statement of cash flows 
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atement of cash flows 

 

We recommend the following additional questions for the topics covered in this 
chapter: 

Study Text (for teaching throughout the chapter and additional learning) 

 Chapter 14: TYU 1-6 

Practice Questions (for teaching throughout the chapter and additional learning) 

 Chapter 14: Statement of cash flows 

Exam Kit (for revision and additional learning) 

 Questions 5 and 6 

 
  

Additional tutor guidance 
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By the end of this session you should be able to:  

 explain what is meant by a group 

 explain what is meant by a parent and a subsidiary 

 understand the concept of control of another company 

and answer questions relating to these areas. 

  

Outcome 

Chapter 15 
Group accounts: basic principles 

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviours  

Knowledge: Accounting, Business Awareness, Regulation and Compliance 

Skills: Analysis, Communication, Produces Quality and Accurate Information 

Behaviours: Adding Value  
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Individual company accounts 

When one company (P Ltd) buys shares in another company (S Ltd). P Ltd will 
record the following in their accounts: 

Dr Investment X 

Cr Cash  X 

There is no impact on S Ltd’s books. The transaction is between P Ltd and the 
owners of S Ltd. 

Owning more than 50% of the ordinary shares of S Ltd will typically give P Ltd 
‘control’ of S Ltd. 

P Ltd (the parent company, P) will be able to use its voting power to appoint all or the 
majority of the directors of S Ltd (the subsidiary company, S).  

This means S Ltd will be managed as though it were a department of P, rather than a 
separate entity.  

In strict legal terms, P and S remain distinct, but in economic substance they can be 
regarded as a single unit (a ‘group). 

 

 
  

  
IFRS 10 defines the following: 

Parent – A parent entity is ‘an entity that controls one or more entities.’ [IFRS 
10, Appendix A]. 

Subsidiary – A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by another entity. 

The concept of consolidated accounts 
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Group accounts 

Group accounts (or consolidated accounts) need to be prepared, which will include: 

 consolidated statement of financial position 

 consolidated statement of profit or loss 

 consolidated statement of changes in equity (not examinable) 

 consolidated statement of cash flows (not examinable) 

 notes to the consolidated accounts (not examinable) 

The purpose of consolidated accounts is to: 

 present financial information about a parent undertaking and its subsidiary 
undertakings as a single economic unit 

 to show the economic resources controlled by the group 

 to show the obligations of the group and 

 to show the results the group achieves with its resources. 
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Single economic entity (the Group) 

The key principle underlying group accounts is the need to reflect the economic 
substance of the relationship. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P is an individual legal entity 

S is an individual legal entity 

P controls S and therefore they form a single economic entity – the Group. 

The objective of the consolidated financial statements is to show the position of the 
group as if it were a single economic entity, therefore: 

 100% of the assets and liabilities of P and S are included in the consolidated 
statement of financial position 

 100% of the income and expenses of P and S are included in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P 

 

 
 

 

S 

> 50% 
Controls Group 
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Control  

Elements required demonstrate the exercise of control: [IFRS 10, para 7] 

 Power over the investee (subsidiary) 

 Exposure or rights to receive variable returns (i.e. equity dividends) 

 The ability to use power to influence variable returns 

Normally demonstrated by owning more than 50% of the equity share capital of the 
subsidiary. 

 

Example 1 [M5, E23]  
Ennis Ltd acquired 60,000 of the ordinary shares of Joly Ltd on 1 December 
20X1. On the same date, Ennis Ltd also acquired 45,000 of the ordinary 
shares of Lockwood Ltd.  

Below is an extract from the statement of financial position for both Joly Ltd 
and Lockwood on 1 December 20X1: 

 Joly Ltd Lockwood Ltd 
 £000 £000 
Equity and reserves   
Share capital (£1 shares) 80 120 
Share premium 10 – 
Retained earnings 210 302 
 –––– –––– 

Required: 

Explain whether or not the investments in Joly Ltd and Lockwood Ltd 
should be treated as subsidiaries in the consolidated financial 
statements for year ended 31 December 20X1.  

Joly Ltd – this investment should be treated as a subsidiary in the consolidated 
financial statements. Ennis Ltd has acquired 75% (60,000/80,000) of the share 
capital of Joly Ltd, which results in Ennis Ltd having control over the company. 

Lockwood Ltd – this investment should not be treated as a subsidiary. Ennis 
only acquired 38% (45,000/120,000), which means they do not have control 
over Lockwood Ltd.  
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The mechanics of consolidation require that 100% of the subsidiary’s assets and 
liabilities are added to the parent’s. This is performed regardless of the parent’s 
actual shareholding.  

An amount is then calculated and disclosed within equity showing the non-controlling 
interest’s holding in the subsidiary company. 

 

  
IFRS 3 defines the following: 

Non-controlling interest – represents the equity interest in a subsidiary not 
attributable to the controlling interest (i.e. parent) 

Non-controlling interest 
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Example 2 [M5]  
On 30 June 20X3, Prince Ltd acquired 40,000 of the ordinary shares of 
Sherwood Ltd.   

Below is an extract from the statement of financial position for Sherwood Ltd at 
30 June 20X3: 

 Sherwood Ltd 
 £000 
Equity and reserves  
Share capital (£1 shares) 50 
Share premium 15 
Retained earnings 155 
 –––– 
 220 
 –––– 

Required: 

Calculate the non-controlling interest % for Sherwood Ltd and the value 
of the non-controlling interest’s share of the net assets of Sherwood Ltd 
at 30 June 20X3.  

NCI owns 10,000 shares 

10,000/50,000 = 20% 

Share of net assets = 20% × £220,000 = £44,000 
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We recommend the following additional questions for the topics covered in this 
chapter: 

Practice Questions (for teaching throughout the chapter and additional 
learning) 

 Chapter 15: Group accounts: consolidated statement of financial position 

Additional tutor guidance 
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By the end of this session you should be able to:  

 describe the key components of a consolidated statement of financial position 

 explain the basic consolidation process for a parent and subsidiary in relation to 
the preparation of a consolidated statement of financial position 

 draft a consolidated statement of financial position 

and answer questions relating to these areas. 

  

Outcome 

Chapter 16 
Group accounts: consolidated statement 
of financial position 

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviours  

Knowledge: Accounting, Business Awareness, Regulation and Compliance 

Skills: Analysis, Communication, Produces Quality and Accurate Information 

Behaviours: Adding Value  
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The basic consolidation process for the statement of financial position is 
as follows: 

1  The assets and liabilities of the parent and the subsidiary are added 
together in full on a line-by-line basis. 

2  The investment shown in the parent's financial statements is cancelled 
against the addition of the subsidiary’s assets and liabilities at the date of 
acquisition. 

3 A goodwill asset is calculated and included within non-current assets. 

4 The net assets of the subsidiary attributable to non-controlling interests 
are calculated and shown within equity. 

5  The group share of the subsidiary's post-acquisition profits is calculated 
and added to group retained earnings within equity. 

 

 
  

The basics of consolidation 
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Consolidated statement of financial position for XYZ Ltd as at  
31 December 20X8 
 £ 
Goodwill  X 
Assets (100% P + 100% S + fair value adjustments) X 
 ––– 
Total assets X 
 ––– 
Equity  
Share capital (P only) X 
Retained earnings (100% P + P % S post-acquisition)  
 X 
Non-controlling interest (NCI) X 
 ––– 
 X 
Liabilities (100% P + 100% S) X 
 ––– 
Equity and liabilities X 
 ––– 
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Net assets of subsidiary at acquisition: 

 £ 

Share capital   X 

Share premium   X 

Retained earnings at acquisition   X 

Fair value adjustments (Note 1)   X 
   –––– 
Net assets at acquisition   X 
   –––– 

Notes: 

(1) The difference between the fair value and the carrying amount of S’s net assets 
at the acquisition date. This value should also be added onto the carrying 
amount of the asset in the consolidated SFP.  

 

 

 

  
IFRS 3 defines the following: 

Goodwill – represents the difference between the price paid for the subsidiary 
less the fair value of the net assets acquired. 

 Goodwill is an intangible non-current asset. 

 Goodwill is subject to annual impairment review. 

Goodwill 
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Goodwill at acquisition: 

 £ 

Purchase consideration   X 

Non-controlling interest (Note 1)   X 

Net assets of subsidiary at acquisition (see above) (X) 
   –––– 
Goodwill at acquisition   X 
   –––– 

 

 

   
Goodwill in Group SFP: 

 £ 
Goodwill at acquisition   X 
Impairment w/off to group retained earnings  (X)  
   –––– 
Goodwill in Group SFP   X 
   –––– 

Notes: 

(1) NCI% × S’s net assets at acquisition 
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Example 1 [M1, M5, M30]  
Polar Ltd bought 75% of the ordinary share capital of Squirrel for a 
consideration of £150,000 on 1 January 20X9, when the retained earnings of 
Squirrel were £40,000. 

The carrying amount of Squirrel Ltd’s net assets equals its fair value with the 
exception of land. The fair value of this land exceeded its carrying amount by 
£20,000. 

At 31 December 20X9, goodwill has been impaired by £10,000. 

The draft statements of financial position of Polar and Squirrel on 
31 December 20X9 were as follows: 

 Polar Ltd Squirrel Ltd 
 £000 £000 
Non-current assets   
Property, plant and equipment 50 110 
Investment in Squirrel at cost 150 – 
 –––– –––– 
 200 110 
Current assets   
Inventories 25 25 
Trade receivables 15 20 
Cash 10 5 
 –––– –––– 
Total assets 250 160 
 –––– –––– 
Equity and reserves   
Share capital 80 100 
Share premium 20 – 
Retained earnings 120 50 
 –––– –––– 
 220 150 
 –––– –––– 
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Current liabilities   
Trade payables 20 5 
Other payables 10 5 
 –––– –––– 
 30 10 
 –––– –––– 
Total equity and liabilities 250 160 
 –––– –––– 

Required: 

Calculate the value of goodwill which will be shown in the consolidated 
statement of financial position. 

Goodwill 

  £000 
Consideration  150 
Non-controlling interest at acquisition (25% × 160) 40 
S’s net assets acquired (100 + 40 + 20)  (160)  
  ––––– 
Goodwill at acquisition   30 
Impairment    (10) 
  ––––– 
  20 
  ––––– 
 Net assets of Squirrel 

 
At acquisition 

£000 
Share capital 100 
Retained earnings 40 
Fair value adjustment 20 
 ––––– 
 160 
 ––––– 
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The mechanics of consolidation require that 100% of the subsidiary’s assets and 
liabilities are added to the parent’s. This is performed when control is held regardless 
of the parent’s actual shareholding.  

A non-controlling interest balance is also calculated and disclosed within equity 
showing the non-controlling interest’s holding in the subsidiary company. 

To calculate this figure, the net assets working used previously can be updated to 
reflect the year end balances: 

 
 For GW For NCI 

Net assets of subsidiary: At acquisition Year end date 
 £ £ 
Share capital X X 
Share premium X X 
Retained earnings X X 
Fair value adjustments X X 
 –––– –––– 
Net assets X X 
 –––– –––– 

 

 

  
IFRS 3 defines the following: 

Non-controlling interest – represents the equity interest in a subsidiary not 
attributable to the controlling interest (i.e. parent). 

Non-controlling interest 
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Non-controlling interest in Group SFP: 

 £ 
NCI % × subsidiary’s net assets at year end  X 
   –– 
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Example 2 [M1, M5, M30]  
Polar Ltd bought 75% of the ordinary share capital of Squirrel for a 
consideration of £150,000 on 1 January 20X9, when the retained earnings of 
Squirrel were £40,000. 

The carrying amount of Squirrel Ltd’s net assets equals its fair value with the 
exception of land. The fair value of this land exceeded its carrying amount by 
£20,000. 

At 31 December 20X9, goodwill has been impaired by £10,000. 

The draft statements of financial position of Polar and Squirrel on 
31 December 20X9 were as follows: 

 Polar Ltd Squirrel Ltd 
 £000 £000 
Non-current assets   
Property, plant and equipment 50 110 
Investment in Squirrel at cost 150 – 
 –––– –––– 
 200 110 
Current assets   
Inventories 25 25 
Trade receivables 15 20 
Cash 10 5 
 –––– –––– 
Total assets 250 160 
 –––– –––– 
Equity and reserves   
Share capital 80 100 
Share premium 20 – 
Retained earnings 120 50 
 –––– –––– 
 220 150 
 –––– –––– 
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Current liabilities   
Trade payables 20 5 
Other payables 10 5 
 –––– –––– 
 30 10 
 –––– –––– 
Total equity and liabilities 250 160 
 –––– –––– 

Required: 

Calculate the non-controlling interest which will be shown in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. 

Non-controlling interest 

 £000 
 ––––– 

Net assets attributable to NCI (25% × 170(W1)) 42.5 
 ––––– 

(W1) Net assets of Squirrel 

 
At acquisition 

£000 
Year end 

£000 
Share capital 100 100 
Retained earnings 40 50 
Fair value adjustment 20 20 
 ––––– ––––– 
 160 170 
 ––––– ––––– 
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Non-controlling interest (alternative working): 

 £ 
Share capital attributable to NCI (Note 1)  X 
Retained earnings attributable to NCI (Note 2)  X  
Revaluation surplus attributable to NCI (Note 3)  X 
Fair value adjustments attributable to NCI (Note 4) X 
   –––– 
NCI in Group SFP   X 
   –––– 

 

Notes: 

1 NCI percentage ownership (NCI%) × subsidiary’s (S’s) share capital at the 
period-end 

2 NCI% × S’s retained earnings at the period-end 

3 NCI% × S’s other reserves (e.g. revaluation) at the period-end 

4 NCI% × the difference between the fair value and the carrying amount of S’s net 
assets at the acquisition date. 

Core: TYU 1 and TYU 2 
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Retained earnings shows the profits attributable to the shareholders of the group. 
Therefore, it should only include the parent’s share of the subsidiary’s post-
acquisition retained earnings. 

To calculate the post-acquisition retained earnings, the net assets working used 
previously can be updated to reflect the year end balances: 

 

  

 

Net assets of 
subsidiary:  

For GW 

At acquisition 

 
£ 

For NCI 

Year-end 
date 

£ 

For REs 

Movement since 
acquisition 

£ 

Share capital X X  

Share premium X X  

Retained earnings X X X 

Fair value adjustments X X  
 –– –– –– 
Net assets X X X 
 –– –– –– 

Retained earnings 
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Retained earnings 

 £ 
100% of Parent’s retained earnings   X 
Parent’s share of sub post-acquisition retained earnings (Note 1) X 
Impairment of goodwill (as per goodwill working)  (X) 
   –––– 
Retained earnings in Group SFP   X 
   –––– 

 

Note: 

(1) P% × S’s movements in retained earnings since acquisition (see working 
above) 
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Example 3 [M1, M5, M30]  
Polar Ltd bought 75% of the ordinary share capital of Squirrel for a 
consideration of £150,000 on 1 January 20X9, when the retained earnings of 
Squirrel were £40,000. 

The carrying amount of Squirrel Ltd’s net assets equals its fair value with the 
exception of land. The fair value of this land exceeded its carrying amount by 
£20,000. 

At 31 December 20X9, goodwill has been impaired by £10,000. 

The draft statements of financial position of Polar and Squirrel on 
31 December 20X9 were as follows: 

 Polar Ltd Squirrel Ltd 
 £000 £000 
Non-current assets   
Property, plant and equipment 50 110 
Investment in Squirrel at cost 150 – 
 –––– –––– 
 200 110 
Current assets   
Inventories 25 25 
Trade receivables 15 20 
Cash 10 5 
 –––– –––– 
Total assets 250 160 
 –––– –––– 
Equity and reserves   
Share capital 80 100 
Share premium 20 – 
Retained earnings 120 50 
 –––– –––– 
 220 150 
 –––– –––– 
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Current liabilities   
Trade payables 20 5 
Other payables 10 5 
 –––– –––– 
 30 10 
 –––– –––– 
Total equity and liabilities 250 160 
 –––– –––– 

Required: 

Calculate the retained earnings which will be shown in the consolidated 
statement of financial position. 

Retained earnings 

 £000 
100% Polar 120.0 
P’s share of S’s retained earnings (75% × 10 (W1)) 7.5 
Impairment of goodwill (10.0) 

 ––––– 
 117.5 
 ––––– 

(W1) Net assets of Squirrel 

 
At acquisition 

£000 
Year end 

£000 
Movement 

£000 
Share capital 100 100  
Retained earnings 40 50 10 
Fair value adjustment 20 20  
 ––––– ––––– ––––– 
 160 170 10 
 ––––– ––––– ––––– 
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Example 4 [M1, M5, M30]  
Polar Ltd bought 75% of the ordinary share capital of Squirrel for a 
consideration of £150,000 on 1 January 20X9, when the retained earnings of 
Squirrel were £40,000. 

The carrying amount of Squirrel Ltd’s net assets equals its fair value with the 
exception of land. The fair value of this land exceeded its carrying amount by 
£20,000. 

At 31 December 20X9, goodwill has been impaired by £10,000. 

The draft statements of financial position of Polar and Squirrel on 
31 December 20X9 were as follows: 

 Polar Ltd Squirrel Ltd 
 £000 £000 
Non-current assets   
Property, plant and equipment 50 110 
Investment in Squirrel at cost 150 – 
 –––– –––– 
 200 110 
Current assets   
Inventories 25 25 
Trade receivables 15 20 
Cash 10 5 
 –––– –––– 
Total assets 250 160 
 –––– –––– 
Equity and reserves   
Share capital 80 100 
Share premium 20 – 
Retained earnings 120 50 
 –––– –––– 
 220 150 
 –––– –––– 
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Current liabilities   
Trade payables 20 5 
Other payables 10 5 
 –––– –––– 
 30 10 
 –––– –––– 
Total equity and liabilities 250 160 
 –––– –––– 

Required: 

Prepare a consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 
20X9. 

Polar Group consolidated statement of financial position as at 
31 December 20X9 

        £000  
Non-current assets   
Goodwill (W2)   20 
Property, plant and equipment (50 + 110 + 20) 180 
  ––––– 
  200 
Current assets    
Inventories (25 + 25)  50 
Trade receivables (15 + 20)  35 
Cash (10 + 5)  15 
  ––––– 
Total assets  300 
     ––––– 
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Equity  £000 
Share capital (P only)  80 
Share premium (P only)  20 
Retained earnings (W4)  117.5 
  –––––– 
  217.5 
Non-controlling interests (W3)  42.5 
   
Current liabilities    
Trade payables (20 + 5)  25 
Other payables (10 + 5)  15 
  –––––– 
Total equity and liabilities  300 
    –––––– 

Workings: 

(W1) Net assets of Squirrel 

 
At acquisition 

£000 
Year end 

£000 
Movement 

£000 
Share capital 100 100  
Retained earnings 40 50 10 
Fair value adjustment 20 20  
 ––––– ––––– ––––– 
 160 170 10 
 ––––– ––––– ––––– 
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(W2) Goodwill 

  £000 
Consideration  150 
Non-controlling interest at acquisition (25% × 160) 40 
S’s net assets acquired (100 + 40 + 20)  (160)  
  ––––– 
Goodwill at acquisition   30 
Impairment    (10) 
  ––––– 
  20 
  ––––– 

 

(W3) Non-controlling Interests 

 £000 
 ––––– 

Net assets attributable to NCI (25% × 170(W1)) 42.5 
 ––––– 

(W4) Retained earnings 

 £000 
100% Polar 120.0 
P’s share of S’s retained earnings (75% × 10 (W1)) 7.5 
Impairment of goodwill (10.0) 

 ––––– 
 117.5 
 ––––– 
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Example 5 [M1, M5, M30]  
Paris Ltd bought 80% of Sienna Ltd on 31 December 20X5 for £6,200. At that 
date Sienna had retained earnings of £4,500. 

At 31 December 20X6, goodwill has been impaired by £350. 

The draft statements of financial position of Paris and Sienna on 31 December 
20X6 were as follows: 

 Paris Ltd Sienna Ltd 
 £ £ 
Non-current assets   
Property, plant and equipment 10,550 5,000 
Investment in Sienna at cost 6,200 – 
 –––– –––– 
 16,750 5,000 
Current assets   
Inventories 4,400 2,450 
Trade receivables 3,160 1,800 
Cash 3,440 2,750 
 –––– –––– 
Total assets 27,750 12,000 
 –––– –––– 
Equity and reserves   
Share capital 2,000 1,500 
Share premium 1,000 0 
Retained earnings 20,250 7,500 
 –––– –––– 
 23,250 9,000 
 –––– –––– 
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Current liabilities   
Trade payables 3,100 1,900 
Other payables 1,400 1,100 
 –––– –––– 
 4,500 3,000 
 –––– –––– 
Total equity and liabilities 27,750 12,000 
 –––– –––– 

Required: 

Prepare a consolidated statement of financial position as at 
31 December 20X6. 

Paris Group consolidated statement of financial position as at 
31 December 20X6 

   £ 
Non-current assets   
Goodwill (W2)   1,050 
Property, plant and equipment (10,550 + 5,000) 15,550 
  ––––– 
  16,600 
Current assets    
Inventories (4,400 + 2,450)  6,850 
Trade receivables (3,160 + 1,800)  4,960 
Cash (3,440 + 2,750)  6,190 
  ––––– 
Total assets  34,600 
     ––––– 
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Equity  £ 
Share capital (P only)  2,000 
Share premium (P only)  1,000 
Retained earnings (W4)  22,300 
  –––––– 
  25,300 
Non-controlling interests (W3)  1,800 
   
Current liabilities    
Trade payables (3,100 + 1,900)  5,000 
Other payables (1,400 + 1,100)  2,500 
  –––––– 
Total equity and liabilities  34,600 
    –––––– 

Workings: 

(W1) Net assets of Sienna 

 
At acquisition 

£ 
Year end 

£ 
Movement 

£ 
Share capital 1,500 1,500  
Retained earnings 4,500 7,500 3,000 
 ––––– ––––– ––––– 
 6,000 9,000 3,000 
 ––––– ––––– ––––– 
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Core: TYU 3, TYU 4 and TYU 5  

 (W2) Goodwill 

  £ 
Consideration  6,200 
Non-controlling interest at acquisition (20% × 6,000) 1,200 
S’s net assets acquired (W1) (6,000) 
  ––––– 
Goodwill at acquisition   1,400 
Impairment    (350) 
  ––––– 
  1,050 
  ––––– 

 

(W3) Non-controlling interest at year end 

 £ 
 ––––– 
Net assets attributable to NCI (20% × 9,000 (W1)) 1,800 
 ––––– 

(W4) Retained earnings 

 £ 
100% Paris 20,250 
P’s share of S’s retained earnings (80% × 3,000 (W1)) 2,400 
Impairment of goodwill (350) 

 ––––– 
     22,300 
 ––––– 
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Transactions between parent and subsidiary 

 Cancel receivables and payables balances between parent and subsidiary in 
the consolidated statement of financial position 

 Reflects commercial substance of one combined business. 

Unrealised profits (PUPs) 

 If the parent and subsidiary trade with each other, goods may be sold which 
include a profit element  

 If the goods have not yet been sold on outside of the group, that profit is 
regarded as unrealised  

 Unrealised profit must be removed from the consolidated accounts. 

Unrealised profits (PUPs) adjustment if parent sells to subsidiary 

Dr:  Retained earnings (W4) 

Cr: Inventory 

Unrealised profits (PUPs) adjustment if subsidiary sells to parent 

Dr:  Subsidiary’s closing retained earnings (W2)  

Cr:  Inventory  

This will affect both non-controlling interests (W3) and retained earnings (W4) 

 

  

Other adjustments 
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Example 6 [M1, M5, M30]  
Statement of financial position at 30 September 20X9 

  Kit Ltd Kat Ltd 
  £000 £000 
ASSETS    
Non-current assets    
Property plant & equipment  15,910 2,095 
Investment in Kat Ltd  2,502 – 
  –––––– ––––– 
  18,412 2,095 
  –––––– ––––– 
Current assets    
Inventories  4,521 642 
Trade receivables  2,815 361 
Cash  29 264 
  –––––– ––––– 
  7,365 1,267 
  –––––– ––––– 
Total assets  25,777 3,362 
  –––––– ––––– 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    
Equity    
Share capital  1,700 1,200 
Share premium  500 150 
Retained earnings  19,605 920 
  –––––– ––––– 
  21,805 2,270 
Non-current liabilities    
Loan  48 586 
Current liabilities    
Trade payables  2,998 350 
Taxation   926 156 
  –––––– ––––– 
Total equity and liabilities  25,777 3,362 
  –––––– ––––– 
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Further information: 

 The share capital of both Kit Ltd and Kat Ltd consists of ordinary shares 
of £1 each. There have been no changes to the balances of share capital 
and share premium during the year. No dividends were declared and 
paid by Kat Ltd during the year 

 Kit Ltd acquired 80% of shares in Kat Ltd on 1 October 20X8 

 At 1 October 20X8 the balance of retained earnings of Kat Ltd was 
£540,000 

 The fair value of the property, plant and equipment of Kat Ltd at 1 
October 20X8 was £2,854,000 as compared with a carrying amount of 
£1,954,000. The revaluation has not been reflected in the books of Kat 
Ltd. (Ignore any depreciation implications) 

 During the year Kat sells Kit £100,000 of goods at a profit margin of 40%. 
One quarter of the goods remain in Kit’s inventory at the year–end 

 Goodwill has been impaired by 20% 

Required: 

Prepare the consolidated statement of financial position as at 
30 September 20X9. 
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Kit Group Consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 
September 20X9 

 £000 £000 
ASSETS   
Non-current assets   
Goodwill (W2)  216  
Property, plant and equipment (15,910 + 2,095 +    
15,910 + 2,095 + (2,854 –1,954)  18,905  
  ––––––  
  19,121  
Current assets    
Inventories (4,521 + 642 – 10 [W5]) 5,153   
Trade receivables (2,815 + 361) 3,176   
Cash (29 + 264) 293   
 ––––––   
  8,622  
  ––––––  
Total assets  27,743  
  ––––––  
Equity and liabilities    
Equity   
Called-up share capital  1,700 
Share premium  500 
Retained earnings (W4)  19,847 
  –––––– 
Equity attributable to holders of the parent  22,047 
   
Non-controlling interest (W3)  632 
   
Non-current liabilities    
Long-term loan  (48 + 586)  634 
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Current liabilities 
  

Trade payables (2,998 + 350) 3,348  
Taxation (926 + 156) 1,082  
 ––––––  
  4,430 
  –––––– 
Total equity and liabilities  27,743 
  –––––– 

Workings: 

(W1) Net assets of Kat 

 
At acquisition 

£000 
Year end 

£000 
Movement 

£000 
Share capital 1,200 1,200  
Share premium 150 150  
Retained earnings 540 920 380 
Fair value adjustment 900 900  
PURP (W4)  (10) (10) 
 ––––– ––––– ––––– 
 2,790 3,160 370 
 ––––– ––––– ––––– 

    (W2) Goodwill 

 £000 
Consideration 2,502 
Non-controlling interest at acquisition (20% × 2,790) 558 
Kat Ltd’s net assets acquired (W2) (2,790) 
 –––––– 
Goodwill at acquisition 270 
Impairment (270 × 20%) (54) 
 –––––– 
Goodwill in SFP 216 

 –––––– 
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Core: TYU 6, TYU 7 and TYU 8 
 

 (W3) NCI 

 £000 
 –––––– 
Net assets attributable to NCI (20% × 3,160 (W1)) 632 

 –––––– 

     (W4) Retained earnings 

 £000 
Parent  19,605 
Subsidiary (80% × 370 (W1)) 296 
Impairment (54) 
 –––––– 
Total 19,847 

 –––––– 

(W5) Unrealised profit 

 £000 Profit structure 
Sale price 100 100% 
Cost (100 × 0.6) (60) 60% 
 –––––– –––––– 
Gross profit (% on sales) 40 40% 

 –––––– –––––– 

One quarter of the goods remain in inventory. The profits made by Kat on 
these are unrealised and must therefore be eliminated. One quarter of the 
profits = £40 × 25% = £10. 

Seller is the subsidiary: 

Dr S’s closing retained earnings 10 

Cr Group inventory 10 
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Summary 

Consolidated SFP IFRS 3 

Non-
controlling 

interest 

 Equity 
interest not 
attributable to 
parent 

IFRS 10 

Goodwill 

 At acquisition 
less impairment 

Retained earnings 

 Profit attributable to 
shareholders of the 
group 
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We recommend the following additional questions for the topics covered in this 
chapter: 

Study Text (for teaching throughout the chapter and additional learning) 

 Chapter 16: TYU 1-8 

Practice Questions (for teaching throughout the chapter and additional learning) 

 Chapter 15: Group accounts: consolidated statement of financial position 

Exam Kit (for revision and additional learning) 

 Questions 55. 57, 59, 61, 63 and 65 
  

Additional tutor guidance 
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By the end of this session you should be able to:  

 describe the key components of a consolidated statement of profit or loss 

 explain the basic consolidation process for a parent and subsidiary in relation to 
the preparation of a consolidated statement of profit or loss 

 draft a consolidated statement of profit or loss  

and answer questions relating to these areas. 

 

 

 
  

Chapter 17 
Group accounts: consolidated statement 
of profit or loss 

Outcome 

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviours  

Knowledge, Skills and Behaviours  

Knowledge: Accounting, Business Awareness, Regulation and Compliance 

Skills: Analysis, Communication, Produces Quality and Accurate Information 

Behaviours: Adding Value  
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Overview 

Consolidated SPL 

Parent 

SPL 

Subsidiary 

SPL 

Profit attributable to 
the equity holders 

of the parent 

Profit attributable to 
the non-controlling 

interest 
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General approach: 

The parent controls the subsidiary. This control is represented by adding together the 
statements of profit or loss for the parent and the subsidiary undertaking in full. 

The parent company does not own all of the subsidiary’s profit. Ownership is 
represented by calculating the profit attributable to the equity holders of the parent 
company and the profit attributable to the non-controlling interest. 

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss for XYZ Ltd for the year ended 
31 December 20X8 

 £ 
Revenue (100% P + 100% S) X 
Cost of sales (100% P + 100% S) (X) 
Operating expenses (100% P + 100% S) (X) 
 –––– 
Operating profit X 
Tax (100% P + 100% S) (X) 
 –––– 
Profit for the year (PFY) Y 
 –––– 
Attributable to ordinary shareholders (β) X 
Attributable to NCI (Note 1) X 
 –––– 
 Y 
 –––– 

Notes: 

(1) Profit attributable to NCI = NCI’s % x subsidiary’s profit for the year 

 

Preparing a consolidated statement of 
profit or loss 
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Example 1 [M1, M5, M30]  
Cassa Ltd acquired 80% of the ordinary share capital of Role Ltd on 1 October 
20X8. 

Statements of profit or loss for the year ended 30 September 20X9 

 Cassa Ltd Role Ltd 
 £000 £000 
   
Revenue 15,200 5,400 
Cost of sales  (8,150) (2,850) 
 –––––– –––––– 
Gross profit 7,050 2,550 
   
Administrative costs (1,500) (650) 
Distribution costs (1,750) (385) 
 –––––– –––––– 
Profit from operations 3,800 1,515 
   
Finance costs (580) (155) 
 –––––– –––––– 
Profit before tax 3,220 1,360 
   
Tax (1,150) (300) 
 –––––– –––––– 
Profit for the year 2,070 1,060 
 –––––– –––––– 

Required: 

Prepare the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 
30 September 20X9. 
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Cassa Group Consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 
30 September 20X9 

 £000 
Revenue (15,200 + 5,400) 20,600 
Cost of sales (8,150 + 2,850) (11,000) 
 –––––– 
Gross profit 9,600 
Admin costs (1,500 + 650) (2,150) 
Distribution costs (1,750 + 385) (2,135) 
 –––––– 
Profit from operations 5,315 
Finance costs (580 + 155) (735) 
 –––––– 
Profit before tax 4,580 
Tax (1,150 + 300) (1,450) 
 –––––– 
Profit for the year 3,130 
 –––––– 
Attributable to: 
Equity holders of the parent (bal. fig) 2,918 
 
Non-controlling interest (20% of Role’s profit of £1,060) 212 
 –––––– 
 3,130 
 –––––– 
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Transactions between parent and subsidiary: 

 Cancel sales and purchases made between parent and subsidiary in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss 

 Exclude dividends received by parent from subsidiary during the year 

Unrealised profits (PUPs): 

 If the parent and subsidiary trade with each other, goods may be sold which 
include a profit element  

 To the extent that the goods have not yet been sold on outside of the group, 
that profit is regarded as unrealised  

 Unrealised profit must be removed from the consolidated accounts 

Unrealised profits (PUPs) adjustment in consolidated SPL account 

Dr:  Cost of sales (SPL) 

Cr: Inventory (SFP) 

 

  
If the subsidiary is making the sale to the parent, then the profit 
attributable to the non-controlling interest also needs to be adjusted as 
follows: 

   £ 
 NCI % of subsidiary company profit for year  X 
 Less: NCI % of PUP           (X) 
           ––– 
          X 
           ––– 

  

Adjustments 
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Example 2 [M1, M5, M30]  
Jay plc acquired 90% of the issued share capital of Silent Bob Ltd on 1 April 
20X1. 

Extracts from their statements of profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 
20X2 are shown below. 

 Jay plc Silent Bob 
Ltd 

 £000 £000 
Revenue 140,800 59,000 
Cost of sales (100,300) (38,000) 
 ––––––– –––––– 
Gross profit 40,500 21,000 
Other income – dividend from Silent Bob Ltd 4,000 – 
Distribution costs and administrative 
expenses 

(12,500) (3,000) 

 ––––––– –––––– 
Profit before tax 32,000 18,000 
Income tax expense (8,000) (3,000) 
 ––––––– –––––– 
Profit for the year 24,000 15,000 
 ––––––– –––––– 

Additional data 

During the year, Silent Bob Ltd sold goods which had cost £80,000 to Jay plc 
for £480,000. 25% of these goods still remain in inventory at the end of the 
year. 

Required: 

Draft the consolidated statement of profit or loss for Jay plc and its 
subsidiary undertaking for the year ended 31 March 20X2. 
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Jay plc – Consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 
31 March 20X2 

 £000 
Revenue (W1) 199,320 
Cost of sales (W2) (137,920) 
 ––––––– 
Gross profit 61,400 
Other income – dividend from Silent Bob Limited – 
Distribution costs and administrative expenses (12,500 + 3,000) (15,500) 
 ––––––– 
Profit before tax 45,900 
Income tax expense (8,000 + 3,000) (11,000) 
 ––––––– 
Profit for the year 34,900 
 ––––––– 
Attributable to:  
Equity holders of the parent (bal. fig) 33,410 
Non-controlling interest (W4) 1,490 
 ––––––– 
 34,900 
 ––––––– 
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Workings: 

(W1) Revenue 

There has been intra-group trading between Jay plc and Silent Bob Ltd. 
This must be removed from the consolidated financial statements. 

 £000 
Jay plc 140,800 
Silent Bob 59,000 
Intercompany transaction (480) 
 ––––––– 
Total 199,320 
 ––––––– 

(W2) Cost of sales 

There has been intra-group trading between Jay and Silent Bob. The value 
of the intra-group purchases is removed from consolidated cost of sales. 

Some of the goods sold by Silent Bob to Jay remain in Jay’s inventory. 
Therefore, the intra-group profit on the remaining items must be eliminated. 

 £000 
Jay plc 100,300 
Silent Bob 38,000 
Intercompany transaction (480) 
Provision for unrealised profits (W3) 100 
 ––––––– 
Total 137,920 
 ––––––– 
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Foundation: TYU 3 

Core: TYU 1, TYU 2 and TYU 4 and TYU 5 

 
  

 (W3) Provision for unrealised profits (PUP) 

 £000 
Selling price   480 
Cost of goods   (80) 
 ––––– 
Profit    400 
 ––––– 
Unrealised profit 400 × 25%   100 
 ––––– 

Remember, it is the profit that remains in group inventory that is eliminated. 

(W4) Non-controlling interest 

 £000 
NCI % of Silent Bob’s profit after tax 1,500 
(10% × £15,000)  
NCI % of PUP (only if the sub is the seller)   (10) 
(10% × £100)  
 ––––– 
Profit   1,490 
 ––––– 
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Summary 

Consolidated SPL 

Parent 

SPL 

Subsidiary 

SPL 

Profit attributable to 
the equity holders 

of the parent 

Profit attributable to 
the non-controlling 

interest 
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We recommend the following additional questions for the topics covered in this 
chapter: 

Study Text (for teaching throughout the chapter and additional learning) 

 Chapter 17: TYU 1-5 

Practice Questions (for teaching throughout the chapter and additional learning) 

 Chapter 16: Group accounts: consolidated statement of profit or loss 

Exam Kit (for revision and additional learning) 

 Questions 56, 58, 60 and 62 
  

Additional tutor resources 
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